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Humana in brief
Humana is a leading Nordic care company dedicated to giving people a good life.
Humana’s services include individual and family care, personal assistance, elderly care and 
special services housing. In Sweden, Humana is the market leader in individual and family 
care and personal assistance. In Norway and Finland, Humana is the second largest provider 
of individual and family care services.

Everyone is entitled to a good life

customers
7,202

employees
14,438

operating profit
SEK M

316
operating revenue

SEK M

6,557

Our business areas

Individual & Family
Humana offers a unique dynamic 
care concept that provides expertise 
in housing, care and treatment under 
own management for individuals with 
psychosocial problems and mental 
illness. We also offer special service 
housing under LSS, under contract and 
under our own management.
Percentage of Group revenues:

34 %
Other Nordics
In Norway and Finland, most of 
Humana’s operations are in individual 
and family care for children, adole-
scents and adults. In Norway, Humana 
also offers personal assistance through 
customer-choice. In Finland, services 
such as elderly homes and other resi-
dential care homes are also offered.
Percentage of Group revenues:

18 %

Personal Assistance
Humana provides personal assistance 
to individuals with disabilities to em-
power them to live life the way others 
do. Our clients represent all ages and 
are spread across 240 municipalities in 
Sweden.
Percentage of Group revenues:

40 %

Elderly Care
Humana provides elderly care through 
its homes for the elderly, either under 
own management or under contract. 
The number of places under own  
management is growing rapidly.
Percentage of Group revenues:

8 %
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The year in brief

Elderly care home in Växjö  
and Åkersberga open 
Humana’s second and third elderly care 
homes under own management opened 
in Växjö in June with 72 flats, and in 
Åkersberga in October with 54 flats. The 
homes are centrally located and feature 
innovations that promote integrity, security 
and quality. 

Awareness of Humana remains 
high in social services
A survey with respondents in 98 
municipalities reveals high brand  
awareness. Most respondents also have  
a positive attitude towards Humana. 

Investments in Norway in adult 
psychiatry and substance abuse 
units  
The introduction of customer choice in 
Norway for substance abuse and adult 
psychiatry services opens up opportunities 
for Humana, which already has a strong 
position in terms of expertise. Several new 
units have opened to cater for this need.

Enhanced family home care in 
Finland
Humana is taking its knowledge and expe-
rience in enhanced family home care from 
Sweden and bringing it to Finland. 

Acquisition of NSS in Finland – 
entering new segments 
A new segment will open up for Humana 
in Finland through the acquisition of NSS 
(Nordic Senior Services), which operates in 
elderly care homes and special housing. 

WeYouMe Group-wide employee 
survey launched 
WeYouMe is Humana’s first Group-wide 
employee survey conducted in all three 
countries. The employee satisfaction index 
continued to score high at 73, with positive 
scores for how employees relate to our core 
values and appreciate our leadership.

  The acquisition of 
NSS means an expansion 
of our service offering in 
Finland.”

Rasmus Nerman, President and CEO

73
employee  

satisfaction 
index

Other acquisitions in 2017 
• Ryhmäkoti Raide Oy
• Skellefteå Stöd & Behandling AB

Winner of the Swedish Lighting 
Award – innovative lighting  
solutions in Humana’s elderly 
care home in Gävle
Humana won the prize  
thanks to  innovative 
lighting solutions that 
offer support for cognitive 
impairments and 
provide comfort for 
elderly and staff at our  
home in Gävle under  
own management. 
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The year in brief

 Operating revenue      Adjusted operating margin, %*

*Operating profit for 2016 was adjusted for SEK 40 million in IPO expenses. Figures 
for 2015 include cost adjustments amounting to SEK 27 million. Figures for 2011-2012 
comply with the standards of the Swedish Accounting Standards Board (BFN). Figures 
for 2013-2017 comply with IFRS accounting standards.

Operating revenue (SEK M) and adjusted operating margin (%)*

Operating revenue (SEK M) by business area

Revenue growth: 3%
Individual & Family: 0%
Personal Assistance: -1%
Elderly Care: -10%
Other Nordics: 29%

Personal Assistance
In 2017, lawyers in Personal 
Assistance reached a milestone. 
Over the 15 years they have been 
on the job they have helped 1,500 
individuals, entitled to assistance, 
to also attain that assistance. 

Key ratios, SEK M

2017 2016

Operating revenue 6,557 6,362

Operating profit 316 329

Operating margin, % 4.8 5.2

Adjusted operating profit 316 369

Adjusted operating margin, % 4.8 5.8

Profit for the year 194 170

Operating cash flow 184 -134

Interest-bearing net debt 1,440 1,628

Interest-bearing net debt/adjusted EBITDA ratio 3.8 3.9

Average number of employees, full-time equivalents 10,003 9,912

Average number of customers 8,316 8,361

Winner of the AllBright 
Award for gender-equal 
listed company 
In November, Humana won  
the 2017 award for the most 
gender-equal publicly listed 
company. The jury responded 
strongly to the presence of core 
value ambassadors in the com-
pany and that the company’s 
own employees largely feel that 
they can influence their work  
situation and career development.

Contracts won in Sweden, 2017 
• Åsengården, Stockholms Stad, elderly care home 
•  Ekbacken Hus H, Sundbyberg, elderly care home
• Vingavägen in Växjö (start-up Nov 2017), special housing
• Härryda (start-up March 2018), special housing

Humana in Almedalen
In Almedalen, Humana took part in a roundtable discussion on 
personal assistance and elderly care. A seminar on elderly care was 
also organised in cooperation with SPF Seniors. Several people from  
Humana’s management team also participated on other panels.  
There were also many one-on-one meetings with politicians and 
other leaders.

The Children’s Baro-
meter and Save the 
Children
Humana initiated a partnership 
with Save the Children in con-
nection with the prelaunch of 
the 2017 Children’s Barometer, 
united by a common interest in 
children’s rights in society.
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This year, our journey was probably a bit bumpier than usual. 
Although Humana has grown over the past year, we have put a lot 
of energy into refining our focus on elderly care, implementing for-
ward-looking structural changes in individual and family care, both 
in Sweden and in Norway, and maintaining cost control without 
compromising on the quality of assistance. We have also improved 
our coordination of management and IT systems and have continu-
ed to develop our essential quality work. All in all, these efforts will 
enable us to better leverage our economies of scale without losing 
the entrepreneurial spirit that characterises Humana. It has been 
hard work – but work that makes us a stronger and better company 
as we close the year. 

From an organisational perspective, we are stronger today with 
many managers who know how to perform well in operations under 
a demanding climate of change. 

Business development
In 2017, Humana completed some minor yet important acquisi-
tions. We acquired Skellefteå Stöd & Behandling early in the year 
for our individual and family care business area, and in Finland we 
acquired Ryhmäkoti Raide and Nordic Senior Services (NSS). The 
acquisition of NSS will expand our services in Finland to include el-
derly care, special services housing and social psychiatry for adults. 
During the year, we focused on sharing knowledge across borders. 
For example, we enhanced our family home care in Finland and 
brought specialised abuse treatment methods to Norway. We also 
introduced Finland’s people management system to the entire 
Group. 

In the autumn we decided to sell off our home care service 
business in Sweden to fully focus on elderly homes, especially those 
under our own management. The result of this strategic approach is 
that we opened two wonderful homes for the elderly, one in Växjö 
and one in Österåker. Both have the same modern design focusing 
on innovation and sustainability, which helped Humana’s home 
in Gävle win the 2017 Swedish Lighting Award. We have also 
strengthened our position in Stockholm, which is essential for our 
future growth in the region. 

Financial development
From a financial and stock market perspective, 2017 was challen-
ging for Humana, as significant restructuring and streamlining 
affected both growth and financial performance. Revenue increased 
by three percent during the year, which is below our medium-term 
target of 8-10 percent growth. This is due to the divestment of 
Humana’s home care business and the relatively few acquisitions 
made during the year, but also to somewhat lower occupancy levels 
in parts of Individual & Family and in the Norwegian business. 
Increased costs resulting from restructuring and streamlining com-
bined with continued investment in establishing new units explains 
the decline in operating profit of 14 percent compared with 2016 to 
SEK 316 million, corresponding to a margin of 4.8 percent (5.8).  

 Developments in the Norwegian business are disappointing and are 
entirely responsible for the decline in the Other Nordics business 
area. The Norwegian market is generally challenging, not just for 
Humana, and it will require continued efforts throughout 2018 to 
reverse the trend. It is satisfying that developments in Finland are 
better than expected, and the market is a priority for Humana’s 
future growth initiatives. 

To summarise the fiscal year, we have worked intensively to in-
crease efficiency and improve Humana’s profitability going forward. 
It is fair to say that our work has paid off and that we are entering 
2018 in a much better position, financially as well as operationally, 
as proven by the decrease in our debt. This improved situation means 
that we will be able to increase our focus on growth in 2018, both 
organically and through acquisitions. 

A workplace for everyone
One of the things that left the strongest impression on us during the 
year was #metoo and the testimonies on abuse and harassment from 
thousands of women in most industries, including health and social 
care. Considering this, it was a true honour, but also an obligation, 
to be named the most gender-equal publicly listed company of 2017 
by the AllBright Foundation. We are doing many things right to 
ensure gender equality but will now be extra vigilant. We aim to be 
an employer that all employees not only trust but actively seek out, 
and we should provide a workplace free from discrimination and 
harassment. 

Political impact
Because of a new regulatory framework, it has become more difficult 
to operate outsourcing contracts in Sweden in areas such as elderly 
care. A double standard has long existed, where private providers 
have had higher demands placed on them than municipal providers 
– and this has now worsened. Yet again in 2017, the open compari-
sons from the National Board of Health and Welfare indicate that 
private providers have a higher standard of quality than public-sector 
providers. This particularly applies to Humana, which ranks above 
the average on almost all points. Clearly there is a strong need for 
legislative change to ensure greater equality and quality. 

Work is underway in Finland with a major reform called SOTE, 
which aims to co-ordinate healthcare to rationalise and cut costs 
while guaranteeing citizens’ freedom of choice by welcoming more 
private providers to the market. We can already note high demand 
for our services in Finland, and there is strong momentum for this 
trend to continue.  

  Humana leaves 2017  
behind as a stronger and better  
company deeply rooted in the  
Nordic welfare system.”

We are building the future of welfare
I am proud of the important work that Humana’s employees accomplished in 2017.  
It has been a challenging year in which we have made many changes to better equip 
ourselves for the future. At the same time, we continued to raise standards within 
Nordic care and gave thousands of customers and clients the opportunity to a good 
life. We did this for the seventeenth consecutive year – and we will continue doing so.

4 | Humana Annual Report 2017

Introduction Contributing to better care Sustainable care provider Our care work Legal annual report



In Personal Assistance, primarily in Sweden, we are finally seeing 
some light in the political darkness. Cutbacks and over-interpre-
tations of court decisions have resulted in the loss of assistance for 
many people. In late autumn, however, the political debate turned 
slightly, and the government has now pushed through changes that 
reduce the risk of losing assistance. The initiative is temporary but 
creates room for a review of the legislation. Humana’s lawyers and 
other employees do a fantastic job making sure that our customers 
receive the help they are entitled to. In a challenging market, Hu-
mana continued to gain market share in 2017. 

The debate on regulating profits in welfare has now nearly col-
lapsed. The Reepalu inquiry was the basis for a legislative proposal 
that was sharply criticized by the legislative council plus countless 
consultation bodies. There is currently no support for it in parliament. 
The proposal is an ideological failure and should be consigned to the 
wastebin. Focus should instead be on how Sweden and the Nordic 
region should address the major challenges society faces, which 
require productivity-enhancing measures and innovations to manage 
the demographic changes and substantially higher welfare costs the 
coming years will bring. At the same time, we know that public-se-
ctor operations lead to significant welfare losses. Humana alone saved 
Nordic taxpayers an estimated SEK 900 million in 2017. Against this 
background, private providers clearly must assume an increasingly 
prominent role in the future. 

Together, we make a difference
Humana’s future looks bright, and the demand for our services is 
increasing. At the risk of sounding a bit odd as CEO, I also regret 
this. It’s good that we are living longer and that there are more and 
more of us in the Nordic region. But Humana is working with those 
who have the largest need. This makes us humble and keen to give 
more people a good life.

We also know that we excel at what we do, not least thanks to 
all our dedicated employees. Together – and with our core values 
to guide us – we continue to become a stronger, better company 
that gives our customers and clients a better life. So, in conclusion, 
I would like to thank all my colleagues for doing such a wonderful 
job in 2017. It pleases me to know that our employee satisfaction 
and leadership are at the forefront of our industry, despite consi-
derable strain. And that our core values still resonate with our 
employees – I consider that a great success, too. I am convinced 
that it makes Humana more attractive as a provider, and so I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank all the customers who chose 
Humana this year.

Humana leaves 2017 behind as a stronger and better company 
deeply rooted in the Nordic welfare system. As we continue to grow 
and evolve, we are building a solid foundation for the future. 

Rasmus Nerman
President and CEO

Message from the CEO
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How Humana 
creates value 
for society 
Humana helps improve the lives of the clients  
and customers we provide care to every day. We 
also want to be a long-term, valued partner to the 
buyers of care and other partners we work with. 
Our operations must be of high quality and help 
improve care generelly in society. In short, we want 
to actively help create a sustainable welfare system.

As a leading Nordic care company, Humana represents an impor-
tant resource in a market characterised by the growing need for 
individualised interventions. Free customer choice in healthcare and 
social care – which for many is a matter of course – combined with 
strained public funding means that private providers play a central 
role in solving new welfare challenges. 

Humana works tirelessly to develop and improve the quality of 
its practices and treatments. Equally important is to continuously 
develop our workplaces so that employees can thrive and grow with 
us. But we view our role as even broader than this. We also want to 
share our knowledge and results so that improvements will benefit 
all of society. In this way, we take part in developing a better Nordic 
care system based on individual needs.

We review welfare to 
raise quality!

The Children’s Barometer
For the fifth consecutive year, Humana has examined 
how municipal social services work with children in vul-
nerable situations. This year, our assessment was done in 
cooperation with Save the Children. The Children’s Ba-
rometer builds on a survey submitted to all of Sweden’s 
290 municipalities. The result reveals several areas in 
which Swedish social services need to improve to live up 
to the requirements that vulnerable children are entitled 
to demand from the country’s government agencies and 
municipalities.

The Accessibility Barometer
The Accessibility Barometer is an annual survey that 
examines the efforts of Swedish municipalities to make 
society accessible to individuals with disabilities. The 
survey is created by Humana with expert support from 
other organisations that also promote increased accessi-
bility in society. 

Research projects that create new knowledge
Evidence-based practices and innovative solutions impro-
ve the care industry. That is why we participate in various 
research projects, such as a project that aims to reduce the 
number of fall injuries among elderly people. Injuries caused 
by falling cost Swedish society about SEK 25 billion per year. 
The new solutions involve adapting the surrounding environ-
ment, education, tailored physical training, and support so 
that individuals can reduce their own risk of falling. 

We train Swedish social services
We happily share our knowledge and expertise in complex 
care services. Particularly in individual and family care, we 
have a long history of sharing our knowledge externally, such 
as with social services offices throughout Sweden. Humana 
Academy arranges internal and external courses, both online 
and on site.

Most and best care for taxpayers’ money
Increasingly more demands are being placed on private care 
providers. We continuously monitor costs with the aim of 
providing the best possible care as efficiently as possible, 
without reducing quality. Humana invests heavily in le-
adership, resulting in lower costs since employee satisfaction 
increases while staff turnover and absenteeism remain low. 
As a leading provider, we drive cost efficiencies and quality 
development in both the public and private sectors.
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An equal opportunity workplace
Humana provides jobs for more than 14,000 people. 
For us, gender equality and diversity are essential. At 
Humana, 50 percent of employees in business area mana-
gement roles are women, and women make up 60 percent 
of Group management. In 2017, Humana received an 
award from the AllBright Foundation for being the most 
gender-equal publicly listed company.

Integration in the labour market
We are also proud to help many young adults and people 
with international backgrounds gain a foothold on 
the labour market. We estimate that one-third of our 
employees were born outside the Nordic region. Humana 
works in partnership with the Swedish Public Employ-
ment Service, Red Cross and other organisations to make 
it easier for asylum seekers to enter the labour market. 
We have also been working with Samhall for several years 
and provide jobs in various Humana operations.  

Innovations that drive the industry forward
In the new elderly homes Humana is building, technical 
innovations are prioritised to make it easier for the staff 
but also to provide a higher standard of accommodation 
and privacy for the elderly residents in their flats. In 
Individual & Family, Humana helps drive innovation 
by developing treatment methods and through research 
partnerships with various universities.

Investments that drive the industry forward
With growing care needs, responsible private providers such 
as Humana who are willing to invest in care are needed as 
a complement to the public sector. We provide specialist 
skills and invest for the future in areas that include quality 
improvements and the construction of elderly housing and 
residences with special services. Investments are also being 
made in Humana Academy training as well as methods and 
systems development.

Reduced environmental impact
Humana works to reduce its environmental impact associated 
with transportation, energy use, waste management and pro-
curement. Humana has a main agreement for 100% renewable 
electricity, and throughout most of our business it is now ag-
reed that new purchased or leased vehicles will be eco-friendly. 
Humana’s operational environmental initiatives take place 
locally and are based on each operation’s action plan.

Individual freedom of choice
It would not be possible to fulfil society’s aspirations for gre-
ater freedom of choice for the individual and simultaneously 
obtain the necessary resources without new providers who 
offer fresh perspectives and new work methods. Individual 
freedom of choice is also important for anyone working in 
care. Private providers like Humana broaden the range of 
employers, which increases the individual's mandate in his 
or her own professional life and career. 

Humana’s value creation
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Contributing to  
better care
A safe upbringing, equal opportunities for individuals with 
functional impairments and a good life in old age are things that 
many take for granted. For society to cope with these demands, a 
variety of providers are needed with shared ambition to improve 
quality, knowledge and innovation in the field. Humana operates 
using several different strategies that bring together financial and 
quality requirements with education, research and development. 
The results impact our customers every day, as well as our 
employees, investors and society.

Target areas
Quality operations. Long-term, sustainable growth.  
Attractive employer. Socially responsible provider.

Core values
Commitment, joy and responsibility are our essential core 
values. Our corporate culture is characterised by entrepre-
neurship and individual responsibility.

Objective
The preferred provider-of-choice for care services among  
customers, clients and payers who have high quality standards.

Everyone is entitled  
to a good life

Vision
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Society has shifted focus  
to caring for the individual

From institution to individual
Healthcare and social care in the Nordic region have changed fun-
damentally in recent decades. From having built institutions such as 
orphanages and mental institutions, Swedish social policy switched 
focus around the 1960s. A collectivist approach was replaced to an 
increasing extent by an individualist approach. A central idea in the 
care ideology that began to emerge was about individual autonomy 
and influence. The abolition of long-term care hospitals, nursing ho-
mes and mental hospitals resulting from new legislation represented 
a paradigm shift. In Sweden, for example, the ÄDEL Reform and 
Psychiatric Reform brought major positive changes from the 1990s 
onwards from the perspective of the individual. Finland and Nor-
way have seen developments like those in Sweden. These countries 
have transitioned from large central institutions, which served both 
adults and children with care needs, to placing more responsibility 
on municipalities, with a focus on the individual and enabling them 
to live in the local community. 

In 1986 the Care Act was established in Sweden, the first law 
that gave individuals the opportunity to appeal an administrative 
decision. Since then, several acts aimed at regulating the individu-
al’s right to care have been implemented and further developed. 
One example is the Social Services Act, under which society’s social 
services should facilitate people’s economic and social security, 
equal living conditions and active participation in society. Another 
central act is the Act Concerning Support and Service for Persons 
with Certain Functional Impairments (LSS), which included the 
right to personal assistance and took effect in Sweden in 1994. Cor-
responding legislation was enacted in Norway in January 2015. 

In Finland, legislation on disability services will be reformed in 
2018. The intention is to merge the current Act on Services and As-
sistance for the Disabled from 1987 with the Act on Special Care for 
the Mentally Handicapped from 1977 into a new law that replaces 
the previous two. The starting point is to improve the participation 
and equality of individuals with disabilities. 

Regulations drive increased  
diversity and create choice 
Over the years, several regulations have been put in place that have 
driven the development towards a greater diversity of providers and 
freedom for individuals to choose their own providers or change 
their providers. In Sweden, the Public Procurement Act has opened 
more opportunities for private providers to run care operations 
on a contractual basis. Another example is the Act on System of 
Choice in the Public Sector (LOV), which aims to stimulate greater 
competition between care providers, with a focus on improving the 
quality and efficiency of care. LOV enables local municipalities and 
county councils to allow individuals to choose their care provider. 
In Norway, an act legislating the right to choose one’s hospital was 
introduced in 2008. It was extended in 2015 to encompass the right 
to choose one’s own treatment, and states that individuals can also 
choose private providers. 

The changing perception of healthcare and social care, combined 
with the legislation enacted over the years, has gradually changed the 
market. Today’s market includes both public, non-profit and private 
providers that offer a variety of working methods and treatments. 
This diversity is important when implementing the idea of care that 
places the individual’s needs and autonomy front and centre. 

Everyone is entitled to a good life. Fundamentally, it’s about ensuring the individual’s 
security throughout different life stages – such as psychosocial problems affecting children, 
adolescents and adults, or disability or old age. Healthcare and social care today are a 
cornerstone of the Nordic welfare system, which is why innovative and effective social care 
services are needed regardless of the provider.

2017: Seeing the individual’s needs
– Personal choice

Nordic care  
market*

SEK  454 billion

Market size  

2016

Providers
Public 
Non-profit
Private

Healthcare and social care in Sweden have gone 
from being built on institutions to being centred  
on the the individual’s needs.”

1950: Managing social ills
– Institutions *Sweden, Norway and Finland
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The market

Depending on the country’s history and government ideology, the 
market size of each type of provider varies in Sweden, Norway and 
Finland. Comparing the countries, Norway is considered most res-
trictive regarding the public perception of private business. Finland 
is making its largest investment ever in healthcare reform, the SOTE 
reform, which explicitly opens the market to a multitude of providers. 
The reform includes a call to open at least some of the publicly run 
operations to competition. 

In Sweden, diversity in the welfare sector has improved enormous-
ly over the last few decades. Despite a political debate on profit caps, 
the right to choose and change providers is well established with 
Swedish citizens.  

The private healthcare and social care  
market in the Nordics 
The private healthcare and social care sector is growing in all of 
Humana’s countries of operation, partly driven by an increase in 
mental illness, particularly among youths, combined with  demo-
graphic factors as well as increased specialisation and personalisation. 
Although the industry has several large providers, healthcare and 
social care is still mainly a sector made up of small companies. 

The care market in Sweden
The municipalities’ cost for care in 2016 was SEK 223 billion, and 
the market has historically shown an annual growth rate of just 
over four percent.  The percentage of private providers in Sweden is 
26 percent and is gradually increasing. 

Individual and family care
The services provided in the individual and family care area are the 
most complex. Substance abuse, neuro-psychiatric disabilities, de-
pression and self-harm are problems that can lead to the need for sup-
port and treatment. The segment also includes includes special services 
housing under LSS – so-called LSS homes – and daily activities.

Personal assistance
To be entitled to personal assistance, an individual must have a per-
manent disability or a disease such as MS and a great need for help 
with daily tasks. Individuals are entitled to choose who will provide 
the personal assistance, and private providers hold a strong position. 
In addition, there are many non-profit providers.

Elderly care
Elderly care consists mostly of home care service and elderly housing, 
but also daily care activities, flats adapted for the elderly, meeting pla-
ces and family member services.  The 65-plus age group today makes 
up about 20 percent of the population and is increasing steadily.

The care market in Norway and Finland
The Norwegian care market amounted to SEK 142 billion in 2016. 
The market is more regulated than the Swedish market, where public 
and non-profit providers are preferred in procurement processes.  
However, privatisation is increasing, particularly in the personal 
assistance segment.

The Finnish care market increased to SEK 89 billion in 2016. 
Market conditions are much like Sweden’s in terms of procurement 
and incentives for freedom of choice. The market is currently under-
going further privatisation to increase quality and productivity.

Distribution of providers
 Private 27 %  
 Public 73 %  

SEK1  80 billion

Distribution of providers
 Private 66 % 
 Public 24 % 
 Non-profit 10 % 

SEK 26 billion

Distribution of providers
 Private 17 % 
 Public 83 %

SEK117billion

The care market in Norway

The care market in Finland

Elderly care in Sweden

Individual and family care in Sweden

Personal assistance in Sweden

SEK 89 billion

SEK142 billion

Market size 2016 and 
distribution of providers

Source: Nordic Healthcare Group (NHG) analysis

Source: SSB and NHO

Source: Försäkringskassan and SCB, 2016

34 % private  
providers

12 % private  
providers

 1 Includes LSS, except for  
personal assistance
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Political impact
As a publicly funded business, Humana is strongly affected by poli-
tical decisions, both at the local level and the national level. During 
the year, several political issues had a major impact on the business. 

Profit caps
The year was marked by the proposal put forward in November 
2016 by Ilmar Reepalu for a profit cap for private welfare companies 
in Sweden. Some metropolitan municipalities have become more 
politicised, as shown in cases where homes were withdrawn before 
their contractual term expired. In most municipalities, however, 
Humana faces a different reality: one in which people have a posi-
tive view of our services and welcome us as partners to meet their 
welfare challenges.
 Judging from quality, employee satisfaction and employee turno-
ver, private alternatives outperform public ones every day. Further-
more, Humana saved taxpayers an estimated SEK 900 million in 
2017, and with higher quality than public-sector care normally offers.

In Norway, there is an ongoing debate like the one in Sweden. 
During last year’s election campaign, criticism was at times intense 
and harsh, with the entire leftist block promising “more value 
for your money” through a ban on privatisation. The Norwegian 
market is challenging for private providers. Public and non-profit 
organisations are often preferred in tendering processes, and both 
target group differentiation and regulation are more comprehensive.  
However, the low degree of privatisation opens for future opportu-
nities in the market. Several positive legislative changes were also 
implemented that have opened the market to private providers in 
some segments, including substance abuse and psychiatric treatment 
as well as personal assistance. 

Trends on the Nordic care market
The Nordic care market is characterised by several trends that collectively have a major 
impact on Humana’s business. Increased mental illness and demographic changes,  
combined with increasingly strained public finances, mean that society must invest in 
high-quality, cost-effective care in the future. Private providers must take part and  
contribute if society is to cope with these challenges.

Demographics
The number of elderly in the population is increasing worldwide. In 
Sweden, the number of individuals over the age of 85 is expected to 
increase by 56 percent from 2014 until 2030. In addition, more and 
more children are being born. The trend of having a larger propor-
tion of the population in need of care significantly impacts public 
budgets, which in turn leads to demand for more efficient social 
care systems.  Surveys show that Swedish municipalities’ budgets 
will become much more strained starting in 2019, since the tax base 
will not increase at the same rate as the population grows. An incre-
asingly smaller proportion of the working-age population will need 
to support a larger number of people in need of care. To address 
this trend, society depends on private providers for cost-effective 
solutions and innovative care. 

Increasing mental illness 
Between 1990 and 2013, the number of people suffering from 
mental illness around the world rose by more than 50 percent. In 
Sweden today, 45 percent of all sick leave is caused by mental ill-
ness. And most worrying is that mental illness in children and ado-
lescents is soaring. A survey from the National Board of Health and 
Welfare reveals that 190,000 children and adolescents in Sweden 
aged 10-17 suffer from mental illness. The figure has increased by 
100 percent over the last decade, and the corresponding figure for 
young adults aged 18-24 has increased by 70 percent. This develop-
ment is alarming, and the need for adolescent psychiatry and social 
interventions is greater now than ever before. 

In Norway as well, there is an increase in mental health problems 
among children and adolescents. Close to 70,000 children and 
adolescents have mental problems that require treatment, and one of 
three 16-year-olds have symptoms that meet the criteria for psychi-
atric diagnoses.  

In Finland, loneliness is a growing problem that is noticeable 
among children, adolescents and the elderly alike. The importance 
of meaningful activities in the Finnish chain of care, in combina-
tion with preventive initiatives for mental health problems, will 
therefore become even more important in the future.
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Mental illness among young women aged 18-24 has increased annually by about 13% 
over the last 3 years. The increase among young men is 9%. Source: SCB, National Board 
of Health and Welfare, Humana Analysis.
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Market trends

The SOTE reform
In Finland, the SOTE reform is currently underway. It is often 
described as the biggest social-policy reform in Europe since the 
Second World War.  As part of the reform, Finland will transition 
from 326 municipalities to 18 provinces, known as SOTE areas, 
which will cover social services and healthcare. The public healthcare 
system will be privatised and will aim to create fair competition by 
enabling freedom of choice in several segments. Many details remain, 
but at the time of writing a gradual implementation of the changed 
legislation is being planned to start in the summer of 2018. One hope 
of the reform is to expand Finland’s healthcare sector from being 
solely focused on heath to including social services and education, 
especially for children and adolescents.

Personal assistance
In recent years Försäkringskassan has interpreted legislation on per-
sonal assistance with an increasingly narrow view; in the annual go-
vernment directives for 2016, when the Government commissioned 
the agency to break the trend of hourly rates, the impact was substan-
tial. The number of people receiving a public assistance allowance has 
since decreased by more than 1,300 and is now the lowest in more 
than ten years. This trend clearly began with the annual government 
directives to Försäkringskassan. 

Many of those who lost their assistance allowance are children with 
quite comprehensive care and support needs, who instead of staying at 
home end up at university hospitals. This not only makes life difficult 
for them and their families, but costs society huge sums of money – 
significantly more than the state’s savings on personal assistance. 

During the year, Humana was a driving force in the debate to 
turn this trend around, and today there is political consensus around 
safeguarding the assistance reform. Among other initiatives, Humana 
and several user organisations have called on the government to 
introduce an emergency stop for assistance withdrawal, which will 
take effect in the spring of 2018. Furthermore, Humana’s lawyers are 
working intensively to reverse the recent withdrawal, decisions that 
clients have received, and to push through the approval of new appli-
cations from people with extensive, lifelong assistance needs.

Reception of refugees 
The political reversal on refugee reception made a big impact on indi-
vidual and family care in 2017. In 2016, after having doubled capaci-
ty compared to past years, the market has now been forced to adapt 
to much lower levels. Overcapacity has led to consolidation and the 
closing of individual residential care homes. For Humana’s part, it 
has meant an adjustment to our involvement with unaccompanied 
minors, with a focus on increasingly specialised care. The situation 
has been similar in Norway as well, with a strong increase in demand 
followed by a political about-face and return to previous levels. 

Human resource management
Lack of qualified staff is a problem in much of the Swedish care 
sector. For example, there is a shortage of nurses and treatment 
assistants. The situation is expected to continue and is especially 
problematic in rural areas. Ensuring the availability of skilled 
labour is a crucial task if society wants to be able to deliver the care 
that its citizens expect in the long run. 

The lack of skilled labour means tougher competition over the 
best employees. For Humana’s part, this means that we need to 
continuously enhance our attractiveness as an employer, so we 
can remain competitive in the labour market. Humana’s brand is 
already strong, and those who approach us do so because they share 
our conviction that we provide important services.

Unlike Sweden, Norway does not experience the same staffing 
problems. In Finland, there are huge regional differences, but over-
all there is a sufficient number of trained professionals in the social 
care sector.

Since December 2015, the number of individuals decreased by 7.8%. In 2017 alone,  
the number of individuals decreased by 5.1%. Source: Försäkringskassan.
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Sustainable growth enables  
personalised, high-quality care 
With our values as foundation and four clearly defined target areas as our strategic compass, 
we can address the changes taking place in the world and in our markets. We are sensitive to 
how we should work to continually evolve and improve. As a modern care company, Humana is 
well equipped for continued sustainable growth and a strong position on the Nordic care market, 
which still shows strong demand.

Since its start in 2001, Humana has grown rapidly, both organically  
and through acquisitions. Today, Humana is a leading care group 
in the Nordic region with over 14,000 employees who provide care 
services for more than 7,000 individuals. Despite our size, Huma-
na maintains an entrepreneurial spirit both in terms of mandate 
and resources. This ensures growth in our Nordic markets without 
losing our focus on quality. Through growth, we can also continue 
to provide many job opportunities in an industry that makes a true 
difference in society.

Humana’s overarching goal is to be the care services provider of 
choice for customers, clients and payers with high quality standards. 
Good quality is a fundamental requirement for business growth 
and development, as well as sustained profitability over time. How 
we perform our care services, and thus manage trust, is critical and 
depends on our employees. Attracting, recruiting and retaining 
employees who share our vision and core values is a fundamental 
prerequisite for us as a sustainable growth company. 

Strategic issues in HR, communications, quality, finance and IT 
are prominent items on Group management’s agenda. Effective 
coordination and organisation in these areas will ensure sustainable 
growth, where both employees and earnings can grow.

Our strategic target areas
Humana’s goal is to continuously improve work practices that 
provide taxpayers with more care for their money. In this way, we 
will meet and exceed our payers' expectations while continuously 
developing the care we provide to our customers and clients. With 
our core values as a foundation, we strive to evolve and improve 
ourselves within these four target areas:

• Quality operations 
• Attractive employer
• Long-term, sustainable growth
• Socially responsible provider

14 | Humana Annual Report 2017

Introduction Contributing to better care Sustainable care provider Our care work Legal annual report



Our four target areas 

Humana is an important part of the Nordic 
welfare system and thus an important part 
of society in the Nordic region. Humana in-
tends to be a driving force in advancing the 
care industry by producing and dissemi-
nating new knowledge within our business 
areas and by being a responsible, modern 
employer. We have a genuine desire to 
share our experiences and knowledge so 
that they can benefit more people and 
contribute to sustainable welfare. 

Humana intends to be the industry’s most 
attractive employer and the natural choice 
for people who want to work in healthcare. 
We invest in an organisation with strong 
leadership, high awareness of the Group’s 
vision and goals, sustainable core values 
and an inclusive corporate culture as 
well as a secure, healthy and joyful work 
environment that enhances our competiti-
veness. By focusing on skills development 
and career opportunities in the Group, 
Humana attracts, recruits and retains 
motivated individuals who share our core 
values. 

For Humana, achieving our vision  
“Everyone is entitled to a good life” 
requires a focus on quality at all stages. 
All our operations are based on respect 
for human integrity and autonomy. No 
two individuals are the same. That is 
why our solutions must be personalised 
and unique. By introducing the Humana 
Quality Model, Humana wishes to advance 
the entire industry and contribute to new, 
higher, standards. 

Long-term, sustainable growth means that 
Humana will continue to grow both orga-
nically and through acquisitions. Humana 
will grow organically by starting up new 
operations, gaining market share, and bro-
adening and deepening the service content 
of our segments and markets. In addition, 
we continuously evaluate new markets 
for potential acquisitions, both in terms of 
content and geographically.

Developments in 2017Description

∙  Continued efforts to open new  
businesses under own management: 
– Opened new elderly homes in Växjö 
and Österåker during the year in line 
with our plan. Humana’s goal is to open 
2-3 new homes under own management 
per year.  
– Established several new housing units 
in Finland, Norway and within Individual 
& Family in Sweden. In Norway, we have 
also entered new segments in individual 
and family care for adults.

∙  Continued acquisitions in Finland facili-
tate expansion into new business areas 
(elderly care and homes with special 
services).

∙  Divestment of the home care opera-
tion means a sharper focus and better 
conditions for sustained profitability in 
Elderly care.

 ∙   The closure and conversion of migra-
tion-related services (in Individual & 
Family and in Norway) allow us to conti-
nue focusing on our core business in the 
more complex area of social psychiatry. 

∙  A challenging market situation with ne-
gative growth in the industry has had an 
impact on Personal Assistance, but we 
have nevertheless taken market share.

∙  A very high ESI index of 73 in line with 
the previous year (74) and considerably 
higher than the industry average (app-
roximately 68).

∙  Leadership index of 81 (industry average 
of about 40).

∙  Industry-leading workplace attendance 
of 94.3%.

∙  Industry-leading level of 94 for moti-
vated employees (industry average is 51 
for private companies) 

∙  Created about 120 entry-level jobs.

∙  AllBright award for most gender-equal 
listed company in Sweden.

∙  Initiated LGBTQ training for managers.

∙  Sustainability analysis conducted within 
the Group.

∙  Collaborative project Children’s Barome-
ter together with Save the Children.

∙  A major impact on issues of accessi-
bility through the annual Accessibility 
Barometer.

∙  Launched Group-wide core values tool.
∙  Continued to drive innovation in elderly 

care by winning the 2017 Swedish Ligh-
ting Award for our home in Gävle.

∙  Organised several events with a focus 
on personal assistance and its future, 
including a parliamentary seminar in 
cooperation with the Swedish Center 
Party.

•  Together with various providers, par-
ticipate in a Vinnova-funded research 
project that aims to reduce fall injuries 
for seniors.

∙  In 2017, we developed a model for quali-
ty assurance at Humana called the Hu-
mana Quality Model (HQM), consisting 
of an individual section and a corporate 
strategy section. The model’s design 
enables systematic quality monitoring at 
the corporate level. 

∙  In 2017, we developed and pilot-tested 
a new Group-wide quality management 
system called Parus. In 2018, Parus will 
be implemented in all our operations. 

∙  A central medical healthcare unit was 
formed to develop and enhance the 
quality of healthcare initiatives. It brings 
together the Group’s head nurses, who 
are responsible for ensuring that patients 
receive safe, appropriate, quality health-
care. 

∙  During the year, we successfully reduced 
the number of medication deviations 
within the Group by introducing digital 
signing for medications.

Strategy and objectives

1
Quality 

operations

2
Long-term,  
sustainable 

growth

3
Attractive  
employer 

4
Responsible

care provider
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Financial targets
Outcome 2017 Outcome 2016 CommentsDefinitionTarget

Operating profit decreased 
to SEK 316 million (329), 
due to the restructuring of 
previous migration-related 
units and slightly lower 
occupancy levels in parts 
of Individual & Family. 

4.8 % 5.2 %
An operating margin in the 
medium term of approx-
imately six percent. 

Operating revenue at  
Humana increased during 
the year by 3 percent, 
which was below the com-
pany’s medium-term goal. 
The disposal of the home 
care business impacted 
revenues in 2017. 

3 % 14 %8–10 %
Revenue growth

6 %
Profitability

Annual revenue growth 
of 8-10 percent, achieved 
through organic growth 
and bolt-on acquisitions.

Humana’s interest-bea-
ring net debt in relation to 
EBITDA improved during 
the period to 3.8 times. 
However, the level was 
above the company’s tar-
get for the Group’s capital 
structure. 

3.8  
times

3.9  
times

Interest-bearing net debt in 
relation to EBITDA should 
not exceed three times. 
However, indebtedness 
may temporarily exceed 
the target level, for ex-
ample in conjunction with 
acquisitions.

Humana’s Board proposes 
that the 2018 AGM appro-
ve a dividend of SEK 0.60 
per share. The proposal, 
which falls below Huma-
na’s objective, should be 
considered based on an 
assessment of good ex-
pansion opportunities. 

16 % 15 %

Distribute a dividend 
totalling 30 percent of the 
year’s profit. The proposed 
dividend will consider 
Humana’s long-term 
development potential and 
financial position.

3 times
Capital structure

30 %
Dividend 

policy
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Humana as an investment

A stable and growing industry 
In 2016 the Swedish municipalities’ total cost for care in Sweden 
was SEK 223 billion. The care market in Norway totalled SEK 142 
billion in 2016, while the market in Finland totalled SEK 89 
billion. In 2016, the private healthcare and social care market in 
Sweden grew by 11 percent to SEK 126.4 billion. The healthcare 
and social services segment saw a huge growth of 21 percent during 
the period, largely due to increased migration.1

The markets in Sweden, Norway and Finland have grown by an 
average of 4-5 percent annually over the last ten years and the pace 
of privatisation has continued to increase. The share of privatisation 
is roughly 26 percent in Sweden, 34 percent in Finland and 12 
percent in Norway.2

Growth in the care market is predicted to continue to increase 
due to a growing and ageing population, increased requirements for 
specialisation and personalisation, as well as an increase in mental 
illness, particularly among adolescents. The market is consolidating 
in pace with increased demand from buyers, clients and public 
authorities. Humana’s strategy is to continue playing an active role 
in this market consolidation. 

A market-leading position  
with a clear focus 
Humana is a leading care company in the Nordic region. Ninety-
five percent of Humana’s revenues come from operations under 
Humana’s own management, which means that Humana takes full 
responsibility for all operations including methodology, properties, 
staff and care plans. A significant portion of the Group’s revenue is 
based on individual contracts with, or for, individuals. Humana’s 
operations in personal assistance and elderly care in Sweden are go-
verned by customer choice. Contracts for individual and family care 
place high demands on specialisation, expertise and compliance. 
All in all, this makes the entry barriers high in several of Humana’s 
operations. 

The increased specialisation of care means that municipalities in 
the Nordic countries, which are often small and numerous, are not 
able to provide the breadth of specialisation demanded by society. A 
geographical move to break destructive patterns is often preferred in 
individual and family care, which benefits Humana considering its 
broad geographical coverage. Through Humana’s proven dynamic 
care model used in individual and family care, the individual’s 
varied health and care needs are accommodated as the customer’s 
needs change over time, which promotes continuity and good 
treatment outcomes. 

A high-quality provider that is socially responsible 
Humana aims to be the provider of choice for customers and payers 
with high quality standards. Humana strives to always provide 
quality care that meets the needs and wishes of our customers and 
clients. Constantly developing and improving quality at all levels 
helps create a business with long-term viability. 

As a leading Nordic care company, Humana wants to take social 
responsibility. We feel a responsibility to efficiently leverage our 
public resources to create more care for taxpayers’ money.

95 %
of Humana’s revenues  
come from operations under our own 
management

11%
growth in the private healthcare and 
social care market in Sweden

41
acquisitions in 10 years

Humana is a leading quality provider in the growing Nordic care market. 
The company holds a strong market position with a clear emphasis on pro-
viding specialised care with a customer focus. Every day, we work to achieve 
our vision “Everyone is entitled to a good life”. 

Humana as an investment

SEK 900 M
in savings delivered to taxpayers 
through more efficient care 

1Grant Thornton, 2017
2Försäkringskassan, SCB 2016, SSB, NHO and Nordic Healthcare Group (NHG) analysis
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Sustainable 
care provider 
With operations in Sweden, Norway and Finland, Humana plays  
a natural and instrumental role in developing Nordic care. Ensuring 
quality for clients, employees and society requires a sustainable 
approach that guides all our operations. Humana works actively 
with sustainability issues in several prioritised areas, and our work is 
followed up through regular controls. Humana’s sustainability work 
is presented in the four sections Values-driven organisation, Quality 
assurance in the individual’s best interests, An inclusive workplace 
and How Humana contributes to the UN’s global sustainability goals. 

14,438
employees

100+
courses  
offered by  
Humana Academy

80 CSI
customer satisfaction 
index, 2017

web-based courses  
completed  

in 2017

5,731

Parts of Individual  
& Family have  
been certified

LGBTQ
CERTIFICATION

About Humana’s sustainability report
Humana’s sustainability report covers fiscal year 2017. 
It can be found on pages 18 to 27. The sustainability 
report is prepared in accordance with the provisions  
of Chapters 6 and 7 of the Swedish Annual Accounts 
Act. Humana AB’s Board approved the sustainability 
report in connection with signing the annual report 
and consolidated financial statements. 
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Values-driven organisation
Achieving our vision “Everyone is entitled to a good life” requires a corporate  
culture with a common ethical foundation. Humana’s core values are the pillars of 
these efforts and one of the Group’s most important assets. Our Code of Conduct, 
which is based on our core values, contains guidelines on issues like anti-corruption 
and operating from from a human rights perspective.

Humana takes an ambitious and systematic approach to our core 
values based on the concepts of commitment, joy and responsibility. 
Our work in this area is based on well-established ethical guidelines 
for social work and Humana’s own experiences. Everyone from 
Humana’s management teams and larger operations have value- 
ambassadors whose job description includes tasks dedicated to our 
core value efforts. The values-leaders also receive ongoing training as 
part of further developing this work.

Educating employees about our core values requires an inclusive 
approach. Instead of one-way communication, many practical ex-
ercises are conducted that spark discussion and reflection. Humana 
has developed support tools like a game with different questions 
about the core values. We also practice working with ethical dilem-
mas, where staff get to discuss difficult professional situations and 
find solutions together. In this way, we ensure that the organisation 
always benefits from new experiences, views and lessons learned, 
which can be used when developing work practices and procedures.

Our Code of Conduct
Each new employee is required to take an introductory course 
offered by the Humana Academy on Humana’s core values and 
sustainability areas, such as the Code of Conduct. As of 2018, all 
new employees must sign the Code of Conduct when they sign 
their employment contract. During the year, the entire Board of 
Directors, senior management, managers and eventually all employ-
ees will also take a comprehensive e-learning course on Humana’s 
sustainability efforts.

The Code of Conduct describes Humana’s business relationships, 
both within the company and with external stakeholders. Social 
and staff-related conditions are also regulated in Humana’s diversity 
and inclusion policy and in our work environment policy.

Human rights and anti-corruption
Humana’s operations are governed by each country’s regulations on 
working conditions, occupational health and safety, and freedom 
of association. All operations in all three countries are subject to 
collective bargaining agreements. At Humana, equal treatment is a 
matter of course: nobody may be discriminated against or harassed 
on the grounds of gender, transgender identity or expression,  
ethnicity, religion or other belief, disability, sexual orientation or 

age. We take a democratic approach to employees’ right to freedom 
of association in which no worker should be discriminated against 
due to their political affiliation.

Humana’s operations are characterised by high professional in-
tegrity, honest business practices, accountability and fairness. Price 
collusion, cartels or abuse of market position are not acceptable. 
Our Code of Conduct regulates the responsibility of all compa-
ny employees to avoid the risk of bribery and other unsuitable 
influences in their external relations. Entertainment and gifts must 
reflect openness and moderation and be intrinsically linked with the 
business relationship. No cases of corruption were reported in 2017. 

During the year, several objectives were formulated which will 
be followed up throughout 2018 and the coming years. Compliance 
with the Code of Conduct will be followed up using methods like 
measuring the percentage of employees who complete the man-
datory training, random operational inspections through regular 
internal controls, and reporting the number of received and resolved 
cases of serious misconduct via the whistleblowing function. Huma-
na’s quality assurance manager is responsible for the whistleblowing 
function, which allows anonymous reporting. No incidents were 
reported in 2017. As for sexual harassment, Humana has clear 
procedures that were brought to the attention of employees as a 
reminder during the #metoo movement in the autumn of 2017.

Central and local responsibility for the environment
Humana’s environmental policy states that operations should be 
run to achieve two main goals:
• Climate efficiency (energy consumption, transports, food)
•  Resource efficiency (ecocycle, waste management,  

efficient resource management)
Humana’s environmental initiatives are guided by two principles. 
The substitution principle entails continuous replacement of inferior 
technology and environmentally hazardous substances with more 
resource-efficient technologies and eco-friendlier substances. The 
precautionary principle seeks to avoid activities or products that 
may be hazardous to the environment. 

To measure continuous improvement regarding the environment, 
each year Humana will conduct a follow-up with selected units in 
each country on matters such as the amount of recycled food, pur-
chases of organic or locally produced foods, recycling, and health 
promotion activities. The practical environmental work at Humana 
takes place mainly through a variety of local initiatives, including 
environmental certifications and activities that reduce food waste. 

Humana wants to make a positive contribution to climate 
adaptation, so it is working to reduce its carbon dioxide emissions. 
In 2018, we will develop key performance indicators to measure 
carbon dioxide emissions from the Group’s cars and buildings. The-
se will then be used as a management tool at the corporate level to 
reduce emissions. In Sweden Humana uses 100 percent renewable 
electricity, with Norway and Finland scheduled to follow, and all 
other countries as new units are acquired. 

  Together – and with our  
core values to guide us – we continue 
to become a stronger, better company 
that gives our customers and clients  
a better life.”

Rasmus Nerman, President and CEO
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Sustainability

100 %
Percentage of renewable  
electricity (main contract in 
Sweden)

0 
Number of reported cases  
of corruption (2017)

0 
Number of serious misconduct  
cases reported via whistle-
blowing and resolved (2017)

Performance indicators

Everyone  
contributes to  
safely processing 
Humana’s data

The goal of Humana’s data management is 
to ensure as few incidents as possible and 
a high level of security. Our data manage-
ment is governed by a data integrity policy 
that clarifies approaches, guidelines and 
goals. This policy guides employees in their 
day-to-day management of data to ensure 
that Humana’s data is protected from loss, 
damage and unauthorised access. In this 
way, everyone also helps protect the privacy 
of our clients, customers and employees.

To ensure compliance with the policy, 
Humana will conduct monthly follow-ups of 
support cases based on category and bu-
siness area. In addition, Humana conducts 
an annual IT survey as part of the general 
employee survey.
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Quality in the individual’s  
best interests
At Humana, quality assurance is incorporated in every process, meeting and decision. These efforts are 
guided by current legislation and regulations and by Humana’s quality policy. At the same time, quality 
is something defined by an individual’s personal experience, so it is important to always keep the indivi-
dual in mind when discussing and assuring quality. The satisfaction of our customers, clients and buyers 
of care is the main testament to our success.

As a leading provider in the Nordic care market, Humana must 
maintain a high level of quality at all levels. Our goal is for Huma-
na’s quality organisation to help improve the situation of clients and 
colleagues alike, as well as of the care industry at large. For 2017, 
Humana scored a high 80 on its customer satisfaction index – the 
hard work behind this figure is something we are very proud of. 

Humana’s day-to-day operations revolve around four main areas 
that together lay the groundwork for high-quality care: individual 
solutions, a high level of expertise, our core values and evidence-ba-
sed methods. Evidence-based means that the care should be based 
on scientific methods. Therefore, we use national guidelines, resear-
ch and quality indexes as much as possible to support our practices. 

Organised for quality
Each business area within Humana has its own quality organisa-
tion, with a quality manager and quality developer who support the 
company’s quality assurance work and perform incident analyses, 
follow-up and risk assessments. Operations undergo regular internal 
inspections, and Humana’s quality organisation also carries out 
its own internal inspections. The highest responsible is the quality 
director and since 2017 there is also a medical expert and practicing 
nurses, coordinated at Group level, to support quality assurance 
within healthcare. 

Last year we prepared for transitioning to the Group-wide qua-
lity management system Parus. This work involves organisational 
housekeeping and harmonisation of processes, policies and 3,000 
procedures that must be collected into a single system. 

With more than 14,000 employees in three business areas in th-
ree countries, it has been a challenge but also an objective to make 
the system user-friendly for everyone. In the new system, users can 
follow a common thread in each process leading up to the task to 

be performed and find the current guidelines and procedures there. 
Some of these procedures are common for everyone at Humana, and 
some are for a specific business area or business operation. Two pilot 
projects were carried out during the year in Elderly Care and Personal 
Assistance and will be completed in 2018.

For Humana’s employees, Parus offers greater clarity since the sys-
tem forms a foundation for their work. For customers and clients, it 
means that they can feel confident that Humana follows current laws, 
regulations and internal procedures, while Humana’s values permeate 
individually and locally adapted efforts. 

Internal and external collaboration
The new quality management system also enables us to leverage 
experiences more easily, helping to raise quality throughout the entire 
company. In 2017, Humana conducted several successful collabo-
rative projects across national borders. One project involved the 
treatment of sexually externalising behaviour in adolescents, where a 
Swedish team held training in Norway. Another example was intro-
ducing the concept of enhanced family-home care to Finland. 

Since 2016, Humana has also taken part in an external project for 
prevention of falls among the elderly. The project is run by a consor-
tium of private companies and municipalities that is led by Sweden’s 
Technical Research Institute, now called RISE. The project has been 
granted SEK 8.8 million in funding from the innovation agency 
Vinnova. Results from the project will be reported in 2018.

 
Humana quality model
To measure quality within the Group and be able to compare 
various operations and see changes over time, we have developed the 
Humana quality model (HQM). The model is based on two parallel 
approaches: quantitative indicators that form an index called the 
Humana quality index (HQI), and the client’s individual plan, which 
focuses on personal goals that determine the interventions. Both 
perspectives are equally important in creating an overall assessment 
of quality. Our aim is to regularly report progress through Humana’s 
quality report.1  The quantitative approach is based on indicators that 
are measured on a scale of 1-100, where each indicator has a long-
term target that is weighed together with the long-term HQI target. 
This way, the index becomes an operational management tool. At the 
same time, it is a simple and transparent way to report on the health 
of each area of the company.

Key ratios, Humana quality index:
•  Percentage of serious deviations relative to the number  

of customers/clients
•  Percentage of employees who received training at Humana Academy
•  Leadership index
•  Customer satisfaction during ongoing placement (CSI)
•  Employee satisfaction index (ESI)
•  Workplace attendance

1 Read more about Humana’s quality assurance initiatives in our 2017 Quality Report. 22 | Humana Annual Report 2017
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Results: Customer satisfaction index, Personal Assistance

Satisfaction in the Youth, Individual & Family division, Sweden

Satisfaction in Elderly Care, Sweden 
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0

20

40

60

80

100

Total 
Humana 

Nationwide

Nöjdhet inom division äldreomsorg 2017

83%

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

82%

90%
87%

A B C

75% 74%

80% 78% 80% 80%

88%
85%

Lorem ipsum

A How satisfied or dissatisfied are you overall with your elderly care home? B Do you 
like your room or flat? C Do the staff usually take your opinions and preferences into 
consideration regarding how you receive assistance?

% Satisfaction

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

NKI-resultat per år

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

79 79 79 77 76

•  The extent to which Humana’s core values govern operations 
The second perspective represents a qualitative assessment based 

on the client’s individual plan. This plan contains the objectives to 
be achieved. The objectives are formulated in consultation between 
the client and Humana, and the plan is a living document that 
should be reformulated as efforts progress. The objectives are conti-
nuously evaluated, but the results are not measured at an aggregate 
level since the objectives are created in an individual context. On 
the other hand, Humana measures the percentage of clients whose 
individual plan is followed up according to schedule.

Indicators, individual plan:
•  Degree of follow-up 

Additional quality follow-up per business area
Within Elderly Care, we conduct a national user survey created by 
the National Board of Health and Welfare called “What do the 
elderly think of elderly care?” for people living in elderly housing. 
Humana’s facilities score very well in the survey results. We also use 
the Board’s open comparisons of elderly care and home care services 
as well as the unit survey of elderly care, in which businesses across 
the country can be compared.

Personal Assistance follows up on variables such as the percen-
tage of assistants who have completed induction training and the 
degree to which complaints have been managed. Four times a year, 
a national survey is conducted using standardised questions about 
customer satisfaction (customer satisfaction index). The results are 
compiled once a year. 

The Individual & Family business area conducts customer sur-
veys on a regular basis, both for ongoing and completed placements. 
Data are also collected on the number of dynamic care touchpoints 
and completed treatments. Dynamic care is Humana’s designation 
for a combination of measures that are dynamically adjusted to 
individual needs.

The National Board of Health and Welfare and SKL prepare user 
surveys like the survey in Elderly Care for Individual & Family and 
Personal Assistance, something that Humana has requested. We 
welcome any tools that facilitate comparisons in the industry. 

In Norway, Humana has developed its own surveys that ask young 
people living at residential care facilities and Personal Assistance 
customers about how they perceive our performance. 

In Finland, Arjessa has developed customer surveys for munici-
palities and for clients in which customer experiences are followed 
over time. 

Reporting serious deviations
Humana is the first private care company to publicly report any 
serious incidents categorised as Lex Sarah or Lex Maria. By being 
transparent in our reporting, we demonstrate the actions taken in 
the situations that occurred and what lessons we can learn from 
each individual case. Corresponding legislation that specifically 
addresses serious incidents is not available in Norway or Finland. 
In 2018, Humana will begin efforts to report critical incidents in 
Norway and Finland in a similar way.
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being ‘Neither yes nor no’. 

34 
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4 
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Number of reported Lex Sarah  
and Lex Maria cases during the year:
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An inclusive workplace
Everyone should feel equally welcome at Humana. Issues of inclusion,  
diversity and equality are a high priority and are addressed at all levels  
of the organisation. An open and welcoming workplace is important  
both for the individual and for Humana’s strategic development. 

Humana’s employees show a strong commitment to their work, as is 
clear from our employee survey, which revealed that more than 72 
percent of employees are proud to work at Humana and 83 percent 
feel committed to their workplace. Among our personal assistants, 
91 percent are proud of their work and feel motivated to make life 
better for others while being able to work in an environment that 
has a positive, collaborative atmosphere. 

Humana gives priority to occupational health and safety issues 
and strives to provide an inclusive environment in which everyone 
can participate and contribute. We see this as creating a physical en-
vironment with room for differences and creating a social environ-
ment where everyone feels valued. Often, the smallest details can 
make all the difference. For example, the dining tables in our lunch 
rooms are the right height for employees with disabilities or visitors 
in wheelchairs so that they can feel included. This is what inclusion 
is about – being responsive to the tiny details that together make a 
huge difference for everyone.

Broad diversity management
Humana’s objectives and guidelines on diversity, inclusion, and 
occupational health and safety are defined in our work environment 
policy and our diversity and inclusion policy. These policies stipula-
te that Humana should promote increased awareness of the benefits 
of diversity at the company and the opportunities they bring. Fur-
thermore, the policies make clear that Humana’s workplaces must 
be free from harassment, victimisation and discrimination. 

One of the goals states that at least 20 percent of our mana-
gers should have an international background. This means either 
being born outside the Nordic countries, having at least one parent 
born outside the Nordics, or having lived outside one’s homeland 
for more than three years. Today our diversity figure for Group 
management comes in at 20 percent, and we estimate diversity at 
just under 20 percent for the business areas’ management teams. We 
estimate that one-third of Humana’s employees were born outside 
the Nordic region.

At Humana, we are acting to create an equitable workplace. 
One concrete goal is to include candidates of different genders 
in the final stages of manager recruitment. Among the 65 most 
senior managers in the Group, the gender balance for 2017 is 50/50 
between men and women, and 60/40 between women and men in 
Group management. In our line of work, it is important to attract 
more men to the company since the care industry is traditionally 
dominated by women.

But for us at Humana, diversity and equality are more than 
gender alone. During the year we collaborated with the Swedish 
Federation for LGBTQ Rights, who educated 65 senior managers 
in Sweden, Finland and Norway on LGBTQ issues. Employees in 
several of Humana’s individual and family care operations in Upp-
sala County went through extensive training in 2017 and are now 
LGBTQ-certified. 

Skills and recruitment
According to estimates from SKL, the care and healthcare industry 
will need to recruit 230,000 people over the next eight years in 
Sweden alone. The need for skilled workers also exists in Norway 
and Finland, but not to the same extent. Humana attracts and re-
tains skilled, dedicated employees by offering meaningful jobs with 
opportunities for advancement in a work environment founded on 
a strong set of core values. Talented managers, investing in quality 
and job security further strengthen Humana’s brand as an employer. 
And as a socially responsible provider, we also have a goal of offering 
500 entry-level jobs to the Nordic labour market. So far, we have 
created 120 jobs with government hiring subsidies. 
 In 2017, Humana received more than 71,000 job applications in 
the Nordic region. The largest professional categories recruited are 
personal assistants, social workers and nursing assistants. Humana 
also employs physicians, psychologists and psychotherapists, as well 
as lawyers specialised in LSS. Skill levels are high, as can be seen in 
all situations where Humana is contacted via referral. We are proud 
of our reputation as experts and are happy to share information, 
analyses, expertise and legal advice. This also gives us the opportu-
nity to take part in driving the development of the care industry.

Education and knowledge-sharing
Humana believes that greater understanding leads to better care – 
for everyone. We take a continuous learning approach and share our 
experiences with others. All new employees at Humana undergo 
induction training and, when relevant, management training. In 
addition, we offer close to one hundred internal courses through 
Humana Academy in areas like treatment methods, leadership, oc-
cupational health and safety, client interactions, quality, functional 
impairment, IT systems and law. Humana Academy offers a way to 
gather research studies and expertise from within the company and 
pass it on to others. 

120
Entry-level jobs created 2017  
Target 500 by 2020

94 %
Workplace attendance 2017, 
Group

50 %
Women among the  
65 most senior managers

Performance indicators
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Employees

In 2017, Humana received the 
AllBright award after having  
been designated as the most 
gender-equal publicly listed 
company. The award was  
given based on surveys and 
interviews with Humana’s  
employees.

Humana works proactively for diversity 
and equality and was recognised for its 
efforts with an honourable award. In 
a first round, Humana was nominated 
along with 38 other companies on All-
Bright’s so-called green list. Following 
interviews and surveys with Humana’s 
CEO Rasmus Nerman and several col-
leagues, it became clear that Humana 
was the most gender-equal company on 
the stock exchange. 

 “I’m truly happy and incredibly 
proud, both on a personal level and on 
behalf of Humana. It feels great to be 
rewarded for our active gender equality 
work,” says Rasmus Nerman.
 Communication director Helena 
Pharmanson agrees:
 “It’s easy for us managers to point 
to policies as proof of our gender 
equality. But for our own employees to 
describe us as a gender-equal com-
pany means so much more, especially 
since we take a broader perspective on 
the entire diversity issue when we talk 
about equality,” she says.
 The results of the survey reveal an 
inclusive corporate culture.
 “The jury reacted strongly to the 
presence of core value ambassadors at 
the company, and to the belief of the 

company’s own employees that they can 
influence their work situation and deve-
lopment,” says Tove Dahlgren, acting 
managing director of AllBright.

Award-winning work on equality

  It’s easy for us  
managers to point to poli-
cies as proof of our gender 
equality. But for our own 
employees to describe us as 
a gender-equal company 
means so much more.”
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How Humana contributes to the 
UN’s global sustainability goals
To create a sustainable society, world leaders committed themselves to 
achieving 17 global targets by 2030. The goals cover a broad range of areas, 
both social and environmental, and achieving them requires collaboration 
between civil society, politicians, scientists and industry. Humana wishes to 
actively contribute to the target areas in which it has the power to influence.

In 2017, Humana appointed a reference group to map out the com-
pany’s sustainability efforts. The group’s work aimed to take stock 
of current policies and activities to lay the foundation for Humana’s 
future efforts in this area. The work was a regular feature of Group 
management and board meetings.

3.4 By 2030, reduce by one third premature  
mortality from non-communicable diseases through 
prevention and treatment, and promote mental health 
and well-being. 

5.5 Ensure women’s full and effective participation  
and equal opportunities for leadership at all levels of  
decision-making in political, economic and public life. 

10.2 By 2030, empower and promote the social,  
economic and political inclusion of all, irrespective of  
age, sex, disability, race, ethnicity, origin, religion or  
economic or other status.  

12.5 By 2030, substantially reduce waste generation 
through prevention, reduction, recycling and reuse. 

12.8 By 2030, ensure that people everywhere have  
the relevant information and awareness for sustainable 
development and lifestyles in harmony with nature.

Humana’s workSub-goalGoal

As a care operator, Humana’s overall goal is to improve people’s lives 
based on their individual circumstances. As the leading Nordic provider of 
care for individuals and families, we focus on providing care and treatment 
in psychosocial change processes and social psychiatry to families and 
individuals of all ages. We know that our services, our expertise and our 
employees make a difference in promoting mental health and well-being.  

Humana’s core values are rooted in the equal value of all human beings. We 
work to achieve the equal representation of women in all management posi-
tions at the company. We work with visible and invisible structures to unlock 
our employees’ full potential and to reflect our employees, customers, clients 
and relatives in the best way possible. Humana’s core values and culture will 
ensure sustainable, gender-equal leadership.

Humana’s entire purpose and strategy is to create an inclusive society. Regard-
less of the individual circumstances of our customers and clients, our employees 
work for their right to a better quality of life. Humana also drives accessibility 
issues and highlights the situation of socially vulnerable children in Sweden by 
using two annual barometers targeted to municipalities. We have the capability 
to offer entry-level jobs to people who are furthest from the labour market.

Humana aims to set a new standard of quality in the care industry. Through 
the development of welfare technology and methods, Humana helps increa-
se efficiency and quality management from the perspective of customers and 
employees. In Individual & Family, we use method development and quality 
assurance to ensure that the correct treatment methods are used based on 
science and proven methods. 

Humana has long advocated collective agreements and has such agre-
ements for all employees. We are also members of Almega, the Association 
of Private Care Providers. We conduct annual salary surveys from a gender 
perspective. In several of our businesses, we can offer entry-level jobs to pe-
ople furthest from the labour market. In Sweden, we have been collaborating 
with Samhall for many years.

Humana establishes policies centrally, but many of our environmental 
initiatives occur at the local units or residences scattered across the Nordic 
region. With the local supervisor or business director at the helm, the units 
are encouraged to reduce the amount of waste from their properties through 
a variety of measures that are agreed on by the staff.

Through good communication, interaction and organisation, Humana wants 
employees to be informed and involved in issues related to sustainable 
development. As an employee, a customer or even a buyer, everyone must 
have the possibility to influence Humana’s direction and pace of change as 
we move forward within our identified sustainability areas.

8.2 Achieve higher levels of economic productivity  
through diversification, technological upgrading and  
innovation, including through a focus on high-value 
added and labour-intensive sectors. 

8.5 By 2030, achieve full and productive employment 
and decent work for all women and men, including for 
young people and persons with disabilities, and equal 
pay for work of equal value. 

As part of our sustainability efforts, we affiliated our operations 
with the global sustainability goals. Below, we present the goals 
that were considered most relevant as well as a description of how 
Humana’s initiatives help to achieve these goals. The opposite page 
presents a selection of the Group’s activities. Humana will gradually 
provide updates on progress and initiatives in each target area.
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Sustainable operations in practice

The UN’s global goals

200 %

50 kg

Focus on equality  
Humana works proactively for diversity and equality. Goals and 
follow-up in each area are important, but even more important is a 
systematic approach to our values in which core value leaders and 
practical tools keep the dialogue alive. Extra time is set aside for 
this work during Core Values Week in the spring and Sustainability 
Week in the autumn. Employees and managers are encouraged to 
conduct activities at the local level that highlight the values impor-
tant to us at Humana.

Innovation in homes for the elderly
In Humana’s elderly homes under own management, we have  
introduced e-signing to reduce medication deviations. We have also 
developed an award-winning lighting solution that makes it easier 
for the elderly to maintain a good daily rhythm, as well as a techni-
que that enhances the residents’ privacy and security and improves 
the staff’s work environment. 

Inclusion in society 
Several of the business areas in Sweden have partnerships with ex-
ternal organisations to create opportunities for people who remain 
outside the labour market. For example, we collaborate with Sam-
hall, the Red Cross and Sverige Tillsammans. In addition, we are 
in the process of developing evidence-based integration; the ENIG 
and Integro programmes are proprietary methods that aim to help 
the individual develop realistic skills that promote integration and 
enable a healthy life.

Reduced food waste
The Ekhaga elderly care  
home in Kungsbacka, which is 
certified by the environmental 
certification agency Swedish 
Environmental Base, works acti-
vely with environmental issues. 
Between 2015 and 2016, the 
amount of food waste that was 
recycled increased by 200%. In 
2017, the total amount of recycled 
materials increased by 50 kilos. 
Chemicals were also in focus in 
2017. Ekhaga took an inventory 
of all its products and now uses 
only products it really needs, all 
of which carry an eco-label except 
for hand disinfectants. 

Documentary theatre as therapy
Together with Uppsala City Theatre, Humana has completed three  
documentary theatre project in recent years: We feel no pain, Keep 
your head high and Mark my words. Youth placed at residential care 
homes undergoing treatment for self-destructive behaviour have 
had the chance to tell their own story. The process, not the finished 
product, has been the focal point. 

Increased food  
recycling between  
2015 and 2016 

Increased recycled  
material 2017

#glädjepåjobbet
#hållbarahumana
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Our care work 
Humana’s operations encompass all aspects of care. In individual and 
family care and personal assistance we are the market leader in Sweden, 
and we have made strategic investments during the year to strengthen our 
position in elderly care. Humana also has a leading position in Norway and 
Finland, where our care work is mainly focused on individual and family 
care but also on personal assistance.

SEK 2,621M
operating revenue in  
Personal Assistance in 2017

SEK 2,212 M
operating revenue in  
Individual & Family in 2017

95 %
of Humana’s 2017 revenues come  
from operations under Humana’s  
own management

Operating revenue in 
Other Nordics  

in 2017

SEK

1,188M

Operating revenue  
in Elderly Care  

in 2017

 SEK

521M
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Individual & Family
With more than 40 years of experience in psychosocial change management and social psychiatry, Humana 
is the market leader in individual and family care in Sweden. We provide assessments, residential care  
homes, temporary and regular family homes, special housing, outpatient care and assisted living homes 
for children, adolescents, adults and the elderly along with special services housing under LSS. 

The market has been privatised to some extent since the 1950s. 
Through the psychiatry reform in the 1990s, and as society faces 
increasing mental illness and the need for further specialisation, 
private providers have captured a greater and more important share 
of the market. Humana currently has agreements with most of 
Sweden’s municipalities.

Individual & Family business area
Humana’s operations accept children, youth, adults and elderly 
people who need assistance in their daily lives. Many clients suffer 
from complex psychosocial and neuropsychiatric problems that 
require long-term interventions and are not able to remain in 
their own homes. Services include assessment, care and treatment, 
housing with support measures, halfway houses, family homes, 
outpatient care and aftercare. Our capital- and labour-intensive 
operations are based on the individual’s needs, and almost all opera-
tions are run under our own management.

Children and adolescents
Humana offers residential care homes and assisted living homes that 
accept children and adolescents with psychosocial problems. Huma-
na has specialist expertise in areas such as abuse issues, self-harm, 
neuropsychiatry and trauma. Humana can place approximately 700 
children and adolescents in 80 residential units.

Family homes and outpatient care
Humana provides temporary and regular family homes and ope-
rates outpatient care throughout Sweden. We offer outpatient care 
using the manual methods IHF and TFCO, which can serve as an 
alternative to placement in an institution. Operations are geographi-
cally dispersed to satisfy the need for proximity to the families that 
Humana supports and guides. We partner with nearly 800 family 
homes throughout Sweden and provide daily assistance for around 
800 children and adolescents in family homes and outpatient care.

Adults
For adult clients in need of interventions in social psychiatry, 
neuropsychiatry, comorbidity, forensic psychiatry and geriatric 
psychiatry, Humana offers short-term and special housing as well 
as residential care homes. In total, Humana can place 650 adults 
spread across 41 units.

LSS operations
Humana runs LSS operations in the form of service housing and residen-
ces with special services, daily activities, preschools, schools and short-
term operations throughout Sweden. Operations are run under Humana’s 
own management and under contract on behalf of municipalities. The 
activities are individually adapted for children, adolescents and adults 
with some form of functional impairment.

Growth in 2017
Revenues were in line with 2016 and totalled SEK 2,212 million  
(2,214). Operating profit was SEK 191 million (211). 

Since 2011, 30 companies have been acquired within the business area 
including one in 2017: Skellefteå Stöd & Behandling AB. The company 
runs residential care homes and assisted living homes for adolescents and is 
a valuable addition to operations in northern Sweden. The business area is 
expanding. In 2017, seven new units were opened including one residence 
with special services under LSS run under our own management.

During the year, we noted that needs continued to be high in mental 
healthcare as well as skilled care and healthcare for children, adolescents 
and adults. At the same time, municipalities around the country have adap-
ted to changed conditions for unaccompanied refugee minors. As a result, 
we worked actively during the year to customise the content of some of 
our operations. This transition was resource-intensive and was successfully 
completed by the end of the year. We have invested significant resources in 
method development and drive these efforts through a method council that 
operates across the entire business area. During the year, the assisted living 
concept emerged as a new type of placement with permit requirements; 
privately run family home operations also now require permits.

Outlook
Mental illness in society is expected to continue increasing, especially in 
adolescents and young adults, leading to an even greater need for care and 
treatment primarily through specialised initiatives. Humana’s continuing 
work with dynamic care will become increasingly valuable as the business 
area grows. Dynamic care is Humana’s designation for a combination of 
different measures and forms of care and treatment that are dynamically 
adjusted according to the client’s needs.

Individual & Family expects to see synergy effects in the future 
through cooperation with other business areas in the Group as well as 
with individual and family units in Humana’s operations in Norway and 
Finland, where methods and treatments can be shared across borders. We 
continue to focus on improvement efforts throughout our operations and 
to work actively to secure future recruiting needs.

Operating revenue  
and operating margin1 by year

2017 2016

Operating revenue, SEK M 2,212 2,214

Revenue growth, % 0 16

Organic growth, % -3 4

Share of Humana’s revenue, % 34 35

Operating profit, SEK M 191 211

Operating margin, % 8.6 9.5

Average number of employees,  
full-time equivalents

2,483 2,528 Operating revenue    Operating margin, %

Percentage of Group  
revenues 2017 Facts

34 %

 1 Before Group-wide costs
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Individual & Family

After five days of staying at 
Humana’s residential care 
home, all he wanted was to 
get out. But there was another 
boy at the home who ran after 
him and said that everything 
would work out – which it has. 
A year and a half later, Andreas 
is feeling a lot better. He has 
friends and gets good grades  
in school. 

The residential care home Andreas lives 
in is a home for young boys with be-
havioural issues. This is where Andreas 
came when life seemed hopeless. When 
he got the chance to break a destructive 
cycle and was placed in a home far 
from his own home, the choice was 
simple. 
 “It was absolutely the right thing to 
do. I understood that I was headed in 
the wrong direction.”
 That doesn’t mean it was easy. He 
missed his family, who he was very 
close to. He had been accepted into the 
social science programme at school, 
but he did not like school at all. His first 
year at the home was like a long roller 
coaster ride. A new school, new friends 
and, at the same time, a treatment that 
placed tough demands on him to work 
his issues out.
 “It works thanks to the staff,” says 
Andreas. “They mean everything to me. 
It can be a hassle when they make de-
mands on me, but I notice that it gives 
results.”

  Thanks to the treatment, he has 
found a new sense of self. The turmoil 
has lessened, and he is feeling much 
better, has more friends and feels hope 
for the future. School has suddenly 
become a top priority.
  “School has gone from being the 
worst thing I know to the best thing. I 
feel freer there. All my friends know that 
I have a messed-up background without 
knowing all the details, so I get good 
support.” 
 He gets up early every morning so 
he won’t be late and spends more of his 
waking hours in school than at home. 
There, he is just one of the crowd and 
not “someone who lives at a home”. 
Social studies and psychology are 
favourite subjects, but he really excels at 
spoken English.
 “Probably because I’ve played so 
many games online,” he says with a 
smile. 

His nickname among his friends is 
“Google”. He watches a lot of do-
cumentaries and loves facts about 
what’s the largest and smallest, biggest 
and oldest, and more. His future is 
clearly mapped out: depending on his 
grades, his goal is to become a psycho-
logist, social worker or nurse. 
 “But it all depends on where I am in 
three years’ time – a lot can change,” 
he states confidently.
 Today, after a year and a half at the 
home he is something of a big brother. 
He can support others by talking about 
his early days at the home. 
 “It’s nice to mean something to 
someone else.”

The staff mean 
everything to me.
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Personal Assistance
Humana is the leading personal assistance provider in Sweden, with close to 1,900 customers  
across the country. Personal assistance has been in political focus in recent years after the  
Swedish government issued a directive to Försäkringskassan to lower the state’s direct expenditures  
for the reform. Despite ever-tougher market conditions, Humana succeeded well in 2017. 

Thanks to the assistance allowance, many more people can live 
independently. Personal assistance is considered a socioeconomi-
cally successful reform in which most of the costs go back to the 
community in the form of taxes. Today, seven out of ten customers 
choose private companies or cooperatives. In recent years, however, 
public policy and regulatory decisions have negatively impacted the 
industry, its customers and providers. At the end of 2017 there were  
nearly 15,000 people receiving assistance from Försäkringskassan, 
the lowest figure in ten years. Humana anticipates structural chang-
es and market consolidation in the coming years. 

Personal Assistance business area
The Personal Assistance business area employs around 9,000 people. 
Humana has a nationwide regional organisation with around 25 
offices. In 2017, Humana hired several thousand personal assistants 
in Sweden, many of whom are young and first- or second-generation 
Swedes. In our experience, the assistance profession provides impor-
tant entry-level jobs for the labour market.

Personal assistance is normally provided at the client’s home. Our 
clients have a variety of functional impairments and diagnoses, re-
present all ages and are found throughout the country. At Humana, 
it is always the client or close relatives who choose the assistant. For 
each client, an individual plan is created describing how the assis-
tance will be provided. Each client has a team of assistants, where 
one of the assistants is often a supervisor. One or more people in the 
assistant group are often relatives. 

The client also receives the support of a personal team of pro-
fessionals headed by a customer and assistant manager and, when 
needed, a lawyer. Additionally, central support is available for the 
client and the assistants. 

Humana’s Personal Assistance clients continue to be very satisfied 
despite the changes resulting from policy and regulatory decisions. 
Overall results from Humana’s customer surveys indicate the same 
high levels as in previous years. A large percentage of customers report 
that they would consider recommending Humana to their friends. 

Growth in 2017
Revenue in the business area decreased by 1 percent in 2017 to 
SEK 2,621 million (2,645), while operating profit rose to SEK 160 
million (151) for an operating margin of 6.1 percent (5.7). The growth 
in operating profit stems from efficiency improvements that offset the 

increased costs of social security fees for young people, a substantially 
lower upward adjustment of the state reimbursement level than the 
contractual wage increases and fewer assistance hours provided.

The state reimbursement level for 2018 is SEK 295.40 per hour, 
an increase of SEK 4.40 (1.5 percent). For the fifth consecutive year, 
however, the fixed reimbursement level increased substantially less 
than contractual wage increases.

At the end of 2016, Försäkringskassan introduced payment in 
arrears for assistance reimbursement, which adversely affected the 
providers’ liquidity. Försäkringskassan also put additional admi-
nistrative burdens on the providers such as documentation and re-
porting, which has been costly. All providers have been impacted by 
these changes, and many smaller ones have been hit especially hard.

The total number of assistance hours granted by Försäkringskas-
san started to decrease at the end of 2015 and since then has steadily 
decreased. In 2017 the number of individuals with state-granted 
assistance fell by just over five percent, and at the end of the year 
reached the lowest level in ten years. This decrease is attributable to 
the withdrawal of assistance and to the decease of persons entitled 
to assistance. To an even greater extent, the decrease is explained by 
the fact that fewer people were granted assistance. In 2017, roughly 
80 percent of applications for assistance allowance were rejected 
by Försäkringskassan compared to 57 percent three years earlier. 
Two-thirds of those who were denied assistance by Försäkringskas-
san do receive assistance granted by the municipality, but municipal 
assistance decisions have historically meant about a third as many 
assistance hours on average. The total market for personal assistance, 
whether state or municipal, therefore shrunk considerably in 2017.

An ongoing efficiency programme at Humana has helped to off-
set the impact of the cost drivers and of the low upward adjustment 
of the state reimbursement amount.

Outlook
Personal assistance is a cost-effective and economically viable solu-
tion chosen by many individuals with major long-term assistance 
needs. Even though the market trend has been negative in recent 
years, the fact remains that the need for assistance is considerable.

To meet the industry’s major challenges, Humana’s focus rema-
ins on implementation quality in addition to continued streamli-
ning of administrative tasks, for example by using digital solutions.

Operating revenue  
and operating margin1 by year

2017 2016

Operating revenue, SEK M 2,621 2,645

Revenue growth, % -1 -2

Organic growth, % -1 -2

Share of Humana’s revenue, % 40 41

Operating profit, SEK M 160 151

Operating margin, % 6.1 5.7

Average number of employees,  
full-time equivalents

5,097 5,198 Operating revenue    Operating margin, %

Percentage of Group  
revenues 2017 Facts

40 %

 1 Before Group-wide costs
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On his way to the hockey game, 
Sven-Olof, then 54, suddenly 
started to behave strangely. 
He managed to stop the car 
with the help of his wife Lainy 
and then went to Uppsala by 
ambulance. The doctors said 
he would not survive the night. 
But Sven-Olof is a stubborn 
man. Fifteen years later, life 
works well thanks to a personal 
assistant.

Sven-Olof and Lainy have lived in the 
same neighbourhood in Västerås for 
many years. It felt like a secure place 
after their lives were turned upside 
down.
  “The neighbours have really suppor-
ted us,” says Lainy. They help us with 
practical things, and they say hello and 
talk to Sven-Olof.”
 Before the stroke, Sven-Olof worked 
as quality manager at ABB and Flextro-
nics. Colleagues called him “SOS” for 

short. He was the first person you called 
when you had a problem. He often 
came up with solutions and was curious 
and wanted to get involved. There were 
many long days at work and plenty of 
trips all over the world. His curiosity 
remains, but he has almost comple-
tely lost his ability to talk. Instead, he 
communicates by drawing and showing 
photos taken with his mobile phone.
 “He is active and social,” says Anni-
ca, who has been one of his assistants 
for several years now. “He works out a 
few times a week and likes to go listen 
to lunch music, where he meets his old 
colleagues.” 
 He goes to concerts with Lainy.
 “I don’t understand how he does it,” 
adds Lainy. “All the celebrities want to 
talk to Sven-Olof.”
 Sven-Olof laughs and picks up his 
phone. Indeed, there’s picture after 
picture of Sven-Olof together with the 
King and Queen, Jill Johnson, Doug 
Seegers, Magnus Carlsson and others.
 His great interest in technology has 
stayed with him, and he still dreams 

about driving a car himself – a self-dri-
ving car. On his own, he looks up 
interesting articles with the help of 
images, and with Annica’s help he even 
test drove a Tesla in Stockholm. This 
never would have been possible without 
personal assistance. 
 The period right after the stroke 
was difficult for Lainy. It’s easier today, 
although it can still be tough. Not least 
because Sven-Olof was denied half of 
his assistance hours.
 “At first I thought that he wouldn’t 
survive and then I was happy if he just 
moved a finger. That he’d be in as good 
shape as he is today? I’d never have 
believed it. He’s a real fighter.” 
 Sven-Olof primarily uses indepen-
dent assistants outside the family. Sven-
Olof and Lainy agree that it is good for 
them to be apart during part of the day. 
 “Without them, we would not have 
survived,” says Lainy. “I don’t know 
where you find all these angels. Some-
times we get the feeling that you cher-
ry-picked them just for us, and we’re so 
grateful for that.”

Personal Assistance

That he’d be  
in as good shape  
as he is today?  
I’d never have  
believed it.

Sven-Olof
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Elderly Care
Humana’s Elderly Care business area provides housing for the elderly and is run 
under own management and under contract. Humana has developed concepts 
that promote a modern approach to meeting future demands and challenges by 
using welfare technology and innovation in construction. 

The number of operations run under our own management has 
increased gradually, and our future growth strategy is clear. Regard-
less of whether the business is operated under our own management 
or under contract, Humana has a clear focus on quality, and we 
participate in tendering processes that allow for good staffing levels 
and good care for our elderly residents. 

The government has stated that 300 new homes for the elderly 
need to be built by 2025. This translates into approximately 15,000 
new placements – a huge challenge. And this is where private pro-
viders step in to fill a critical role, bringing extensive experience in 
efficiently building new, modern homes for the elderly.

Elderly Care business area
Humana has worked with elderly care since 2010 through the ac-
quisition of Avesina Omsorg. In the autumn of 2017, the home care 
service business was disposed of and operations were reorganised. 
The disposal was part of a decision to focus on residences under our 
own management. At the end of 2017, Humana was operating 14 
homes for the elderly and two day-care operations under contract as 
well as three homes for the elderly under own management. 

Growth in 2017
Revenue fell by 10 percent in 2017 to SEK 521 million
(580). The decrease is attributable to the disposal of the home 
care services operation. However, revenue increased by 12 percent 
organically. Within Humana’s focus area of elderly homes under 
own management, revenue increased during the period compared 
with the previous year. However, operating profit decreased due to 
higher start-up costs for new elderly homes and losses in the now 
disposed of home care business. The result for the period was  
SEK -18 million (-6).

During the year, Humana opened its second and third elderly 
homes under own management. The elderly care home in Växjö 
opened in June, and the home in Åkersberga (north of Stockholm) 

in October. Humana continues to build modern housing with a 
focus on comfort and sustainability, good technical solutions and 
high quality. We believe in welfare technology and have properties 
under our own management featuring award-winning lighting de-
sign that supports people’s daily rhythms, as well as digital solutions 
for increased safety in medication and documentation. There is high 
demand for placements in Humana’s new homes as well as for the 
home in Gävle, which opened in March 2016. Humana began new 
construction on an additional two homes for the elderly under own 
management, one in Staffanstorp in Skåne and one in Kungsängen, 
outside Stockholm. 

Humana also received renewed contracts during the year for run-
ning two homes for the elderly in Jönköping and Vellinge, and at 
the end of the year we began operating Ekbacken Building H under 
contract for Sundbyberg municipality. 

On 1 September 2017, Humana sold its home care business to 
industry colleague Attendo. The reasons for this included the op-
portunity to focus solely on elderly care homes combined with our 
analysis that the home care business requires bigger volumes and a 
denser concentration of customers in the locations where it operates. 

In partnership with other operations at Humana, we engaged 
in an integration project to help newly arrived migrants into work. 
We know from experience that jobs in care can serve as critical 
entry-level jobs on the labour market. Several of the people who 
received internships discovered that they really wanted to work with 
the elderly and started training to become nurses.

Outlook
The proportion of elderly among the population continues to in-
crease, and Humana anticipates continued strong and increasing de-
mand for services from private care providers in elderly care. From 
Humana’s established position as a long-term quality provider, our 
focus will be on activities that help us grow with facilities under our 
own management and on strengthening profitability.

Operating revenue  
and operating margin1 by year

2017 2016

Operating revenue, SEK M 521 580

Revenue growth, % -10 -1

Organic growth, % 12 -1

Share of Humana’s revenue, % 8 9

Operating profit, SEK M -18 -6

Operating margin, % -3.4 -1.1

Average number of employees,  
full-time equivalents

1,028 1,248
 Operating revenue    Operating margin, %

Percentage of Group  
revenues 2017 Facts

8 %

 1 Before Group-wide costs
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Britt likes a lot of action.  
She always has. She turned  
90 recently but is aiming for 99, 
just like her father, who was her 
biggest hero. She has the luxury 
of being able to look back on 
an eventful life, one that inclu-
des being a decorator at H&M’s 
very first store in Stockholm.

It’s hard to get enough of listening to 
Britt. She has plenty of fascinating tales 
to tell, and her stories start as early as 
the Second World War. 
 “It was a horrible time – it wasn’t 
unusual for bodies of dead soldiers to 
float ashore at the coast,” she says with 
disgust. 
 During the war, it was difficult to get 
an education. So instead, she moved 
from Dalsland to Stockholm when the 
war was over. Clothing and fashion 
were early interests for Britt, which 
made the Retail Trade Institute a natural 
choice for her. Her first job was at the 
very first H&M store on Kungsgatan in 
Stockholm, which at the time was called 
Hennes. Owner Erling Persson came by 
and greeted employees every morning, 
and after a few years she found herself 
running her own Hennes store. On top 

of that, she was also a model for their 
clothes. One of the managers commen-
ted that she was just the right size to be 
a model, “but it wasn’t such a big deal 
at the time,” she says, laughing. Many 
wonderful years would pass before a 
husband and child came into the picture.
 “That was every bit as wonderful, 
although something else entirely.” 
 Combining work in the shop with life 
as parent proved to be difficult, and she 
changed direction and began working 
in child care instead.
 “Think how exciting it was, and I 
had no idea. In those days, perceptions 
about children changed – they became 
much more important and we talked a 
lot about relationships with parents.”
 Her main joy in life has been her 
family – her daughters and the husband 
she shared 57 fine years with.

 Summers were spent at lake Vänern 
in Dalsland, and they lived ten years in 
Stockholm’s archipelago before moving 
into town again. 
 Moving to a nursing home was not a 
sure thing, of course, but she felt more 
and more lonely in her house until it 
finally became necessary to move. She 
has not regretted that decision.
 “It’s bright, you’re greeted with a 
smile from the staff, and you don’t need 
to hoover if you don’t feel like it because 
someone else does it. And there’s good 
company at mealtime, with so many dif-
ferent stories to tell,” she says, laughing 
again. 
 “If you go around despairing about 
the little things, then that’s not good. I’m 
going to keep on living – that’s what my 
daughters and I have decided.”

Britt

Elderly Care

I’m going to  
keep on living  

– that’s what my 
daughters and I 
have decided. 
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Other Nordics
Humana’s Other Nordics business area is already an integral part of the Group’s business,  
and we see good opportunities to continue developing the operations. The political climate for  
private care companies varies in the Nordic region and is much more welcoming in Finland  
than in Norway, which is a challenging market to some extent.

Norway
In Norway, Humana operates individual and family care for child-
ren and young people and provides special services housing and 
personal assistance. Humana is one of the few providers available 
through customer choice that has also been authorised to deliver 
psychosocial and psychiatric services for adults, including quali-
fied addiction treatment. After the integration with KOA in 2017, 
Humana is the second largest provider of services in individual and 
family care in Norway.

Growth potential
The total Norwegian market for care was SEK 142 billion in 
2016. The market is challenging for private providers since public 
and non-profit providers have priority in the tendering process. 
However, the low degree of privatisation at 12 percent opens for 
future opportunities in the market. 

Like the Swedish market, the Norwegian market is also frag-
mented. Free choice of treatment has been established for substance 
abuse and psychiatric treatment in specialised health services and in 
several municipalities in special services housing as well. This is ma-
king a positive contribution to the development of the care industry, 
in which quality from the individual’s perspective remains in focus. 
The market for personal assistance is still relatively undeveloped, 
but more and more municipalities offer services through customer 
choice. The total need for more complex care and healthcare ison 
the rise in Norway as in the rest of the Nordic countries.

Finland
The total market for care in Finland was approximately SEK 89 
billion in 2016. Sweden and Finland are the countries that resemble 
each other the most in terms of care organisation and the alternative 
providers’ share of the market. They also have similar requirements 
for procurement procedures and incentives for freedom of choice.

Humana’s operations in Finland have been part of the Group sin-
ce May 2016. Our goal is to continue building our position as the 
leading provider in individual and family care for children and ado-
lescents in Finland. During the year Humana entered new segments 
with the acquisition of NSS (Nordic Senior Services) and can now 
also offer elderly housing and group homes. Humana’s continued 
focus is on delivering care under its own management in psychiatric 
and psychosocial treatment for children, adolescents and families.

Construction on several units has begun as part of our continued 
organic growth. Arjessa and Humana have also continued to merge 

their visual identities, processes and systems. At the end of the year, 
a decision was taken to use Arjessa’s selected systems for people 
management throughout the Humana Group.

Growth, Other Nordics 2017
In Norway, the year has been marked by the conversion of units 
from migration-related services to more complex service content. 
This has affected growth and profitability, and thus the entire Other 
Nordics business area. Our focus in Norway has been on integra-
ting the 2016 acquisition of KOA with Humana’s existing opera-
tions. Streamlining efforts in the second half of 2017 are intended 
to increase profitability and improve control.

Developments in Finland were positive during the year. Humana 
has invested in growth, opening several new units and acquiring 
two companies, Ryhmäkoti Raide Oy and Nordic Senior Servi-
ce Oy. Finland is a priority market for Humana and is thought to 
be very interesting for future growth initiatives. 

Humana’s operations in Other Nordics totalled SEK 1,188 
million, an increase of 29 percent. Weaker developments in the 
Norwegian business account for its lower operating results, down 
from SEK 89 million to SEK 62 million. Operations in Finland 
have developed very well, with growth in both revenue and profit. 
The operating margin for the business area was 5.2 percent (9.6).

Outlook, Other Nordics
The underlying need for care is increasing steadily in Norway, and 
Humana intends to participate in the Norwegian care market’s de-
velopment and consolidation. Humana is taking continuous action 
to spread best practices across national borders to build an even 
stronger care offering. By continuing to drive improvements in the 
Norwegian organisation, we are laying the foundation for increased 
profitability and future growth through our extensive offering of 
care services and strong geographical presence.

In Finland, the SOTE reform is now underway. It is the biggest 
social policy reform in Europe since the Second World War. The 
legislative change is scheduled to be introduced in stages starting in 
the summer of 2018. Humana welcomes this development with its 
focus on the quality of care. 

In Finland, the need for more complex care and healthcare is 
on the rise. Our ambition is to continue developing the platform 
Humana has established in the Finnish care market. We want to ex-
pand through organic growth but also through further acquisitions 
that will complement our business in a sustainable way.
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Operating revenue  
and operating margin1 by year

2017 2016

Operating revenue, SEK M 1,188 924

Revenue growth, % 29 122

Organic growth, % -5 7

Share of Humana’s revenue, % 18 15

Operating profit, SEK M 62 89

Operating margin, % 5.2 9.6

Average number of employees,  
full-time equivalents

1,372 920 Operating revenue    Operating margin, %

Percentage of Group  
revenues 2017

Facts

18 %

 1 Before Group-wide costs
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Other Nordics

Emil receives personal assis-
tance 24 hours a day, all year 
round, and is therefore comple-
tely dependent on his personal 
assistants. Even though he has 
a functional impairment, he 
can be a supervisor along with 
his mother Mona. But talking 
is something the assistants are 
better at, so they can do all the 
talking, Emil says with his infec-
tious laugh.

Emil suffered physical and cognitive 
functional impairments following an 
accident. But thanks to personal assis-
tance, he can still live a good life. He 
himself is a supervisor, together with 
his mother. They create schedules, plan 
courses, recruit and staff using tools 
from Humana.
 Despite his functional impairment, 
Emil has the same need to live life and 
have fun as all other young people. Yet 
he has a greater need than others for 
routines, and he needs encouragement 
and support for his rehabilitation.
 Given Emil’s substantial need for 
assistance, permanent employees play 

a crucial role. This motivates Mona and 
Emil to find new assistants themselves 
and guide them.
 “It’s quite an undertaking to manage 
such a large workforce, but at the same 
time it’s wonderful. Any other alternati-
ves would fall short,” says Mona. 
 Thanks to the assistance, Emil gets 
to live as normal a life as possible. He 

is out and about every day and goes 
to cafés, pubs or the movies, and he 
socialises with friends when he wants 
to. None of this would be possible if he 
lived in an institution.
 “We are grateful for the rights and 
opportunities we have thanks to the 
assistance reform. Without it, our lives 
would have been completely different.”

Emil

Sina is just 12 years old but  
has experienced horrors that 
we do not wish on anyone. As 
a boy of ten, he left Afghanistan 
to embark on a journey that 
was as dangerous as it was 
necessary. After a long detour 
through Central Europe,  
where all his friends remained, 
he came to Finland. Today he 
enjoys living at a residential 
care home in Seinäjoki. 

Sina lives in a home for unaccompanied 
refugee minors in Seinäjoki, together 
with 13 other young people. All of them 
have received a residence permit, and 
those who live there have become the 
family that he misses. At the home, 
there is staff on site 24 hours a day 
providing the support they need. 
 During his early days in Finland, Sina 
couldn’t believe it was true that he could 
feel safe – everything went so fast that 

it must have been a dream. Learning a 
new language was the biggest chal-
lenge, but even if he did not understand 
the staff, he was thriving. 
 “The best thing about the home is 
that I feel safe here,” says Sina with  
a broad smile. “The other people  
who live here are like my brothers.”
 Being active is also important  
to his well-being. School is an  
integral part of everyday life,  
but just as important is keeping  
active in his free time. Sina loves  
football and plays for a team  
in Seinäjoki, where he has made  
plenty of new friends. Things are going 
well, and he has received several 
awards as the most valuable player. He 
has already mapped out his plans.
 “I’m going to become a professional 
football player or a doctor.”
 He clearly has the support of a large 
network of people. Sina has two private 
support assistants, plus his friends on 
the football team, school friends, foot-
ball coach, teachers and others. Simply 

The best  
thing about the  
home is that I 
feel safe here.

put, he has a pretty good life. He wants 
to learn more about Finnish culture, and 
he has even learnt some Swedish. 
 “I’m part of Finland, Seinäjoki and 
the family home.”

Humana Annual Report 2017 | 37



3.8 times 
net debt/adjusted  
EBITDA 2017

2016: 3.9 times

SEK 184 M
operating cash flow 2017

2016: SEK -134 M

57%
women on the Board

2016: 38%

equity/assets ratio 
2017
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Legal annual report 
Humana is a leading Nordic care company with operations in Sweden,  
Norway and Finland. The company provides care services in several areas,  
including individual and family care, personal assistance, elderly care and 
special services housing pursuant to the LSS Act. Humana has more than 
14,000 employees who work every day towards a shared vision  
– Everyone is entitled to a good life.
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Q1 January – March 
•   In January 2017, Humana acquired Skellefteå Stöd & Behandling AB, 

strengthening its presence in individual and family care in Norrland. 
The focus area is boys aged 14-18 with psychosocial and neuropsychi-
atric problems (ADHD).  
The company’s annual revenue is SEK 12 million.

•   An agreement was signed to establish Humana’s fourth elderly housing 
unit under own management. The unit, located in Staffanstorp in south-
ern Sweden, is scheduled to open in early 2019. 

Q2 April – June 
•   To concentrate Elderly Care operations on elderly housing under own 

management, it was decided to sell the home care services business 
to Attendo. The annual divested revenue was approximately SEK 250 
million. 

•   Humana sold 16 properties in Sweden under a sale & leaseback ar-
rangement with Hemfosa. The net cash effect was SEK 128 million and 
a capital gain of SEK 14 million was generated. 

•   Humana’s second elderly housing unit under own management was 
opened in Växjö. 

•   The 2017 Annual General Meeting adopted a dividend of SEK 0.50 per 
share for the 2016 financial year, corresponding to approximately SEK 
27 million. 

•   Humana won several elderly care tenders during the quarter, including 
the elderly housing units in Åsgården in Stockholm and Kavlagården in 
Jönköping. 

Q3 July – September 
•   An agreement was signed to establish Humana’s fifth elderly housing 

unit under own management in Kungsängen outside Stockholm. The 
unit is scheduled to open in 2019. 

•   Humana acquired Nordic Senior Services Oy in Finland. The acquisition 
enabled Humana to expand its offering in Finland to include elderly 
care and LSS. The company’s revenue for 2016 was approximately SEK 
69 million.

•   A new three-year collective agreement was signed for personal assis-
tance operations in Sweden. The agreement provided a salary increase 
of 2.2%, valid from 1 October 2017 until October 2018. The increase 
will be 2.0% from October 2018 onwards. 

•   The Swedish government’s budget proposal was announced, with a 
proposed increase of 1.5% (previously 1%) in the 2018 personal assis-
tance state reimbursement level to SEK 295.40 per hour.

•   Humana was named winner of the prestigious Svenska Ljuspris lighting 
award for the innovative lighting solutions at its first elderly housing unit 
in Gävle. 

Q4 October – December 
•   Humana’s third elderly housing unit under own management was 

opened in Åkersberga outside Stockholm. 
•   Humana acquired Ryhmäkoti Raide Oy in Finland, strengthening its 

existing position in the children and adolescents area and expanding its 
offering in individual and family care. The company’s revenue for 2016 
was SEK 7 million. 

•   Humana won the prestigious 2017 Allbright Award for its diversity and 
equality work. 

•   An in-depth analysis of the National Board of Health and Welfare’s 
open comparisons showed that Humana’s elderly housing units achieve 
significantly better results than the national level.

Key ratios by quarter
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Operating revenue, SEK million 1,649 1,678 1,614 1,616

Revenue growth 2017 vs. 2016, % 12 9 -4 -4

Organic revenue growth, % -2 -1 -4 -2

Operating profit, SEK million 66 74 110 66

Operating margin, % 4.0 4.4 6.8 4.1

Average number of customers 8,884 8,987 8,218 7,176*

Average number of full-time employees 10,046 10,079 10,440 9,445*

*The decline in the average number of customers and full-time employees, particularly in Q4, is 
largely due to the disposal of the home care services business.

Important events in 2017

  Humana leaves 2017 as a 
stronger and better company. As a 
major provider in the Nordic welfare 
market, we focus on continuing to 
grow and create value.”
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Humana AB, corporate identity number 556760-8475. The Board of Directors  
and CEO of Humana AB, registered office in Stockholm, hereby present the  
annual report and consolidated accounts for the 2017 financial year.

Operations 
Humana is a leading care company in the Nordic region. The Com-
pany’s vision “Everyone is entitled to a good life” permeates the entire 
business. Humana has approximately 14,000 employees, providing 
services in the areas of individual and family care, personal assistance 
and elderly care, and special service housing pursuant to the LSS Act. 
Since its establishment in 2001, Humana has grown from a company 
providing high-quality services purely within personal assistance to 
its current market-leading position in individual and family care and 
personal assistance in Sweden. In Finland and Norway, Humana is 
the second-largest provider of services in individual and family care. 
In addition, Humana also offers some elderly care units in Finland 
and personal assistance in Norway. Humana’s strategy is to provide 
operations in the care sector which are run under own management. 
Humana’s employees work every day to help give more than 7,000 
customers and clients a better life. 

Market
Humana is active in all segments of the Swedish care market, and in 
the individual and family care and personal assistance segments in 
Norway. In Finland, Humana is a leader in the individual and family 
care segment, but also conducts some smaller special services housing 
and elderly care operations. 

Operating revenue and operating profit 
Group
The Group’s operating revenue was SEK 6,557 (6,362) million, an 
increase of 3 percent from 2016, but below the Group’s medium-term 
target of annual revenue growth of 8-10 percent. Operations under 
own management accounted for 95 percent of revenue at the end of 
2017. Revenue declined by 1.3 percent organically. The decline was 
attributable to lower capacity utilisation in some areas of Individual & 
Family, reorganisation of a number of units and start-ups of new units 
in Norway that do not yet have satisfactory capacity utilisation. The 
disposal of Humana’s home care services business also had a negative 
impact on revenue during the year. 

Operating profit for 2017 declined to SEK 316 (329 plus IPO 
costs of 40) million, corresponding to an operating margin of 4.8 
(5.2) percent. The figure included a capital gain of SEK 14 million on 
property sales and a capital loss of SEK -14 million on the sale of the 
home care services business. Adjusted operating profit amounted to 
SEK 316 (369) million. This meant that the adjusted operating mar-
gin and the operating margin for the full year were the same, 4.8 (5.8) 
percent, which is slightly below Humana’s medium-term profitability 
target of an operating margin of approximately 6 percent. Acquired 
companies contributed SEK 66 million to operating profit. The de-
cline in operating profit for the year was mainly due to weak develop-
ments in the Norwegian market, with lower capacity utilisation than 
in the previous year, and costs associated with the unit reorganisation 
and start-ups of new units. Slightly lower capacity utilisation in the 
children and adolescents area within the Individual & Family business 
area was also a contributory factor. 

Depreciation increased to SEK 60 (50) million. The increase was 
due to depreciation in acquired companies and increased investments. 
EBITDA amounted to SEK 376 (379) million, corresponding to an 
EBITDA margin of 5.7 (6.0) percent. 

Individual & Family
Revenue was SEK 2,212 (2,214) million, which is in line with the 
previous year. Acquisitions contributed SEK 80 million to revenue. 
The organic decline in the business area was 2.8 percent and was 
mainly due to lower capacity utilisation in area children and adoles-
cents in segment Individual & Family. Operating profit was SEK 191 
(211) million, corresponding to an operating margin of 8.6 (9.5) 
percent. The decline in operating profit for the period was largely 
due to lower capacity utilisation in the children and adolescents area 
and costs related to reorganisation and cost-efficiency measures in the 
business area. Acquisitions contributed SEK 18 million to operating 
profit for the year. Humana continued to expand during the year, 
both organically and through acquisitions. Investments were made in 
eight new unit start-ups in 2017. Humana also made a minor acquisi-
tion: Skellefteå Stöd & Behandling AB. 

Personal Assistance
Revenue for the year declined by 1 percent to SEK 2,621 (2,645) mil-
lion. This was better than the market, which fell by 5 percent in terms 
of the number of users. An increase of 1.0 percent in the state reim-
bursement level from the previous year contributed to the revenue.  
However, the number of customers and delivered assistance hours 
continued to decline during the year as a result of Försäkringskassan’s 
restrictive application of current regulations. 

Operating profit increased to SEK 160 (151) million. The effi-
ciency programme conducted during the year helped to align costs 
with changing market conditions. There were no acquisitions in the 
business area during the year. 

Elderly Care 
Revenue for the Elderly Care business area declined by 10 percent 
to SEK 521 (580) million during the year. Revenue increased by 12 
percent organically. The disposal of the home care service business on 
1 September 2017 resulted in a decline in revenue compared with the 
previous year. The home care service business contributed SEK 178 
million to revenue in 2017 (SEK 274 million in the previous year). 
Revenue was positively affected by the establishment of three elderly 
housing units under own management. 

Operating profit fell to SEK -18 (-6) million during the year. The 
decline in operating profit for the year was due to losses of SEK -7 
(-5) million in the divested home care service business and start-up 
costs for new elderly housing units. There were no acquisitions in the 
business area during 2017. The elderly care market in Sweden is in-
creasing in the face of an ageing population. To meet market demand, 
construction of another two elderly housing units under own manage-
ment is in progress in Staffanstorp in southern Sweden and Kungsän-
gen outside Stockholm. The units are scheduled to open in 2019. 
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Other Nordics 
Revenue from Humana’s operations in Finland and Norway in 2017 
amounted to SEK 1,188 (924) million, an increase of 29 percent. Ac-
quisitions contributed SEK 743 million to revenue. Operating profit 
for the year declined to SEK 62 (89) million, corresponding to an 
operating margin of 5.2 (9.6) percent. Acquisitions contributed SEK 
48 million to operating profit. The decline was due to lower capacity 
utilisation and increased costs related to the year’s reorganisation 
work in the Norwegian operations. Costs related to start-ups of new 
units, both in Finland and Norway, which are not yet contributing 
to revenue also affected the business area’s profitability. The Finnish 
operations are showing high revenue growth and good profitability. 
Humana completed two acquisitions in the business area during 
the year: Nordic Senior Services Oy, acquired in August 2017, and 
Ryhmäkoti Raide Oy, acquired in October 2017. 

Acquisitions/disposals during the year 
Acquisitions
Humana is a growth company in the care sector. The goal is for oper-
ations to grow through a combination of organic growth, i.e., by the 
Company’s own efforts, and growth through acquisitions. Humana 
is still active in the ongoing market consolidation, but the focus on 
unit reorganisation, internal efficiency and profitability improvement 
during the year has resulted in fewer acquisitions than in previous 
years. Humana is constantly searching out and evaluating attractive 
acquisition candidates that fit into the Company’s strategy. Humana 
has three primary aims in its acquisition strategy:
•  to achieve volume and economies of scale 
•  to strengthen existing operations, geographical presence and/or 

specialisation in the offering 
•  to complement existing operations with new service areas where 

Humana sees growth potential and which can help create a broader 
service offering. 

Humana has completed 17 acquisitions in the last three years. In 
2017, Humana acquired three companies: 
•  January 2017 Skellefteå Stöd & Behandling AB (Individual & Family) 

Skellefteå Stöd & Behandling AB runs the Fyren assisted living 
home and Lotsen residential care home in northern Sweden. The 

target group is boys ages 14–18 with psychosocial and neuropsychi-
atric problems (ADHD). The company’s annual revenue is approxi-
mately SEK 12 million.

•  August 2017 Nordic Senior Services Oy (Other Nordics) With the 
acquisition of Nordic Senior Services Oy in Finland, Humana 
strengthened its geographical presence in Finland while also expand-
ing into new care segments: elderly care, psychosocial care for adults 
and LSS. The company’s annual revenue is SEK 69 million.

•  October 2017 Ryhmäkoti Raide Oy (Other Nordics) The acquisition 
strengthened Humana’s existing position in area children and ado-
lescents and expanded its offering in individual and family care. The 
company’s annual revenue is SEK 7 million. 

The total purchase consideration, including contingent consideration, 
for the year’s three acquisitions was SEK 43 million. The three acqui-
sitions contributed SEK 44 million to Humana’s revenue in 2017 and 
SEK 6 million to operating profit. If the acquisitions had been con-
ducted on 1 January 2017, Humana’s revenue would have increased 
by SEK 48 million to SEK 6,604 million and operating profit by SEK 
1 million to SEK 317 million. 

Disposals
•  Humana’s home care service business was transferred to Attendo in 

the third quarter in order to focus on harnessing the market’s oppor-
tunities for growth by establishing elderly housing under own man-
agement and to improve efficiency and profitability in Humana’s 
elderly care operations. The home care service business generated a 
capital loss on disposal of SEK 14 million. Revenue for the year was 
about SEK 178 million with an operating loss of SEK -7 million. 

•  To enable further investments in Nordic care and strengthen the 
Group’s balance sheet, some of the property portfolio in Sweden was 
sold to Hemfosa Fastigheter during the year. The net cash impact 
from the 16 properties sold under a sale and leaseback arrangement 
was SEK 128 million, with a capital gain of SEK 14 million. 

Key ratios by segment
Individual & Family Personal Assistance Elderly Care Other Nordics

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Operating revenue, SEK million 2,212 2,214 2,621 2,645 521 580 1,188 924

Organic revenue growth, % -2.8 4.4 -0.9 -1.6 12.2 -1.0 -5.4 7.0

Operating profit, SEK million 191 211 160 151 -18 -6 62 89

Operating margin, % 8.6 9.5 6.1 5.7 -3.4 -1.1 5.2 9.6

Average number of customers/clients 2,064 2,165 1,866 1,904 1,946 3,006 2,441 1,286

Average number of full-time employees 2,483 2,528 5,097 5,198 1,028 1,248 1,372 920

Operating revenue by country
SEK millions 2017 2016
Sweden 5,368 5,438

Finland 523 227

Norway 666 697

Total operating revenue 6,557 6,362

Operating revenue by segment 
SEK millions 2017 2016
Individual & Family 2,212 2,214

Personal Assistance 2,621 2,645

Elderly Care 521 580

Other Nordics 1,188 924

Other 14 -

Total operating revenue 6,557 6,362
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Consolidated income statements 

SEK millions (excl. earnings per share) Note 2017 2016
Operating revenue

Net revenue G3 6,542 6,362

Other operating revenue G4 14 -

Total revenue 6,557 6,362

Operating expenses

Other external expenses G6, G8 -1,016 -963

Personnel costs G7 -5,145 -4,964

Depreciation/amortisation of assets G13-14 -60 -50

Other operating expenses G4 -19 -57

Operating profit G3 316 329

Finance income G9 4 11

Finance expenses G9 -79 -140

Unrealised changes in value of derivatives G9 9 27

Profit before tax 250 228

Tax G10 -57 -58

Profit for the year 194 170

Attributable to:

Parent Company shareholders 194 170

Earnings per ordinary share, basic and diluted, SEK G11 3.64 2.87

Operating revenue and growth, 
Group
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Consolidated statements  
of comprehensive income

SEK millions Note 2017 2016
Profit for the year 194 170

Other comprehensive income

Items that have been/may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operation -4 15

Total other comprehensive income -4 15

Comprehensive income for the year 190 185

Attributable to:

Parent Company shareholders 190 185
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Net financial items 
Net financial items improved during the year, as a result of lower 
interest expenses and lower debt. The Group’s net financial items for 
the year amounted to SEK -75 million (SEK -129 million, including 
recognised financing costs of SEK 42 million, previously capitalised). 
The effect of unrealised changes in the value of derivatives was SEK 9 
(27) million. 

Profit before tax 
Profit before tax was SEK 250 (228) million, an increase of SEK 
22 million, corresponding to a profit margin before tax of 3.8 (3.6) 
percent.

Tax 
Reported tax was SEK -57 (-58) million, corresponding to an effective 
tax rate of 22.6 (25.5) percent.

Profit for the year and earnings per share 
Profit after tax for 2017 was SEK 194 (170) million, an increase of 
SEK 24 million compared with the previous year. Basic and dilut-
ed earnings per ordinary share for the year amounted to SEK 3.64 
(2.87). 

Balance sheet 
Humana’s total assets were SEK 5,060 (4,960) million at the end of 
2017, an increase of 2 percent from 2016. 

Non-current assets
The Group’s non-current assets increased slightly to SEK 3,535 
(3,514) million during the year. The increase is due to acquisitions. 
Goodwill of SEK 3,104 (3,089) million was the largest item in the 
category at 88 percent. The balance sheet also includes other intangi-
ble assets, comprising systems and licences, and property, plant and 
equipment, which also includes finance leases (leased cars). 

Current assets
The largest item under current assets is cash and cash equivalents, 
which increased to SEK 584 (465) million during the year. Trade re-
ceivables declined to SEK 489 (523) million during the year. The item 
prepaid expenses and accrued income includes receivables of SEK 352 
(346) million from Försäkringskassan in the form of accrued income 
for assistance provided. 

Financing 
Humana has a loan agreement of SEK 2,150 million. The credit facili-
ty includes a bank overdraft facility of SEK 200 (200) million, which 
was fully utilised at 31 December 2017. The annual interest rate for 
the credit facilities is approximately 2.5 percent, most of which is 
variable. The loan agreement runs until 2021 and has two associated 
covenants: net debt/EBITDA and interest coverage ratio. 

Equity was SEK 1,891 (1,726) million. The equity/assets ratio was 
37.4 (34.8) percent. The Group’s interest-bearing net debt was SEK 
1,440 (1,628) million at the end of the year, a decline of 12 percent. 
The net debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio was 3.8 (3.9) times, which 
exceeded the Group’s target for a ratio below 3.0 times. However, 
Humana’s target for the Company’s capital structure allows debt to 
temporarily exceed the target level of 3.0 times. 

Financial position

SEK millions
31 Dec 

2017
31 Dec 

2016
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 1,345 1,405

Current interest-bearing liabilities 680 687

Cash and cash equivalents -584 -465

Interest-bearing net debt 1,440 1,628

Equity/assets ratio, % 37.4 34.8

Interest-bearing net debt/adjusted EBITDA 
12 months, times 3.8x 3.9x

Capital structure 
SEK millions 2017 2016
Total assets 5,060 4,960

Capital employed 3,915 3,818

Equity 1,891 1,726

Interest-bearing net debt 1,440 1,628

Cash flow
The Group’s cash flow from operating activities was SEK 376 (379) 
million. Cash flow from operating activities includes acquisition costs 
of SEK 4 (16) million. 

Change in working capital
The change in working capital in 2017 was SEK -41 (-372) million. 
The change from payment in advance to payment in arrears in the 
area of personal assistance, introduced in October 2016, had an 
impact of approximately SEK 300 million on working capital in the 
fourth quarter. 

Cash flow from investing activities 
Cash flow from investing activities increased to SEK -60 (-616) 
million. The increase is mainly due to fewer and smaller acquisitions 
compared with the previous year and the divestment of a property 
portfolio, which had a positive net effect of SEK 133 million on 
cash flow The year’s acquisitions including settlement of additional 
consideration for acquisitions in previous years amounted to SEK -42 
(-474) million. Investments in other non-current assets amounted to 
SEK -151 (-142) million. 

Financing activities 
New loans of SEK 7 (1,969) million were taken out during the year. 
The Group’s repayment of interest-bearing liabilities had an effect of 
SEK -56 (-1,678) million on cash flow. A dividend of SEK 0.50 per 
share was paid for the 2016 financial year, corresponding to approx-
imately SEK 27 million or 15 percent of profit for 2016. Cash flow 
from financing activities was SEK -75 (733) million.
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Consolidated balance sheet

SEK millions Note 31/12/2017 31/12/2016
ASSETS

Non-current assets

Goodwill G5, G12 3,104 3,089

Other intangible assets G13 10 13

Property, plant and equipment G14 413 405

Financial assets 8 6

Total non-current assets 3,535 3,514

Current assets

Current receivables

Trade receivables G15 489 523

Tax receivables 21 51

Other receivables 7 6

Prepaid expenses and accrued income G16 423 401

Total current receivables 941 981

Cash and cash equivalents G17 584 465

Total current assets 1,525 1,446

TOTAL ASSETS 5,060 4,960

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity G18

Share capital 1 1

Other paid-in capital 1,092 1,091

Translation reserve 4 8

Retained earnings, including profit for the year 793 626

Total equity attributable to Parent Company shareholders 1,891 1,726

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities G19 1,345 1,405

Deferred tax liability G10 73 78

Total non-current liabilities 1,417 1,484

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities G19 680 677

Derivatives G21 1 10

Trade payables 93 103

Other current liabilities 256 262

Accrued expenses and deferred income G20 722 698

Total current liabilities 1,752 1,750

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 5,060 4,960
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity 

Equity attributable to Parent Company shareholders

SEK millions Note Share capital
Other  

paid-in capital
Translation 

reserve

Retained earn-
ings, including 

profit for the year Total equity
G18

Opening equity, 1 Jan 2016 1 642 -7 457 1,093

Owner transactions

New share issue 0 450 - - 450

Listing expenses - -8 - - -8

Tax on listing expenses - 2 - - 2

Warrant issue - 5 - - 5

Total owner transactions 0 448 - - 448

Profit for the year - - - 170 170

Other comprehensive income - - 15 - 15

Comprehensive income for the year - - 15 170 185

Closing equity, 31 Dec 2016 1 1,091 8 626 1,726

Opening equity, 1 Jan 2017 1 1,091 8 626 1,726

Owner transactions

Dividend - - - -27 -27

Share savings programme - 2 - - 2

Total owner transactions - 2 - -27 -25

Profit for the year - - - 194 194

Other comprehensive income - - -4 - -4

Comprehensive income for the year - - -4 194 190

Closing equity, 31 Dec 2017 1 1,092 4 793 1,891
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Reconciliation of liabilities attributable to financing activities – Group 
Non-cash movements

 

Closing  
balance 

2016 Cash flows

Acquisitions/
disposals of 
subsidiaries

Exchange 
differences

Fair value 
remeasurement

Closing  
balance  

2017
Overdraft facilities 200 - - - - 200

Bank loans 1,806 -50 - 4 - 1,760

Total liabilities attributable to financing activities 2,006 -50 - 4 - 1,960

Investments 
SEK millions 2017 2016
Acquisition of operations, net cash impact -42 -474

Disposal of operations, net cash impact 133 -

Investments in other non-current assets, net -151 -142

Total investments -60 -616

Consolidated statements of cash flows 

SEK millions Note 2017 2016
Cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax 250 228

Adjustments for:

Depreciation/amortisation and impairment 60 50

Finance income -4 -11

Finance expenses 79 139

Unrealised changes in value of derivatives -9 -27

Capital gain/loss G4 0 -

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 376 379

Changes:

Decrease (+)/increase (-) in trade receivables 34 2

Decrease (+)/increase (-) in other operating receivables -91 -363

Decrease (-)/increase (+) in other operating liabilities 27 -16

Decrease (-)/increase (+) in trade payables -11 6

Cash flow from operating activities 335 8

Interest received 0 0

Interest paid -64 -99

Tax paid -30 -70

Net cash flow from operating activities 241 -161

Investing activities:

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net cash impact G5 -42 -474

Disposal of subsidiaries, net cash impact G4 133 -

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 0 1

Investments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment -151 -143

Cash flow from investing activities -60 -616

Financing activities:

Loans raised G21 7 1,969

Repayment of loans G21 -56 -1,678

Dividend paid -27 -

New share issue - 442*

Cash flow from financing activities -75 733

Cash flow for the year 106 -44

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year G17 465 501

Exchange differences 13 8

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year G17 584 465

*Includes transaction costs of SEK -8 million.
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Multi-year overview 

Quarterly overview

SEK millions 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Condensed consolidated income statements 

Operating revenue 6,557 6,362 5,655 5,065 3,489

Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment (EBITDA) 376 379 394 339 231

Operating profit (EBIT) 316 329 312 307 218

Profit before tax 250 228 149 156 216

Profit for the year (attributable to Parent Company shareholders) 194 170 114 115 179

Condensed consolidated balance sheet

Assets

Goodwill 3,104 3,089 2,584 2,565 1,436

Other non-current assets 432 424 213 305 144

Current assets 1,525 1,446 1,040 790 616

Total assets 5,060 4,960 3,838 3,660 2,196

Condensed equity and liabilities

Equity 1,891 1,726 1,093 986 853

Non-current liabilities 1,417 1,484 1,616 1,710 585

Current liabilities 1,752 1,750 1,129 963 758

Total equity and liabilities 5,060 4,960 3,838 3,660 2,196

Condensed consolidated statements of cash flows

Net cash flow from operating activities 241 -161 274 156 196

Cash flow from investing activities -60 -616 78 -868 -158

Cash flow from financing activities -75 733 -93 668 57

Cash flow for the year 106 -44 258 -45 95
 

2017 2016

SEK millions Full year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Full year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Operating revenue by segment

Individual & Family 2,212 553 569 537 553 2,214 549 552 553 560

Personal Assistance 2,621 648 652 667 653 2,645 666 656 671 651

Elderly Care 521 154 148 128 92 580 143 144 145 147

Other Nordics 1,188 293 294 282 319 924 113 182 307 322

Other 14 - 14 - - - - - - -

Operating revenue 6,557 1,649 1,678 1,614 1,616 6,362 1,471 1,534 1,676 1,681

Operating profit by segment

Individual & Family 191 37 40 70 44 211 55 43 79 34

Personal Assistance 160 36 29 49 46 151 38 35 43 34

Elderly Care -18 -2 -6 -1 -8 -6 -5 -5 6 -2

Other Nordics 62 13 16 26 7 89 4 18 44 23

Other -79 -18 -5 -33 -22 -115 -51 -34 -13 -16

Operating profit 316 66 74 110 66 329 41 56 159 73

Operating margin by segment

Individual & Family, % 8.6 6.7 7.1 13.0 7.9 9.5 10.1 7.7 14.3 6.1

Personal Assistance, % 6.1 5.6 4.4 7.4 7.0 5.7 5.8 5.4 6.4 5.2

Elderly Care, % -3.4 -1.6 -4.0 -1.1 -8.7 -1.1 -3.8 -3.6 4.4 -1.5

Other Nordics, % 5.2 4.4 5.4 9.3 2.2 9.6 3.9 9.7 14.2 7.3

Operating margin, % 4.8 4.0 4.4 6.8 4.1 5.2 2.8 3.7 9.5 4.3
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Key ratios

SEK millions 2017 2016
Operating revenue 6,557 6,362

Profit measures

Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment (EBITDA) 376 379

Operating profit (EBIT) 316 329

Profit for the year 194 170

Earnings per ordinary share, SEK 3.64 2.87

Margin measures

Operating margin before depreciation, amortisation and impairment (EBITDA), % 5.7 6.0

Operating margin (EBIT), % 4.8 5.2

Capital structure

Equity/assets ratio, % 37.4 34.8

Return on capital employed, % 8.2 8.9

Interest-bearing net debt 1,440 1,628

Interest-bearing net debt/adjusted EBITDA, times 3.8 3.9

Operating cash flow 184 -134

Per-share data

Number of ordinary shares at end of year 53,140,064 53,140,064

Operating cash flow per share, SEK 3.5 -2.5

Other

Number of full-time employees at end of year 9,503 10,091

Average number of customers 8,316 8,361

Parent Company income statements

Parent Company
The Parent Company’s registered office is in Stockholm. The Parent Company’s main business consists of 
managing shares in subsidiaries. The Parent Company’s expenses include expenses for the CEO and Board 
and costs for the Group’s financing. Profit for the year was SEK 64 (54) million. The Parent Company’s 
equity/assets ratio was 44.5 (43.6) percent. 
   

SEK millions Note 2017 2016
Operating revenue 

Operating revenue P1 5 5

Operating expenses

Other external expenses P1, P2 -12 -9

Personnel costs G7 -6 -5

Other operating expenses - -40

Operating profit/loss -13 -48

Profit/loss from financial items

Interest income 0 -

Interest expenses -46 -36

Profit/loss before tax and appropriations -59 -84

Appropriations

Group contributions received 150 155

Change in tax allocation reserve P4 -8 -1

Profit/loss before tax 82 69

Tax -18 -15

Profit for the year and comprehensive income for the year 64 54
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Parent Company balance sheet 

SEK millions Note 31/12/2017 31/12/2016
ASSETS

Non-current assets

Financial assets

Shares in subsidiaries P3 1,625 1,623

Total non-current assets 1,625 1,623

Current assets

Current receivables

Receivables from Group companies 1,904 1,890

Tax receivables - 0

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 2 -

Total current receivables 1,905 1,890

Cash and bank balances 0 0

Total current assets 1,905 1,890

TOTAL ASSETS 3,530 3,513

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Restricted equity

Share capital G18 1 1

Unrestricted equity

Share premium reserve 1,092 1,090

Retained earnings 414 386

Profit for the year 64 54

Total equity 1,571 1,532

Untaxed reserves

Tax allocation reserve P4 179 171

Total untaxed reserves 179 171

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions G19, P5 1,296 1,354

Total non-current liabilities 1,296 1,354

Current liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions G19 446 439

Trade payables 2 1

Tax liability 32 13

Other current liabilities 0 0

Accrued expenses and deferred income P6 5 3

Total current liabilities 485 456

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3,530 3,513
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Parent Company statements of cash flows

SEK millions 2017 2016
Cash flow from operating activities

Operating profit/loss -13 -48

Adjustments for non-cash items 

Other non-cash items 2 5

-11 -43

Group contributions received 155 45

Interest paid -40 -36

Tax paid 0 -2

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 103 -36

Cash flows from changes in working capital

Decrease (+)/increase (-) in receivables 0 -

Decrease (-)/increase (+) in current liabilities -7 -1

Decrease (-)/increase (+) in trade payables 1 -1

Cash flow from operating activities 97 -38

Cash flow from investing activities - -

Financing activities

Loans raised - 1,769

Repayment of loans -50 -495

New share issue - 442*

Loans, Group companies -20 -1,729

Dividend paid -27 -

Cash flow from financing activities -97 -13

Cash flow for the year 0 -51

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 0 51

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 0 0

*Includes transaction costs of SEK -8 million.
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Parent Company statements of changes in equity 

SEK millions Share capital
Share premium 

reserve

Retained earn-
ings, including 

profit for the 
year Total equity

Opening equity, 1 Jan 2016 1 642 386 1,030

Profit for the year and comprehensive income 
for the year - - 54 54

Owner transactions

New share issue 0 450 - 450

Listing expenses - -8 - -8

Tax on listing expenses - 2 - 2

Warrant issue - 5 - 5

Total owner transactions 0 448 - 448

Closing equity, 31 Dec 2016 1 1,090 440 1,532

Opening equity, 1 Jan 2017 1 1,090 440 1,532

Profit for the year and comprehensive income 
for the year - - 64 64

Owner transactions

Dividend - - -27 -27

Share savings programme - 2 - 2

Total owner transactions - 2 -27 -25

Closing equity, 31 Dec 2017 1 1,092 478 1,571
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Financial targets Outcome

Revenue •  Annual growth rate of 8-10 percent over the medium 
term. Growth to be achieved organically and through 
acquisitions.

Humana’s operating revenue increased by 3 percent dur-
ing the year, which was below the Company’s target.

Profitability •  An operating margin of approximately 6 percent over 
the medium term. 

Operating profit amounted to SEK 316 (329) million, 
with a margin of 4.8 (5.2) percent, which was below 
Humana’s profitability target. 

Capital structure •  Interest-bearing net debt to EBITDA of no more 
than 3.0 times. 

•  However, leverage may temporarily exceed the target 
level, for example, in relation to acquisitions. 

Humana’s interest-bearing net debt to EBITDA was 3.8 
(3.9) times, which was above the target for the Group’s 
capital structure.

Dividend policy •  A dividend corresponding to 30 percent of profit  
for the year.

•  The proposed dividend shall take into account  
Humana’s long-term development potential and 
financial position.

The Board’s proposal to the 2018 AGM is a dividend 
payment of SEK 0.60 per share. The proposal, which rep-
resents a dividend of approximately 16 percent of profit 
for the year, is below the Company’s long-term target. The 
proposal should be viewed in the context of an assessment 
of good future growth potential and as a consequence of 
the Company’s debt exceeding the long-term target. 

Seasonality
Distribution of revenue during the year shows that Humana’s opera-
tions are not significantly affected by any seasonal variations. Changes 
in revenue between quarters and compared with the preceding year 
are partly attributable to the point in time at which acquisitions were 
made in 2016 and 2017. Revenue and earnings are also positively af-
fected by factors such as months with many working days and no long 
public holidays. In terms of earnings, the Company’s third quarter 
is the strongest, as this is when employees take holidays, resulting in 
changes in the holiday pay liability. 

Employees
Humana’s average number of full-time employees in 2017 was 
10,003 (9,912), an increase of 1 percent from the previous year. 
The increase in the number of employees is due to acquisitions and 
organic expansion. The average number of employees working in 
the Group’s central functions was 23 (19). The average number of 
employees per country is distributed as follows:
• Sweden, 8,631 employees (-4%) = 86% 
• Norway, 742 employees (+13%) = 7%
• Finland, 629 employees (+142%) = 6%

Of the total number of employees, 67 (68) percent were women and 
33 (32) percent were men. The proportion of women who were part 
of the management of any of Humana’s four business areas was, as 
in the previous year, 50 (50) percent. The proportion of women in 
Humana’s Group management was 60 (60) percent, which is also 
unchanged from the previous year. 

Humana conducts its own initiatives to improve expertise in the 
Company. The number of employees completing web-based training 
in Humana Academy in 2017 was 5,731 (2,216), an increase of 159 
percent from 2016. 

Humana endeavours to ensure that the Company’s employees 
reflect the diversity of the Group’s customers and society in general. 

Humana therefore works actively on diversity issues. As one of the 
largest private employers in Sweden, Humana is a key contributor to 
job creation for individuals of foreign origin. 

Sustainability and environment
For Humana, sustainability is closely connected with how the Com-
pany creates value and acts as a quality player in the care industry. 
Humana considers this work to be about making a major contribu-
tion to society, to the Company’s customers, clients, contractors, em-
ployees and other stakeholders. The work is based on Humana’s core 
values, our well-defined target areas and our code of conduct. During 
the year, Humana strengthened its work in the area of sustainability. 
The Company has further developed and adopted new policies in 
the areas of code of conduct, our values, quality, work environment, 
diversity and inclusion, environment, and IT and data integrity. 
The policies cover all Group operations and the diversity policy also 
includes the Company’s Board. To focus efforts and ensure that the 
issues become a part of day-to-day work, new Group-wide goals have 
been defined. The goals are monitored at the central level. The activi-
ties and initiatives, based on the Group-wide goals, are conducted in 
the local operations, which provides the right conditions for effective 
implementation. Humana’s Sustainability Report can be found on 
pages 18-27. 

The future, financial targets and outcomes
The future
Humana will continue to develop its position as a leading care com-
pany in the Nordic region in 2018. The goal is to continue to grow, 
both organically and through acquisitions, while the Group advances 
its positions in the day-to-day process of offering a high-quality opera-
tion. Humana aims to be an attractive employer and a provider that 
takes responsibility for society’s important care issues. Humana will 
continue working to promote sustainable development of the sector.

The Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 62-75 con-
tains a detailed description of 
the Group’s governance, the 
Board’s work and internal 
control.

The Board’s proposed guide-
lines on the remuneration of 
senior executives for the period 
from the next AGM are de-
scribed in the Corporate Gov-
ernance Report on page 68.

Note G7 on page 80 
contains guidelines on the 
remuneration of senior 
executives. 

Humana’s Sustainability 
Report can be found on 
pages 18-27.

Board of Directors’ report

Humana Annual Report 2017 | 53



Appropriation of profits
The Board proposes that the consolidated income statements and balance sheet be submitted for adoption 
by the AGM on 16 May 2018. The Board recommends that the annual general meeting adopt a dividend 
of SEK 0.60 per share for the 2017 financial year. 
SEK 2017
Share premium reserve 1,092,174,858

Retained earnings 413,826,426

Profit for the year 63,947,237

Total carried forward 1,569,948,521

The Board proposes that the profits be appropriated as follows:

Dividend of SEK 0.60 per share (total 53,140,064 shares) 31,884,038

Profit carried forward 1,538,064,483

Total 1,569,948,521

Our Audit report was submitted on
3 April 2018

KPMG AB

Petra Lindström
Authorised Public Accountant

Per Båtelson
Chairman

Helen Fasth Gillstedt
Board member

Per Granath 
Board member

Kirsi Komi 
Board member

Monica Lingegård 
Board member

Lloyd Perry 
Board member

Ulrika Östlund 
Board member

Rasmus Nerman
President and CEO

Stockholm, 03 April 2018

The Board of Directors and the CEO confirm that the annual accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting standards in Sweden and that the consolidated accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards referred to in European Parliament 
and Council Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002 on the application of international financial 
reporting standards. The annual accounts and consolidated accounts provide a true and fair view of the fi-
nancial position and financial performance of the Parent Company and the Group. The Board of Directors’ 
Report for the Parent Company and the Group provides a true and fair overview of the development of the 
operations, financial position and financial performance of the Parent Company and Group, and describes 
material risks and uncertainties faced by the Parent Company and Group companies.
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Here at Humana, 
sustainability  
and values are  
part of our daily  
operations. 
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The Humana share on the stock  
exchange and ownership
Since March 2016, the Humana share has been been listed on Nasdaq Stockholm  
in the Mid Cap segment under the ticker HUM. The Company’s market capitalisation  
was SEK 2.9 billion at the end of the year. 

Trading and market capitalisation
A total of 21.6 million shares were traded at a value of just over SEK 
1.3 billion during the year. The average daily share turnover amount-
ed to SEK 5.5 million. The majority, about 93 percent, of the share 
turnover took place on Nasdaq Stockholm. In addition to trading on 
the Stockholm Stock Exchange, 6.4 percent were traded on the Cboe 
CXE marketplace and 0.3 percent on Cboe BXE. 

Share price development
The Humana share fell by 23 percent during the year, closing at SEK 
55.00. The highest price paid was SEK 79.25 on 22 February, while 
the lowest was SEK 51.00 on 19 December. On 29 December, the 
Humana share was quoted at SEK 55.00, corresponding to a market 
capitalisation of SEK 2.9 billion.

Share capital
The total number of shares outstanding on 31 December 2017 was 
53,140,064. Each share has a par value of SEK 0.022, which means 
that share capital amounts to SEK 1,180,879. Humana’s share capital 
consists of one class of shares, with each share having equal voting 
rights and equal entitlement to receive to dividends. 

Ownership structure 
The number of Humana shareholders was 3,718 at the end of the 
year. The proportion of share ownership in Sweden was 31.7 percent. 
Total foreign ownership was 68.3 percent, distributed as follows: 
shareholders in Luxembourg, 41 percent, in the UK, 11.4 percent, 
and in Norway, 6.4 percent. The ten largest shareholders held 74.8 
percent of the share capital. Members of Humana’s Group manage-
ment owned a total of 1,325,289 Humana shares at 31 December 
2017, while Humana’s Board members owned 3,162,604 shares. 
Group management’s and the Board’s holdings corresponded to a 
total of 8.4 percent of the capital and shares.

Dividend and dividend policy 
Humana's goal is for the Company’s dividend to amount to 30 per-
cent of profit for the year and for the proposed dividend to take into 
account Humana’s long-term development potential and financial 
position. The Board has proposed to the 2018 Annual General Meet-
ing a dividend of SEK 0.60 per share, corresponding to 16 percent of 
profit for the year, which is an increase from the previous year. 

Share-based incentive programmes 
Humana has two long-term incentive programmes: one for eight of 
the Company’s senior executives and another for 165 other Humana 
employees. The purpose of the incentive programmes is to encourage 
a broad ownership among Humana employees, facilitate recruitment, 
retain competent employees and increase the motivation to achieve or 
exceed Humana’s financial targets. 
The programmes comprise a warrant programme and a share savings 
programme. The warrant programme, which is for eight members of 
Group management, comprises 1,440,420 warrants entitling holders 

to subscribe for the same number of new Humana shares. If the max-
imum amount is subscribed for, dilution will be about 2.6 percent of 
the total number of Humana shares. At full allotment, the employee 
share savings programme will comprise a maximum of 89,000 shares, 
corresponding to about 0.1 percent of the total number of shares 
outstanding in the Company.

Distribution of Swedish/foreign ownership
 

 Foreign owners, 68.3% 

 Swedish owners, 31.7%

Foreign share ownership by country

 Luxembourg, 41%

 Sweden, 31.7%

 UK, 11.4%

 Norway, 6.4%

 US, 5.3%

 Other countries, 4.3%

Humana’s share price in 2017
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Key ratios
2017

Number of shares at end of year (millions) 53,140,064

Market capitalisation at end of year (SEK million) 2,923

Number of shareholders 3,718

Share price at end of year, SEK 55.00

Price change during the year, % -23

Year high, SEK 79.25

Year low, SEK 51.00

Earnings per share, SEK 3.64

Dividend per share, SEK 0.60

Dividend as % of earnings per share 16.5

Shares held in Sweden 31.7

Shares held by the 10 largest shareholders, % 74.8

Ten largest shareholders1

31 December 2017 Votes % Capital %
Air Syndication SCA 39.2 39.2

MSIL IPB Client Account 6.2 6.2

Nordea Investment Funds 5.8 5.8

Zirkona AB 5.4 5.4

UBS AG LDN Branch A/C Client 4.2 4.2

Zeres Public Market Fund 4.2 4.2

SEB Investment Management 2.9 2.9

SEB-Stiftelsen 2.8 2.8

BNYM RE GOTHIC CORPORATION 2.2 2.2

Danica Pension 1.9 1.9

Total 74.8 74.8

1)Shareholders who are registered directly or as an owner group with Euroclear 
Sweden. 

Shareholder structure, 31 December 2017

Number of shares
Number of 

shareholders Votes % Capital %
-500 3,050 82.0 82.0

501 - 1,000 202 5.4 5.4

1,001 - 5,000 261 7.0 7.0

5,001 - 10,000 82 2.2 2.2

10,001 - 15,000 25 0.7 0.7

15,001 - 20,000 16 0.4 0.4

20,001 - 82 2.2 2.2

Total 3,718 100.0 100.0

Shareholder categories, 31 December 2017
%

Foreign owners 68.3

Financial companies 16.3

Swedish private individuals 6.3

Other Swedish legal entities 7.0

Other 2.1

Total 100.0

Financial calendar
2018 16 May Interim Report, January-March 

16 May Annual General Meeting

17 August Interim Report, April-June 

16 November Interim Report, July-September

Analysts monitoring Humana
Company Name E-mail
ABG Sundal Collier Daniel Thorsson daniel.thorsson@abgsc.se

Carnegie Kristofer Liljeberg kristofer.liljeberg@carnegie.se

Danske Bank Mikael Holm mikho@danskebank.com 

DNB (Den Norske Bank) Karl-Johan Bonnevier kj.bonnevier@dnb.se

Nordea Hans Mähler hans.mahler@nordea.com

Nordea Carl Mellerby carl.mellerby@nordea.com

SEB Stefan Andersson stefan.e.andersson@seb.se

The Humana share

Humana Annual Report 2017 | 57



Risks and risk management
As is the case with all business, Humana’s operations are associated with risks. To clarify  
and facilitate proactive minimisation of risk exposure, Humana conducts regular risk analyses 
in which all risks are graded according to probability and impact. The risks that Humana  
has identified are classified in four risk categories. 

Risk management
A risk is defined as an uncertainty about an event occurring that could 
affect the Company’s ability to achieve defined objectives. Risks are a 
natural part of all business operations, and must be managed effective-
ly by the organisation. Risk management is aimed at preventing, miti-
gating or precluding risks from materialising or affecting operations in 
a negative way. Humana endeavours to effectively identify, assess and 
manage the Company’s risks. 

Humana’s management have identified conceivable events, 
scenarios and activities that could have an impact on the Company’s 
operations and its ability to achieve defined objectives. These risks 
have been evaluated and concentrated into a net list of the most 
relevant risks. These risks have been graded according to a probability 
and impact perspective. In Humana’s case, an increased probability of 
a risk occurring is not always a negative factor, but can also be seen as 
positive in cases where the Company believes that the change sharp-
ens requirements, thereby raising standards in the industry as a whole. 
The risks are monitored by Group Management and in the Board’s 
work. As Humana conducts operations in Sweden, Finland and Nor-
way, the assessment is based on the situation in the local markets and 
is then compiled into a Group-wide risk description. 

Purpose
The purpose of Humana’s risk management work is to: 
• create management and Board awareness about the Company’s risks 

and ensure effective information about its risk exposure
• create effective governance and control of the business so that the 

Company is able to achieve its objectives
• provide data and processes that support daily operations

Risk categories
Humana has decided to classify its identified risks in four risk catego-
ries: 

Sector and market-related risks
Market risks concern external factors, events and changes in Huma-
na’s markets that could have an effect on the conditions for achieving 
the Company’s defined objectives. The Company has limited scope 
to influence these types of risks, but they are still risks that Humana 
needs to address as a company. There are often two sides to every 
sector or market risk: a downside, i.e., a risk or threat, and an upside, 
i.e., an opportunity. 

Operational risks
Operational risks are mainly related to internal factors and events 
that could adversely affect the Company’s operating activities and 
ultimately its brand. Humana’s reputation and good standing are key 
to maintaining the trust of the Company’s customers, clients, buyers 
and employees. Negative publicity about private care providers or a 
serious incident within the Group’s operations could have a considera-
ble adverse impact on the Company’s business and earnings. 

Compliance risks related to laws and regulations
Humana’s operations are subject to extensive regulatory requirements. 
The Company must comply with a comprehensive framework of 
ordinances and other regulations at the national level. In addition, 
Humana’s business is dependent on the Company’s ability to obtain 
and maintain a number of permits and to successfully attract certain 
professional categories in order to provide specialised care services. 
Humana is also covered by data protection laws such as the Swedish 
Personal Data Act, the Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), the 
Swedish Patient Data Act and corresponding legislation in Finland 
and Norway. These regulations require systematised and secure rou-
tines to be in place for handling and storing personal information. 

Financial risks
In the course of its operations, the Group is exposed to various types 
of financial risks, such as financing risk, liquidity risk, credit risk, 
interest rate risk and currency risk. The Group’s financial policy for 
financial risk management has been formulated by the Board and 
provides a framework of guidelines and rules in the form of a risk 
mandate and limits for financing activities. Responsibility for the 
Group’s financial transactions and risks is managed by the CFO in 
consultation with the Board. The overall goal of the finance function 
is to provide cost-effective financing and minimise adverse effects of 
market fluctuations on the Group’s earnings. 

The Company’s aggregate risks and measures are managed by the 
audit committee, which reports to the Board for assessment and 
approval.

Sector and market-related risks
Increased sector regulation

The care sector is subject to an extensive regulatory apparatus in the 
form of laws and regulations at the national, regional and local levels. 
Laws and regulations cover areas such as availability of services, access 
to services, quality of services, staff qualifications and obligations, 
and confidentiality rules. Humana works with clear requirement 
specifications, documentation and quality monitoring to ensure that 
the services provided fulfil all requirements. Humana welcomes an 
increase in requirements, as sharper regulations raise the status and 
quality of the care industry 

 Dividend and profit-restricting legislative  
changes in the care sector

Certain political parties in Sweden and Norway are questioning the 
privatisation of care and support services and advocating restrictions 
on the ability to run private care companies for profit. The business 
model for private care companies could be adversely affected by the 
introduction of legal requirements that limit or prohibit profits, or 
restrict the rate of privatisation or the number of services eligible for 
privatisation. 
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Other political risks

The care sector operates under a distinct political agenda. Huma-
na’s operations are funded by the state and municipalities, and 
parliamentary policy changes could have consequences for private 
care providers. The offerings of private providers are dependent on 
political decisions made by each municipality and regional authority. 
Humana is a significant provider in the sector, and the Company has 
a high level of specialist expertise. Increasing needs for care services in 
the future and an associated increase in costs are expected to present a 
challenge to society in general. 

 Changes in the remuneration model and allowance level for 
personal assistance 

Humana’s Personal Assistance business area receives an allowance from 
Försäkringskassan and municipalities. If the allowance level changes 
at short notice, this creates uncertainty, while reducing the ability to 
act quickly. The state reimbursement amount for 2018, which was 
set in 2017, is an increase from the previous level, but the allowance 
level remains lower than the rise in costs for wages and salaries, which 
affects profitability in the sector. The ongoing LSS investigation, 
which will issue its final report by October 2018, includes a review of 
the remuneration model. 

Changes in pricing and demand

Prices of publicly funded care services can be influenced, limited or 
set by local, regional and national authorities. This means that the 
prices are not exclusively controlled by market forces such as supply 
and demand. A decrease in demand for private care services would 
have a negative impact on Humana’s business. Increased demand 
may lead to price pressure as state funds have to be allocated to larger 
numbers of recipients. 

Operational risks
 Operational incidents and subsequent negative publicity 

For Humana, the Group’s reputation is fundamental for maintaining 
good relationships with current and potential clients and customers, 
and local, regional and regulatory authorities. There is a risk of an 
incident occurring in Humana’s or another private operator’s business, 
as a result of negligence or deliberate action, which could affect the 
sector and Humana’s operations. Such an event could lead to negative 
publicity, causing subsequent harm to the sector and company in 
question. Further, an incident could lead to the loss of customers and 
therefore revenue. 

Computer system limitations

Humana handles a large amount of data in the form of personal 
information, patient journals and other business-critical information. 
Breakdowns or disruptions in IT systems, including such caused by 
sabotage, computer viruses, operator error or software defects, could 
have a negative impact on the Group’s operations. Humana endeav-
ours to minimise such disruptions as far as possible by using firewalls, 
encryption and parallel computer centres for backup copying. 

Framework agreements

The framework agreements that Humana enters into with Swedish 
municipalities to conduct operations under own management contain 
assumptions on volume, entailing that the scope and volume of the 
services offered under such framework agreements may be uncertain. 
If Humana cannot fulfil the requirements stipulated in framework 
agreements, the agreements may be terminated. 

As Humana secures long-term leases for premises used in its 
operations, the Company bears the risk that operating revenue may 
be lower than its personnel costs and rental costs associated with the 
premises. Humana works daily to optimise its capacity utilisation 
with respect to care placements in the Group’s operations under own 
management and to match costs effectively. 

Future expansion and growth

Humana is a growth company that plans to continue expanding its 
business through a combination of organic growth and acquisitions. 
The future success of the Company’s acquisition strategy is dependent 
on several factors, such as Humana’s financial position, the Company’s 
ability to identify suitable acquisition candidates, negotiation of the 
right level of purchase prices and acceptable terms. Future growth is 
also affected by Humana’s capacity and expertise with regard to run-
ning organic projects, attracting customers and ensuring access to ap-
propriate properties. Effective integration of acquisitions into existing 
operations is also of key importance to Humana. The Company may 
also encounter business risks, tax risks and economic risks associated 
with the acquisition and integration of companies. In addition, there 
are increasing requirements to attract the right employees and ensure 
sufficient central staffing as the business grows. 

Expertise and ability to attract employees 

Humana is dependent on its ability to attract, engage and retain 
qualified personnel at a reasonable cost. The Company’s operations 
are very labour-intensive, and the expertise requirements vary from 
business area to business area. In Personal Assistance, the formal 
expertise requirements are low, while some of the services offered in 
the Individual & Family and Norway business areas require a high 
level of expertise and specialisation. Humana’s quality is dependent 
on employees’ ability to make the right decisions and have the right 
attitude in their daily work. Should the Company fail to attract the 
right personnel, this could affect its growth opportunities. 

Compliance risks related to laws and regulations
Violation of data protection laws

Humana’s business is dependent on permits and key professional 
expertise, and is subject to extensive data protection laws. Increased 
legislative and regulatory requirements, such as new personal data/
GDPR legislation, place high demands on processes and security 
when handling, storing and disposing of personal data, and on 
correctly informing individuals about how companies handle personal 
information. Humana works continuously to improve its processes, 
routines and regular controls. 

Dependence on permits and professional expertise

Humana’s operations and growth are dependent on the Company’s 
ability to secure and retain a number of permits to conduct care oper-
ations. Professionals with the right skills are also required. A number 
of Humana’s permits in its businesses are linked to specific properties. 
If the businesses are sold or moved, Humana will be required to apply 
for new permits. Permits could also affect Humana’s ability to move 
companies within the Group. 

Legal processes and investigations 

Humana may be negatively affected by judicial rulings, settlements, 
and costs associated with legal processes and investigations. In the 
future, Humana could be party to legal action arising out of alleged 
malpractice or medication errors. In the event of incorrect processes 
or practice, Humana could be liable to pay damages or compensation. 

Risks
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Occupational health and safety

Humana’s operations are covered by regulations on occupational 
health and safety. Deficiencies in meeting such regulations could lead 
to fines or penalties. 

Financial risks 
Financing and liquidity

Liquidity risk is the risk of the Group encountering problems in 
meeting its obligations associated with the Company’s financial 
liabilities. The Company’s CFO manages liquidity risks centrally for 
the entire Group. Liquidity requirements are monitored regularly and 
when reviewing Humana’s financing needs. The Group’s policy is to 
minimise borrowing needs by balancing surplus and deficit liquidity 
within the Group and to achieve financing flexibility through agree-
ments for additional available credit. To facilitate liquidity planning 
and control, the Group has credit facilities, such as bank overdraft 
facilities, and a cash pool. Changes in demand may affect the Com-
pany’s revenue, which in combination with existing borrowing could 
affect its financing costs and liquidity situation. 

Interest rate risk

Changes in the cost of borrowing, i.e., interest rates, could increase 
Humana's costs, which in turn could adversely affect the Group’s 
earnings and cash flow.  

Credit risk

Humana’s credit risks and credit losses are largely associated with 
trade receivables. Most of the Group’s trade receivables are from state, 
municipal and county council entities, which are considered to have 
good credit quality. If Humana has any surplus liquidity, it is invested 
in deposit accounts, and derivatives are only entered into with the 
major Nordic banks.

Currency risk

As the Group operates in Sweden, Finland and Norway, it is exposed 
to currency risks from exposure to the euro and Norwegian krone. 
The Group’s earnings are affected by translation of Finnish and 
Norwegian subsidiaries’ income statements at the average exchange 
rate for the financial year. Currency risk also arises through business 
transactions, reported assets and liabilities, and net investments in 
foreign operations. The currency exposure is partly offset by borrow-
ing in the local currency.

Sector and market-related risks

Risk Risk level Comments (C)/risk management (RM)
Probability/Impact

Increased sector regulation C: Humana is in favour of increased sector regulation, which helps to raise quality in the sector, as 
Humana is far ahead in this area. The Norwegian care market is considered more regulated and central-
ised than the Swedish and Finnish markets. 
RM: Humana engages in lobbying for increased sector regulation through participation on boards and in 
networks and implements internal action plans accordingly.

Dividend and profit- 
restricting legislative  
changes in the care sector

C: There is a political and media debate in Sweden about introducing dividend and profit limits in the 
care sector in Sweden. 
RM: Dialogue with key stakeholders and influencers. High internal preparedness.

Other political risks C: Humana’s expanded operations in Finland and Norway mean that total exposure to Sweden, and 
therefore the political risk in Sweden, has decreased 
RM: Continuous knowledge-gathering and relationship-building in public affairs and in the Association 
of Private Care Providers (Vårdföretagarna). 
 
 

Changes in personal  
assistance reform may vary.

C: The allowance level and system may change in a few years’ time. 
RM: Dialogue with key stakeholders and influencers, and responses to investigations. An internal action 
plan aimed at increasing flexibility, manoeuvrability and preparedness.

Changes in pricing  
and demand

C: Demand and the need for government-funded care is increasing in society.  
The risk of price pressure due to budgetary constraints is considered unchanged from the previous year in 
Sweden, Finland and Norway. 
RM: Continuing focus on high service quality and customer adaptation.

Operational risks

Risk Risk level Comments (C)/risk management (RM)
Probability/Impact

Negative publicity about 
private care providers or 
operational incidents

C: Political debate about profits in welfare and a sharp increase in the need for care in society is placing 
a focus on the care and health care sector. Awareness of and interest in the sector is increasing, but so is 
the risk of negative publicity if something goes wrong. 
RM: Continuing focus on quality work, core value work and crisis management. Well-grounded internal 
communication plan. Transparent and accessible approach to media and work in the Association of 
Private Care Providers (Vårdföretagarna). 

Probability:  low   medium   high
Impact:  low   medium   high
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Risks

Computer system  
limitations

C: Work on IT systems and processes has continued during the year. The probability of computer system 
limitations is considered to have decreased slightly. 
RM: Continuous system development and monitoring and streamlining of systems. Development of 
competence, systems, and routines with operating partners.

Framework agreements C: Some of Humana’s operations are conducted under framework agreements, but the effect on the 
Company in the event of changes is considered relatively low. 
RM: Focus on high service quality (leading expertise and good therapeutic results), and close work with 
municipalities.

Future expansion  
and growth

C: The political situation, fragmented markets, increased sector requirements and an underlying growing 
market create opportunities for continuing consolidation and growth. Certain market segments, such as 
personal assistance, have declined in 2017 and in some areas competition has increased. 
RM: Careful evaluation and selectivity of organic projects and acquisitions and identification of compe-
tent business partners. Focus on effective integration processes. Find business partners who are effective 
negotiators and have solid legal and financial skills.

Attracting employees C: Employee surveys show that employees are happy at Humana. Scope for recruiting managers and 
middle managers is expected to remain good. The recruitment situation in certain geographical regions 
and in specific occupational categories may vary and is perceived as more difficult. 
RM: Clear strategy built on Humana’s values, opportunities for training, leadership and future career 
paths to attract new employees to the Company.

Compliance risks related to laws and regulations

Risk Risk level Comments (C)/risk management (RM)
Probability/Impact

Violation of data protection 
laws

C: Increased knowledge, awareness, continuing improvement of processes and routines, and investments 
in systems are critical to compliance with new laws and regulations in the area. As a result of work per-
formed, the risk is considered slightly lower than in the previous year. 
RM: Competence, training, processes, routines and systems.

Dependence on  
permits and professional 
qualifications

C: Increased processing times on the part of government authorities, social services and the IVO (Health 
and Social Care Inspectorate) during the year means longer lead times and therefore a higher risk of 
start-up delays and an associated increase in costs. 
RM: Intensified efforts to be accessible to government authorities, social services and the IVO to try to 
speed up the processing time.

Legal processes  
and investigations

C: The risk is considered unchanged from the previous year. 
RM: Routines, processes and competence, and the right legal partners.

Occupational health  
and safety

C: The risk is considered the same as in the previous year and there are no major incidents or issues to 
report at present. 
RM: The right internal competence through proactive training, action plans and control.

Human rights violations C: Humana’s operations, which are regulated by collective agreements, and its suppliers and partners 
are located exclusively in the Nordic region. The risk is considered very low.
RM: Active internal work on values, training, procedures and the whistleblower function.

Corruption C: Humana has few large procurement processes and well-functioning authorisation rights with system 
support significantly limit risks in this area. Humana follows the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and other 
applicable directives.
RM: Procedures, internal control, staff training and the whistleblower function.

Environment C: We do not consider Humana’s activities as a provider of social services to involve any significant 
environmental impact. However, Humana must conduct its business with climate and resource efficiency 
through continuous improvements.
RM: Staff training, environmental sustainability manager, systematic measurement of environmental 
parameters.

Financial risks

Risk Risk level Comments (C)/risk management (RM)
Probability/Impact

Financing and liquidity C: Humana’s debt, which is slightly above the financial target, affects the ability to increase financial 
borrowing capacity in the short term. 
RM: An increased focus on consolidation and operational efficiency to improve profitability is in progress. 
The Group’s financial policy sets frameworks and guidelines for risk mandates and limits in financing 
activities. Humana has available overdraft facilities to deal with liquidity fluctuations.

Interest rate risk C: Humana’s financing costs are affected by market interest rates. A lower debt level during the year has 
helped to reduce interest rate risk slightly.
RM: Derivative instruments are used to manage some of the interest rate risk.

Credit risk C: Most of Humana’s trade receivables are from state, municipal and county council entities, which are 
considered to have good credit quality. The risk of credit losses is considered low. 
RM: Humana’s liquidity is invested at low risk in deposit accounts and contracts are only entered into with 
banks that have high credit ratings.

Currency risk C: Humana’s main operations are conducted in Sweden and the Company is only exposed to minor risks 
arising from the translation of Finnish and Norwegian operations from Euro and Norwegian Krone. 
RM: Humana takes out loans in foreign currencies to offset some of the Company’s currency exposure.

Probability:  low   medium   high
Impact:  low   medium   high
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Humana’s corporate governance is aimed at long-term and sustainable value 
creation for shareholders through good risk control and a sound corporate 
culture. Efficient and well-functioning corporate governance creates better 
control while providing scope for new business opportunities. The aim is to 
ensure that Humana is effectively governed and operated in accordance with 
current laws and regulations.

Work of the Board in 2017

Q4

Q3

22 February 2017 
Q4 report, discussion on dividend proposal, 
preparations for 2017 AGM. Acquisitions and 
investment discussions. Calendar for 2017. 

6 April 2017
Review of documentation and notice 
of 2017 AGM. Adoption of 2016 
annual report. 

17 May 2017
Q1 report. Review of Humana’s quality assurance 
work and the Company’s digital strategy. Updating 
of several policy documents. 

17 August 2017
Q2 report. Financial updating and 
investment discussion. 

5-6 September 2017
Strategy days in Finland. Review of 
business plans for 2018-2020. 

2 Nov 2017
Strategy and financing matters.

15 Nov 2017
Q3 report and review of Board evaluation.  
Humana’s sustainability work. 

5 Dec 2017
Board’s evaluation of CEO and Group manage-
ment. Remuneration matters. Budget review and 
report from auditor. 

JAN

JUL

APR

OCT

FEB

AUG

MAY

NOV

SEP

JUN

DEC

Q2

Q1

MAR

18 May 2017
2017 Annual General Meeting. Inaugural Board 
meeting. Adoption of the Board’s rules of procedure 
and decision on the committees’ members and duties.
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Chairman’s statement
We can sum up 2017 as a challenging year for Humana. The year 
has been affected by the previous year’s radical shift in Swedish and 
 Norwegian migration policy, which in principle resulted in closed borders 
in 2017, by continued intense tightening in the area of assistance and by 
tougher competition, particularly in the Norwegian care market. 

After several years of strong revenue growth and good margin devel-
opment, the trend was broken in 2017. The work of the Board and 
management in 2017 has focused on restructuring, consolidating 
and streamlining operations to create a strong platform for better 
development in 2018 and beyond. 

It can safely be said that in no way has this been a lost year. Con-
solidation, process efficiency, cooperation between units, continuing 
quality development, good care results when moving clients between 
different levels of care and our skills development for unit managers 
are just a few examples of the extensive internal work that has been 
conducted to exploit our size and market leading position. We have 
bolstered our expertise in several central functions, such as finance, 
HR, property and communications, while also working intensively 
on systems with the aim of simplifying and streamlining our internal 
processes. An important goal for the work is to simplify administra-
tion so that our employees can devote more of their precious time 
to value-creating efforts. The result is not only lower administrative 
costs and higher precision in analysis work, but also more interesting 
and competitive workplaces – an important asset for employers in an 
increasingly competitive labour market. 

While consolidation and internal efficiency improvements have been 
key concepts in many of our operations, we have also taken several 
exciting steps to drive the Group’s development forward. The Finnish 
operations are going from strength to strength and are characterised 
by strong leadership with a passion for creating a better life for our 
customers and clients. We are identifying increasing synergy oppor-
tunities and benefits in working across country and business area 
boundaries in order to utilise our knowledge and apply best practices. 

I would also like to single out the elderly housing units under our 
own management in Gävle, Växjö and Åkersberga. I am proud to 
say that we have very satisfied customers and relatives, that we offer 
qualitative elderly housing and that we provide a good working envi-
ronment for our employees. I am convinced that this is how society 
wants the elderly care of tomorrow to look.

We have put a tough year behind us, and the rest of the Board and 
I are pleased that we have achieved much that we can benefit from in 
2018 and beyond. I would also like to take this opportunity to thank 
all our employees who have worked magnificently to take us to where 
we stand today – well equipped for the future.

Per Båtelson, Chairman 

During the year, we 
have achieved much 
that we can benefit 
from in 2018 and 
beyond.

Chairman’s statement
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Regulatory framework and governance model
Humana is a Swedish public limited company listed on Nasdaq Stockholm.  
The Company, corporate ID number 556760-8475, has its registered office  
and head office in Stockholm. The corporate governance report is part of the  
Company’s Board of Directors’ Report and is audited by the Company’s auditors.

Humana’s corporate governance
The objective of Humana’s corporate governance is to ensure that the 
Board and management work to develop the Company’s operations 
so that long-term value is created for all stakeholders, including 
customers, clients, employees and shareholders. The work involves 
ensuring a well-functioning organisation, clear operational goals, a 
system for efficient management, effective monitoring, governance 
and internal control, and transparent internal and external report-
ing. The structure and different components of Humana’s corporate 
governance are shown in the illustration below. Responsibility for 
governance, management and control is distributed between the 
Board, its elected committees, the CEO and the shareholders. 

Humana’s governance is based on external and internal governance 
instruments. 

External governance instruments 
External governance instruments form the framework for Humana’s  
corporate governance. The external instruments include the Swedish 
Companies Act, the Swedish Annual Accounts Act, Nasdaq Stock-
holm’s Rules for Issuers and the Swedish Corporate Governance 
Code. Humana applies the Swedish Corporate Governance Code. 
The Company has derogated from the Code on one point in the 
2017 financial year:

Derogation from Code Rule 9.7
The Code stipulates a minimum vesting period of three years for share 
and share-price related incentive programmes. One of Humana’s 
incentive programmes, the company’s warrant programme for eight 
senior executives, entitles warrant holders to subscribe for shares 

within two years. This is a departure from the Code, which states 
that the vesting period or the period from the commencement of an 
agreement to the date on which shares may be acquired is not to be 
less than three years. 

Explanation
It is the view of the Board and management that the two-year pro-
gramme is an important complement to the three-year programme, 
aimed at attracting and encouraging a broad shareholding among 
senior executives and retaining and attracting employees in the future. 

Internal governance instruments
Internal control instruments include the articles of association 
adopted by the AGM, the Board’s rules of procedure, the CEO’s 
instructions and internal rules and guidelines. Humana’s Board has 
adopted a number of policies and guidelines that govern the Com-
pany’s operations. Humana has also adopted a set of instructions for 
financial reporting that are documented in the Company’s financial 
manual. Alongside the above-mentioned internal documentation, 
Humana follows a Group-wide vision, a business concept and four 
clearly defined target areas. 

1. Shareholders

2. General Meeting

4. Board of Directors

8. Group management

Business areas and central functions

5. Audit Committee6. Remuneration Committee

Governance model
Humana’s shareholders ulti-
mately decide on the Group’s 
governance by appointing 
the Company’s Board at the 
General Meeting. The Board, 
in turn, is responsible for 
ensuring that Humana’s cor-
porate governance complies 
with laws and other external 
and internal governance 
instruments. 

3. Nomination Committee 7. Auditor
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1. Shareholders
The total number of shares outstanding in Humana, which is listed 
on Nasdaq Stockholm, is 53,140,064. All shares carry the same rights 
to the Company’s earnings and capital. The Company’s registered 
share capital on 31 December 2017 amounted to SEK 1,180,879. 
There is no provision in Humana AB’s articles of association restrict-
ing the transfer of shares. Since the 2017 Annual General Meeting, 
there has been an outstanding mandate for the Board to decide on a 
new share issue corresponding to a maximum dilution of 10 percent 
and an approval to repurchase own shares up to a maximum of 10 
percent of the total number of shares outstanding. The 2017 Annual 
General Meeting also authorised the Board to transfer own shares. 

Humana had 3,718 shareholders at the end of the year. The ten 
largest shareholders registered directly or as an owner group with Eu-
roclear Sweden accounted for approximately 75 percent of the votes 
and shares in the Company. Swedish investors owned 31.7 percent 
of the shares. The largest shareholder as at 31 December was Argan 
Capital, through the company Air Syndication S.C.A., with 39.2 
percent of the votes. More information about Humana’s shares and 
shareholders can be found under The Share on pages 56-57. 

2. General Meeting
The General Meeting is Humana’s highest decision-making body 
and all shareholders are entitled to attend. By exercising their voting 
rights, Humana’s shareholders can participate and decide on a num-
ber of important issues such as the election of directors and auditors, 
adoption of the financial statements, discharge from liability for the 
CEO and Board, and the appropriation of the Company’s profit. All 
shareholders listed in the share register who have provided timely 
notification of their intention to attend according to the regulations 
contained in the notice convening the meeting are entitled to partic-
ipate in Humana’s meeting and vote their shares. Shareholders may 
also be represented by proxy at the meeting. 

Humana’s 2017 Annual General Meeting was held on 18 May 
2017 in Stockholm at IHM Business School. 

Resolutions passed at the 2017 AGM included: 
• that a dividend of SEK 0.50 per share, totalling approximately SEK 

27 million, be paid for the 2016 financial year 
• that the Board of Directors and the CEO be discharged from 

 liability for the 2016 financial year
• that the Board consist of seven ordinary members without deputies 

(previously eight) 
Five of the previous eight Board members were re-elected: 
  - Per Båtelson as Chairman of the Board
  - Per Granath, Helen Fasth Gillstedt, Ulrika Östlund and Lloyd 

Perry as Board members
Two new Board members were elected:
  - Kirsi Komi
  - Monica Lingegård 
• payment of directors’ fees totalling SEK 1,947,500
• election of KPMG AB as auditing firm, with Petra Lindström as 

chief auditor
• adoption of the guidelines on remuneration of the Company’s 

senior executives in accordance with the Board’s proposal
• authorisation for the Board to acquire own shares
• authorisation for the Board to transfer own shares 
• authorisation for the Board to issue new shares on one or more 

occasions before the next AGM, but not exceeding ten percent of 
the total number of shares outstanding in the Company 

3. Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee’s task is to ensure that members of 
Humana’s Board of Directors together have the relevant knowledge 
and experience to promote and be part of Humana’s optimum devel-
opment over time. The Nomination Committee assesses the Board’s 
work, based on factors such as the Board’s own annual evaluation, the 
requirements of the Code, company-specific needs and comments 
provided to the Committee by Humana’s Chairman. 

Corporate Governance Report

2018 Annual General Meeting
Humana’s 2018 Annual General Meeting will be held on 
Wednesday, 16 May at 13:00 at Lindhagen Mat & Möten, 
Kungsholmen hörsal Horn, Lindhagensgatan 126, Kungshol-
men. Registration begins at 12:30. Important dates for the 2018 
AGM: 
• 9 May - Record date for 2018 AGM
• 9 May - Deadline for notifying intention to attend 2018 AGM
• 16 May -  Last day for trading in the share, including right  

to dividend
• 16 May - 12:30 admission to AGM
• 16 May - 13:00 AGM begins
• 18 May - Record date for dividend
• 23 May - Payment date for dividend 

Notice of annual general meeting,  
notification and attendance
According to the Articles of Association, the notice of the 
AGM shall be made through advertisement in Post- och Inrikes 
Tidningar and on the Company’s website. An announcement to 
the effect that a notice has been issued shall be made in Dagens 
Industri. Documents to be presented at the Annual General 
Meeting will be available on the Company’s website no later 
than three weeks before the meeting. 

Shareholders registered in the share register maintained by 
Euroclear Sweden AB on or before 9 May 2018, and who have 
notified the Company of their intention to attend the meeting 
by 16.00 on the same date, are entitled to participate in the 
meeting. Shareholders whose shares are registered in the name of 
a nominee need to temporarily register the shares in their own 
name with Euroclear Sweden AB in order to participate in the 
meeting. To do so, shareholders must contact their nominee in 
sufficient time before 9 May 2018. 

Shareholders wishing to attend the AGM must have notified 
the Company by 16:00 on 9 May 2018 at the address:
Humana AGM 2018
Box 191
SE-101 23 Stockholm, Sweden

Notification may also be made directly to the Company by tele-
phone on +46 (0)8-402 91 60 between 09:00 and 16:00. The 
notification should include name, address, personal or corpo-
rate ID number, daytime telephone number, number of shares 
and the number of assistants (maximum two). If participation 
is by proxy, the original of the proxy (with any authorisation 
documents, such as registration certificate) should be received by 
Humana before the AGM. 

Proposals for resolution at the 2018 AGM
The Board of Directors proposes a dividend of SEK 0.60 per 
share for 2017, totalling approximately SEK 32 million and 
corresponding to approximately 16 percent of profit for the year. 
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The Nomination Committee’s work also includes presenting a 
proposal to the AGM on the number of Board members and the 
composition of the Board, and making proposals on remuneration 
of the Board, including fees for committee work. The Nomination 
Committee also proposes candidates for the positions of Chairman of 
the Board and Chairman of the AGM, and makes proposals on the 
election and remuneration of auditors. The Nomination Committee’s 
proposals regarding Board members, Board fees and the election  
of auditors are presented in the notice convening the meeting.  
A statement explaining the Nomination Committee’s proposed  
Board composition is published on Humana's website when the 
notice is issued. 

In accordance with the Swedish Corporate Governance Code, 
Humana has a set of Nomination Committee instructions. The 
instructions require the Company to have a Nomination Committee 
consisting of one representative from each of the four largest share-
holders (in terms of votes), based on information from Euroclear 
Sweden AB on the last banking day in August, and the Chairman of 
the Board (the convener). The member representing the largest share-
holder in terms of votes shall be appointed Chairman of the Nomina-
tion Committee. The Chairman of the Board shall not be Chairman 
of the Nomination Committee. The members of the Nomination 
Committee prior to the 2018 AGM represented approx. 59 percent 
of the votes in the Company. Members of the Nomination Commit-
tee do not receive any remuneration for their Committee work. 

Members of the Nomination Committee prior to the 2018 AGM:
•  Lloyd Perry, appointed by Argan Capital (through the company Air 

Syndication SCA), Chair of the Committee
• Alexander Kopp, appointed by Incentive AS
• Katrina Hammar, appointed by Nordea Funds Ltd 
• Sven-Erik Zachrisson, appointed by Zirkona AB
•  Per Båtelson, Chairman of the Board, Humana

4. Board of Directors 
The Board of Humana has overall responsibility for building a 
value-creating and sustainable business for shareholders and other 
stakeholders with continuity and a long-term perspective. The Board 
is responsible for the Company’s overall strategy, ensuring well-in-
formed decision-making processes and maintaining a clear perception 
of trends in the sector and Humana’s business environment. Another 
important function of Humana's Board is to ensure that the Compa-
ny has good risk management, control and business monitoring. 

Board members
According to the articles of association, the Board of Humana shall 
consist of three to eight members. Members of the Board shall to-
gether possess key skills and experience to ensure Humana’s optimum 
development. Humana’s Board of Directors has four female members 
and three male members.

The Board consisted of seven elected members without deputies in 
2017. President and CEO Rasmus Nerman attends all Board meet-
ings. Ulf Bonnevier, Humana’s CFO, attends Board meetings and is 
Board secretary. Six of the seven Board members are independent of 
the Company and its management, the exception being Per Granath. 
Five of the Board members are also independent of the Company’s 
major shareholders, the exception being Lloyd Perry. This means that 
Humana fulfilled Nasdaq Stockholm’s requirements for 2017 and the 
Swedish Corporate Governance Code’s rules on the independence of 
directors. The composition of the Board and a presentation of Board 
members can be found on pages 72-73. 

The work of the Board
The Board’s duties and responsibilities are regulated by the Swedish 
Companies Act and Humana’s Articles of Association. The Board’s 
work is also governed by annually defined rules of procedure, which 
describe areas such as the division of duties and responsibility be-
tween Board members, the Chairman and the CEO. The Board also 
draws up instructions for the Board’s committees. 

The Board of Humana continuously monitors strategic direction, 
economic development and the Company’s methods and processes 
in order to maintain well-functioning operations. Humana’s Board is 
also responsible for ensuring good quality in financial reporting and 
internal control, and evaluating the business in relation to the goals 
and guidelines defined by the Board. The Chairman of the Board and 
the CEO are responsible for monitoring the Company’s develop-
ment, and for preparing and leading Board meetings. The Chairman 
is also responsible for ensuring that Board members conduct an 
annual evaluation of their work and that they receive the information 
they need to perform their duties effectively and satisfactorily. 

The Board held nine meetings in 2017, one of which was by 
conference call. A report from the CEO and a review of results are 
permanent items at each meeting. The Board approves the interim 
reports four times during the year: at the meetings in February, 
May, August and November. The annual report and annual financial 
statements were dealt with in the February meeting. The Board also 
adopted and revised a number of policies and looked at Humana’s 
sustainability work. In September, the Board also made a trip to 
Finland to visit businesses acquired in connection with the purchase 
of Arjessa Oy in May 2016. The Board also held its two annual 
strategy days during the trip, with a review of the business plans of all 
business areas. 

The Board regularly evaluates the work of CEO Rasmus Nerman. 
Humana’s chief auditor Petra Lindström from KPMG reported on her 
observations at the meeting dealing with the year-end accounts. At 
the same meeting, the Board had a separate agenda item with the au-
ditor during which members of Group management were not present. 

In 2017, the Board focused on strategic issues in the different 
business areas, organic expansion initiatives, acquisitions, financing 
and Humana’s sustainability work. In addition to sustainability, the 
Board’s work has focused on Humana’s introduction of a common 
quality management system and future initiatives in the HR, IT and 
digital areas. The Board has also decided on acquisitions and new 
expansion investments. Areas that have been discussed on a regular 
basis by the Board are the political discussions going on in Sweden 
and the SOTE reform in Finland. 

Evaluation of the work of the Board
Humana’s Chairman Per Båtelson is responsible for ensuring an 
annual evaluation of the work of the Board, including its committees 
(Audit and Remuneration Committees), is conducted. An evalua-
tion of the Board’s work processes, skills, background, experience 
and composition was conducted in October. The results have been 
presented to the Nomination Committee. 

Board diversity policy
As a group, members of Humana’s Board should have the right expertise, 
experience and background to contribute to the Company’s development. 
The aim is for the Board to consist of members of varying ages, with both 
male and female representation, from varied geographical and ethnic 
backgrounds and complementing each other in terms of educational and 
professional backgrounds. The objective is for the Board to contribute to 
independent and critical challenge. The Board has adopted a diversity pol-
icy, which the Nomination Committee takes into account in the preparation 
of its proposal for the AGM. The Nomination Committee also works on the 
basis of Section 4.1 of the Swedish Corporate Governance Code. Humana 
was awarded the 2017 AllBright prize for the Company’s pro-active gender 
equality work. 
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Directors’ fees
The 2017 AGM adopted fees for Board members, the Chairman of 
the Board and committee work for assignments from the 2017 AGM 
to the 2018 AGM. Directors’ fees (AGM year) are shown in the 
following table:
• Chairman Per Båtelson received SEK 600,000 in his capacity as 

Chairman of Humana’s Board.
• Helen Fasth Gillstedt, Ulrika Östlund, Per Granath, Kirsi Komi 

and Monica Lingegård were each awarded fees of SEK 230,000.
• The Chair of the Audit Committee, Helen Fasth Gillstedt, received 

SEK 100,000. Audit Committee members Per Båtelson,  
Per Granath and Kirsi Komi each received SEK 20,000. 

• Remuneration Committee members Per Båtelson, Ulrika Östlund 
and Monica Lingegård were each paid fees of SEK 12,500. 

• No directors’ fees were paid to Lloyd Perry. 

Total remuneration for Board and committee work in 2017-2018 
amounted to SEK 1,947,500 (1,927,500). 

5. Audit Committee
The Audit Committee’s main task is to support the Board in fulfilling 
its responsibilities in the areas of financial reporting, accounting, 
auditing, internal control and risk management. The Audit Commit-
tee works according to rules of procedure defined by the Board. The 
Committee’s duties also include reviewing internal audit procedures, 
and scrutinising and monitoring the auditor’s impartiality and 
independence. The Audit Committee has regular meetings with the 
auditors in order to keep informed about the focus and scope of the 
audit and observations arising from the audit. 

The Chair of the Committee, Helen Fasth Gillstedt, has the 
accounting expertise required by the Swedish Companies Act, and all 
members apart from Per Granath are independent of the Company 
and its largest owner. 

In 2017, the Audit Committee held five minuted meetings. All 
Audit Committee meetings have been reported to the Board. 

Audit Committee members 2017-2018
Helen Fasth Gillstedt, Chair
Per Båtelson
Per Granath 
Kirsi Komi

6. Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee works in accordance with rules of 
procedure adopted by the Board of Directors. The Remuneration 
Committee’s main tasks are to submit proposals to the Board on 
remuneration of the President and CEO, remuneration policies and 

payments and other conditions of employment for Group manage-
ment, and to monitor and evaluate current and completed incentive 
programmes. Remuneration Committee members are also responsi-
ble for monitoring and evaluating application of the guidelines for 
remuneration of senior executives adopted by the AGM. 

The Remuneration Committee held three minuted meetings in 
2017. All meetings have been reported to the Board. 

Remuneration Committee members 2017-2018
Per Båtelson, Chairman
Ulrika Östlund
Lloyd Perry
Monica Lingegård

7. Auditor
The external auditor’s tasks are to assess whether Humana’s annual 
report has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act and IFRS, and to examine the administration of the Company. 
The external audit of the accounts of Humana AB, including the 
administration by the Board and Group Management, is performed 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and generally 
accepted auditing practice in Sweden. 

The auditor is appointed by the AGM following a proposal from the 
Nomination Committee and is elected for a period of one year. Huma-
na’s AGM on 18 May 2017 adopted a resolution to elect KPMG AB as 
the Company’s auditor until the end of the 2018 AGM. In addition to 
auditing, KPMG AB has provided tax consultancy and acquisition-re-
lated advisory services. KPMG AB has been the Company’s auditor 
since 2008. However, as Humana was not listed until 2016, KPMG 
can remain in charge of the audit until 2026 before a new auditing firm 
has to be appointed under the current rules. Authorised public account-
ant Petra Lindström has been chief auditor for Humana since 2010.

8. Group management
Group management comprises Humana’s President and CEO and 
nine other managers. Group management has a gender distribution 
of six females and four males. Members of Group management have 
the following positions:

Rasmus Nerman, President and CEO
Ulf Bonnevier, CFO
Claus Forum, Business Area Manager, Individual & Family
Anna Giertz Skablova, Director of Human Resources
Cecilia Lannebo, Head of Investor Relations 
Mona Lien, Country Manager, Norway
Eva Nilsson Bågenholm, Director of Quality Assurance
Helena Pharmanson, Director of Marketing and Communication
Eva-Lotta Sandberg, Business Area Manager, Elderly Care
Harald Wessman, Business Area Manager,Personal Assistance 

Per  
Båtelson

Helen Fasth 
Gillstedt

Per  
Granath

Kirsi  
Komi

Monica  
Lingegård

Lloyd  
Perry

Ulrika  
Östlund

Director’s fee (AGM year) 600,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 230,000 - 230,000

Remuneration for committee work 32,500 100,000 20,000 20,000 12,500 - 12,500

Independent of the Company and its manage-
ment

yes yes yes yes yes yes yes

Independent of the principal owner yes yes yes yes yes no yes

Attendance at Board meetings (9) 9 9 9 6 1) 6 1) 9 9

Attendance at Audit Committee meetings (5) 5 5 5 3 1) - - -

Attendance at Remuneration Committee meetings 
(X)

3 - - - 3 3 3

Shares held at 31 December 2017 2) 61,182 34,990 2,894,610 1,956 - - 169,866

1) Kirsi Komi and Monica Lingegård were elected at the 2017 AGM and have attended all meetings since their election to the Board. 
2) Total shareholding – own, through related parties, endowment insurance and in companies.

Remuneration, Board attendance and holdings
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Remuneration of Group management
The guidelines on remuneration and other conditions of employment 
for the CEO and other senior executives were adopted at the AGM 
on 18 May 2017. The guidelines cover remuneration of the CEO and 
other members of Group management. 

Remuneration of members of Group management shall consist 
of a fixed salary, possible variable salary, pension and other benefits. 
Total remuneration shall be market-based and competitive and reflect 
the individual’s performance and responsibility.

Fixed and variable salary
Members of Humana’s Group management may qualify for variable 
pay in addition to their fixed salary. Variable pay may consist of an 
annual variable cash salary and long-term variable salary in the form 
of cash, shares and/or share-related instruments in Humana. Payment 
of variable cash salary shall be subject to the fulfilment of defined 
and measurable targets, and shall not exceed 30 percent of the annual 
fixed salary. The terms and conditions for variable salary should 
enable the Board to limit or withhold payment of variable salary in 
the event of exceptional economic circumstances, if such a measure is 
considered reasonable. 

In special cases, one-time remuneration may be paid, provided 
such remuneration does not exceed an amount corresponding to the 
individual’s annual fixed salary and maximum variable cash salary, 
and is not paid more than once a year for the individual in question. 

The notice period shall be six months, whether the termination is 
initiated by the Company or the senior executive. If the period of service 
exceeds five years, the notice period from the Company is extended to 
twelve months, while the notice period from the senior executive remains 
six months. Termination benefits may be payable to senior executives 
whose length of service exceeds five years, but with a maximum amount 
corresponding to six months’ salary. Termination benefit agreements are 
made separately following a decision by the Remuneration Committee. 

Other benefits
Humana offers other benefits to Group management in accordance 
with local practice. Examples of other benefits include company cars, 
occupational health services and wellness programmes. 

Pension
Members of management are entitled to retirement benefits based on 
what is customary in their country of employment. 

Deviations from the guidelines
The Board of Directors is entitled to deviate from the guidelines adopt-
ed by the AGM if there are particular reasons for doing so in an indi-
vidual case. If the Board deviates from the defined guidelines, it will be 
required to explain the reason for the deviation at the next AGM. 

Board proposals for new guidelines on  
remuneration of Group management
No changes to the guidelines on remuneration and other conditions 
of employment for Group management are being proposed to the 
2018 AGM.

Name Position
Member of Group 
management since

Employed by 
Humana since

Shares held 31  
December 2017 3)

Number of warrants 
31 December 2017

Rasmus Nerman President and CEO 2014 1) 2014 144,473 239,616

Ulf Bonnevier Executive Vice President/CFO 2012 2012 160,436 191,691

Anna Giertz Skablova Director of Human Resources 2017 2017 - -

Claus Forum Business Area Manager, Individual & Family 2011 2011 160,436 206,688

Cecilia Lannebo Head of Investor Relations 2015 2014 2) - -

Mona Lien Business Area Manager, Norway 2014 1) 2014 19,098 107,826

Eva Nilsson Bågenholm Director of Quality Assurance 2015 2015 3,682 23,961

Helena Pharmanson Director of Marketing and Communications 2010 2010 96,504 114,033

Eva-Lotta Sandberg Business Area Manager, Elderly Care 2013 2012 80,459 114,033

Harald Wessman Business Area Manager, Personal Assistance 2008 2008 660,201 114,033

1)  Rasmus Nerman was previously President and CEO of INOM Group, which was acquired by Humana in 2014. Mona Lien also joined Humana from INOM Group, where she 
was head of Norwegian operations. 

2) Contracted as Head of Investor Relations since August 2014.
3) Total shareholding – own, through related parties, endowment insurance and in companies.

Humana’s Group management 2017

Incentive programmes 
Humana has two long-term incentive programmes: one for eight 
of the Company’s senior executives and another for 165 other 
Humana employees. The purpose of the incentive programmes is 
to encourage a broad shareholding among Humana employees, 
facilitate recruitment, retain competent employees and increase the 
motivation to achieve or exceed Humana’s financial targets. The 
programmes comprise a warrant programme and a share savings 
programme. 

The warrant programme, which is for eight members of Group 
management, comprises 1,440,420 warrants entitling holders to 
subscribe for the same number of new Humana shares. In the event 
of full subscription, dilution will be about 2.6 percent of the total 
number of Humana shares. The warrants have been issued in three 
series with different maturities. 

The share savings programme is for 165 Humana employees. Par-
ticipants in the programme have used their own funds to purchase 
Humana shares at the market price on the stock exchange. Those 
who retain their savings shares over the programme’s three-year 
period will receive matching shares for each savings share acquired 
at the end of those three years. At full allotment, the total number 
of shares amounts to a maximum of 89,000, corresponding to 
approximately 0.1 percent of the total number of shares outstanding 
in the Company.

Sustainability work and governance at Humana
At Humana, sustainability governance and work are an integral 
part of the Company’s business model and corporate governance. 
Sustainability is closely connected with how the Company creates 
value and acts as a quality provider in the care industry. Huma-
na considers this work to be about making a major contribution 
to society, and to the Company’s customers, clients, contractors, 
employees and other stakeholders. The work is based on Humana’s 
core values, our well-defined objectives and our code of conduct. 
For Humana, sustainability issues are an integral part of the busi-
ness. Responsibility for overall strategies, objectives, measures and 
monitoring lies with Group management. Management reports to 
the Board, which monitors progress and is involved in driving the 
work forward. To ensure integration of the work, it is important that 
Humana’s individual business areas have their own operational 
responsibility for driving and following up local sustainability efforts. 
Read more about Humana’s sustainability report on pages 18-27.
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The Board’s report on internal control 

The purpose of internal control is to look at the current situation with the help of structured 
analyses and monitoring, and to use this as a basis for assessing which risks are significant and 
which ones should be managed with effective controls. Everything cannot, and should not, be 
equally controlled in an effective organisation; instead, it is about managing relevant risks by 
keeping one step ahead, thereby reducing the Company’s overall risk exposure.

According to the Swedish Companies Act and the Swedish Corpo-
rate Governance Code, Humana’s Board is ultimately responsible 
for ensuring the Company’s organisation is structured in such a way 
as to allow satisfactory monitoring and control of financial report-
ing, administration and operations. Humana’s CEO has delegated 
responsibility to the CFO for implementing and maintaining formal 
procedures that ensure compliance with established principles on fi-
nancial reporting and internal control. However, it is each employee’s 
responsibility to participate in internal governance and control. This 
includes complying with the financial manual and performing the 
controls that have been established to prevent, discover and deal with 
discrepancies and errors. 

Responsibility for internal control 
At Humana, internal governance and control is an integral part of 
the Company’s corporate governance. To clarify and create a structure 
for how the organisation manages its risks and who is responsible 
for what in Humana’s risk management, internal governance and 
controls, the Company works on the basis of a model with three lines 
of responsibility for its control work. 

Group management

Board/Audit Committee

Regulatory fram
ew

ork

External audit

First line of  
responsibility
-  Regular operational 

monitoring
-  Internal controls 
-  Manuals 
-  Instructions

Second line of 
responsibility
-  Financial controls
-  Safety and security
-  Quality controls
-  Inspections
-  Risk monitoring

Third line of 
responsibility
-  Internal audit

At the top, the Board is ultimately responsible for the organisation, 
and defines policies for risk management based on owner preferences 
and directives. The organisation's President and CEO is subordinate 
to the Board and formally responsible for day-to-day management.

First line of responsibility: 
Humana is a decentralised company that allows the individual a large 
measure of responsibility and freedom on a day-to-day basis to make 
decisions that help to improve and make life easier for the Company’s 
customers and clients. The first line of responsibility in the process of 
managing operational risks is therefore the organisation in day-to-day 
operations, which includes regional managers, unit managers, super-
visors and employees in the business operations. They are owners 
of their own risks and are responsible for working on daily internal 
control by identifying, evaluating, controlling and mitigating risks, 
and ensuring that policies and governing documents are understood 
and followed. They set up appropriate control activities and ensure 
that these are carried out correctly. Effectiveness is dependent on key 
factors such as corporate culture and the sense of right and wrong 
that management establishes in the business, as well as the clarity of 
employees’ responsibility for their work. 

Second line of responsibility:
The second line of responsibility is more functionally oriented. This 
involves Humana’s functions that work specifically on monitoring 
risk-taking. Their task is to ensure compliance with the Board’s 
level of risk-taking in the first line, which is achieved by setting 
requirements, defining instructions and policies, and monitoring 
compliance. These functions are not responsible for operation of the 
business, but serve in a support and monitoring capacity. Humana 
has an efficient quality assurance function that works continuously to 
prevent and reduce risks in the business. In its financial organisation, 
the Company also has a function that works on risk control and 
compliance. This function helps to develop processes related to risk 
management and internal governance and control, and is responsible 
for monitoring the work of the first line. 

Third line of responsibility:
The third line includes the internal audit function, which works on 
behalf of the Board and reviews the work of the first and second lines. 
Humana’s internal control is conducted through internal monitoring 
and self-assessment. The results are reported to the Board. On the 
basis of the Audit Committee’s assessment, the Board has decided 
against appointing a separate internal audit function. The Compa-
ny believes that the stronger quality management system and the 
controls in each business area and in the financial function provide 
the required control and monitoring. However, the Board assesses the 
need for an internal audit function every year. 

Internal control system – COSO model
Humana’s internal control structure follows the COSO framework 
principles. The framework is based on five main components that 
together allow good internal control: Control environment, risk 
assessment, control activities, information and communication, and 
monitoring. From the model’s components, several development 
priority areas have been identified in the internal control work. 

Facts about COSO
COSO is an abbreviation of Committee of Sponsoring Organisa-
tions of the Treadway Commission and is the organisation behind 
the COSO cube. The cube represents a framework for evaluating 
and working on an organisation’s internal governance and control 
in terms of operational goals, reporting, and compliance with laws 
and regulations. It is suitable for any business wanting to evaluate 
and develop its internal governance and control.

Control environment
The Board is responsible for establishing an effective system of inter-
nal control and manages the work through the CEO. Members of 
Humana’s Group management work within their respective functions 
and areas of responsibility to spread, influence and increase employ-
ees’ knowledge and responsibilities in the area of control. An efficient 
control environment involves a clear organisational structure, 
decision-making channels, shared values in terms of ethics, morality 
and integrity, and authority that is clearly defined and communicated 
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through governing documents. Examples of Humana’s governing 
documents include policies, guidelines, manuals, instructions and the 
Code of Conduct. Humana’s quality management work is central to the 
business and includes quality management systems, systematic mon-
itoring and control. Humana systematically invests in strengthening 
and developing its capital structure. With regular investments, Humana 
increases its competitiveness, while the Company reduces its level of 
operational risk. Important elements of Humana’s control environment 
and the process of building long-term structural capital include:
•  A strong corporate culture with well-grounded values that permeate  

the Company 
  Through a well-established corporate culture with shared values, 

Humana’s employees are given a clear direction and mandate to 
work on personalised interaction with a focus on solutions in 
 everyday life.

• Clear guidelines on ethics and morality
  To further strengthen the work, a Group-wide Code of Conduct 

has been drawn up and implemented. A diversity and inclusion 
policy has also been produced during the year. 

• Extensive quality-assurance work at all levels of the Company
  Implementation of a common quality management system began 

during the year. 
• Group-wide policies in several key areas such as employees, 

 communication, diversity and transparency
  Several policies have been drawn up and integrated into internal 

control work during the year. Examples of policies that have been 
further developed and/or introduced during the year include a 
quality policy, environmental policy, work environment policy, and 
diversity and inclusion policy. 

• A decentralised organisational structure with clear delegation of 
 authority and responsibility

  The HR function is currently analysing whether the right skills and 
succession planning for these skills are in place for key positions in 
the Company. 

• Constant skills supply 
  Humana Academy provides traditional training and web-based in-

teractive training, both for its own employees and for municipalities 
and colleagues in the sector. 

In addition, Humana has a number of governing documents de-
signed to support and help all employees to act in accordance with 
Humana’s internal rules and guidelines. Governing documents on 
accounting and financial reporting cover areas of particular impor-
tance in working to establish correct, complete and up-to-date ac-
counting, reporting and information disclosure. The financial manual 
is Humana’s central governance document with respect to guidelines 
for achieving good internal governance and control over financial 
reporting. As Humana is an acquisition-driven company, an essential 
part of the integration process involves ensuring that values and the 
control environment in general are aligned with Humana’s guidelines. 

Risk assessment
Risks and risk management in Humana’s operations are described 
in more detail in the section entitled Risks and risk management on 
pages 58-61. The specific financial risks are described in more detail 
in note G21. 

Humana continuously updates its analysis of risks that may lead to 
errors in financial reporting. A Group-wide analysis of risks of errors 
in financial reporting is conducted annually. The risk reviews identify 
a number of items in the financial statements and administrative 
flows and processes where the risk of errors is more substantial. 

Control activities
Humana regularly conducts control activities for the significant risks 
that have been identified. The Company’s CFO is responsible for 
ensuring that identified risks associated with financial reporting at 
Group level are managed. The control activities follow the struc-
ture of the reporting process and financial organisation. Each unit’s 
reporting is validated and checked in the local accounting stage 
before being transferred to the business areas and Group finance for 
consolidation. Controllers and financial managers in each business 
area make budgets, update forecasts and analyse outcomes. The 
checks and reports may be subject to special investigations where 
necessary. All business areas submit their financial results in monthly 
written reports. 

Information and Communication
Humana’s Board receives monthly financial reports on the Group’s 
financial position and financial performance. The Board deals with all 
quarterly and annual reports before they are published externally and 
monitors the audit of internal control and financial reports. 

Humana’s communication and information channels enable 
prompt communication of information to relevant employees. Gov-
erning documents in the form of policies, guidelines and manuals, in 
the case of financial reporting, are primarily communicated through 
the intranet and the Group’s financial manual. The financial manual 
is updated regularly as required. In addition to written communi-
cation, there are also verbal discussions of news, risks, outcomes of 
controls and other matters during regular meetings and at the annual 
financial conference. Communication also takes the form of monthly 
closing accounts meetings which are attended by all financial manag-
ers. Individual employees have a responsibility to report discrepancies 
and deviations that are discovered in controls, even if they have been 
remedied. The aim is to provide a good picture of how the work is 
conducted and to be able to make improvements to the processes. 

For communication with internal and external parties, there is a 
communication policy which provides guidelines on how this com-
munication should take place. The purpose of the policy is to ensure 
full and correct compliance with all information obligations. Up-to-
date information is communicated to external parties on Humana’s 
financial website, with the publication of news and press releases. 
Quarterly reports are published externally and are supplemented 
by webcasts, presentations and investor meetings. There is also an 
agenda for communication with shareholders in connection with the 
Annual General Meeting. 

Monitoring 
Each unit manager and financial organisation is ultimately respon-
sible for ongoing monitoring of the financial information for the 
unit. The information undergoes further monitoring at the business 
area level, by corporate functions, by Group management and finally 
the by Board. A compilation of identified actions and their status 
is reported to the Board as part of the ongoing work of the Audit 
Committee. Humana’s Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring 
compliance with the Company’s financial reporting and internal con-
trol, and ensuring the Company’s financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with the law, applicable financial reporting standards and 
other listing requirements. 

70 | Humana Annual Report 2017

Introduction Contributing to better care Responsible care provider Our care work Legal annual report



Corporate Governance Report

            I can say with pride that our 
customers and their relatives are very 
satisfied, that we offer qualitative 
elderly housing and that we provide  
a good working environment for  
our employees. 
Per Båtelson, Chairman 
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Board of Directors

Per Båtelson Helen Fasth Gillstedt Per Granath Kirsi Komi Monica Lingegård Lloyd Perry Ulrika Östlund

Position Born 1950. Chairman of the Board 
since 2014, Director since 2008. 
Chair of Remuneration Committee 
and member of Audit Committee. 

Born 1962. Director since 2014. 
Chair of Audit Committee. 

Born 1954. Director since 2006. 
Member of Audit Committee. 

Born 1963. Director since 2017. 
Member of Audit Committee. 

Born 1962. Director since  
2017. Member of Remuneration 
Committee. 

Born 1965. Director since 2008. 
Member of Remuneration  
Committee. 

Born 1968. Director since 2014. 
Member of Remuneration  
Committee. 

Education Engineering Physics, Chalmers  
University of Technology. Studies  
in business economics, University  
of Gothenburg. 

M.Sc. Econ., Stockholm School of 
Economics. Studies in Sustainable  
Community Development at  
Stockholm University and the  
Royal Institute of Technology. 

M.Sc. Chemistry, Royal Institute of 
Technology. Economics studies at the 
School of Business, Economics and 
Law, University of Gothenburg, and 
Stockholm University. Healthcare 
Management at Harvard Business 
School, Paris. 

LL.M Master of Laws, University  
of Helsinki.

M.Sc. Econ., Stockholm University. MBA, University of Chicago, 
Graduate School of Business. 
B.A. Economics and History, 
Northwestern University,  
Evanston, Illinois. 

Studies in Systems Science with com-
plementary studies in economics, 
Mid-Sweden University, Östersund. 

Other current assignments Chairman of IVBAR AB and IES AB 
(Internationella Engelska Skolan i 
Sverige AB). Director of Polybiocept 
AB, Cellovos AB and MedGroup Oy. 

Director of Munters AB, 
Handelsbanken Fonder AB and 
Samhall AB. Member of the  
Advisory Board for Save the 
Children Sweden. Own company  
in business development. 

Chairman of Aktiebolaget Salktennis. 
Director of Capacent Holding (publ), 
Svefa Holding AB (publ) and G & S 
Fastigheter i Sverige AB. 

Director of Metsä Board Oyj,  
Bittium Oyj, Finnvera Oyj, Martela 
Oyj and Citycon Oyj. Chairman 
of Docrates Cancer Center in 
Helsinki and Finland’s Röda Korsets 
Blodtjänst. Director of the Directors’ 
Institute Finland. 

CEO of Samhall. Chairman of 
Svenska Rymdaktiebolaget. Director 
of Nobina, Orio, Svenskt Näringsliv 
and Almega. 

Managing Partner, Argan Capital 
Advisors LLP (UK). Chairman of 
GCE Group AB (Sweden). Member 
of the Supervisory Board of AAT 
Holding SA (Poland), DHI Company 
SAS (France) and Hortex Holding  
SA (Poland). 

Director and owner of Q-it AB. 

Professional experience and  
previous assignments

Chairman of Apoteket AB (publ) 
and SCI Innovation AB. Director and 
CEO of Global Health Partner AB. 
Director of Permobil AB, Mediatech 
AB and Unilabs Holding AB. Former 
Director and CEO of Capio AB. 

Directorships include Intrum Justitia 
AB, AcadeMedia AB, NAI Svefa 
Holding AB, Lindorff AB, Swede-
survey AB, Precise Biometrics and 
neXus Technology AB. Executive 
positions in the SAS Group and the 
Statoil Group. 

President and CEO of Humana 2006-
2015. Chairman of Resurs Bemanning 
AB (publ). Director of Akademiska Hus 
AB and GustaviaDavegårdh Holding 
AB. President and CEO of Intellecta 
AB (publ), 2003-2006. Vice President 
Handelsbanken Capital Markets, in 
charge of healthcare and services 
sectors, 2000-2003. 

Vice Chairman Patria. Chairman 
Veikkaus. Experience from various 
positions in the Nokia Group. 

Director of Wireless Maingate, 
Swedish International Development 
Cooperation Agency (SIDA) and 
Iiox. CEO of G4S.

Director of IX Europe (UK). 
Managing Partner of BA Capital 
Partners Europe. Vice Chairman of 
BA Partners Inc. Associate at Bear, 
Stearns & Co. 

Chairman of Vårdföretagarna. 
Director of Almega AB and 
the Confederation of Swedish 
Enterprise. Director and CEO 
of Elina Management AB and 
Familjeforum Holding AB. Director 
of Öjebo gruppbostad i Järvsö AB. 
CEO of INOM – Innovativ Omsorg i 
Norden AB. 
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Per Båtelson Helen Fasth Gillstedt Per Granath Kirsi Komi Monica Lingegård Lloyd Perry Ulrika Östlund

Position Born 1950. Chairman of the Board 
since 2014, Director since 2008. 
Chair of Remuneration Committee 
and member of Audit Committee. 

Born 1962. Director since 2014. 
Chair of Audit Committee. 

Born 1954. Director since 2006. 
Member of Audit Committee. 

Born 1963. Director since 2017. 
Member of Audit Committee. 

Born 1962. Director since  
2017. Member of Remuneration 
Committee. 

Born 1965. Director since 2008. 
Member of Remuneration  
Committee. 

Born 1968. Director since 2014. 
Member of Remuneration  
Committee. 

Education Engineering Physics, Chalmers  
University of Technology. Studies  
in business economics, University  
of Gothenburg. 

M.Sc. Econ., Stockholm School of 
Economics. Studies in Sustainable  
Community Development at  
Stockholm University and the  
Royal Institute of Technology. 

M.Sc. Chemistry, Royal Institute of 
Technology. Economics studies at the 
School of Business, Economics and 
Law, University of Gothenburg, and 
Stockholm University. Healthcare 
Management at Harvard Business 
School, Paris. 

LL.M Master of Laws, University  
of Helsinki.

M.Sc. Econ., Stockholm University. MBA, University of Chicago, 
Graduate School of Business. 
B.A. Economics and History, 
Northwestern University,  
Evanston, Illinois. 

Studies in Systems Science with com-
plementary studies in economics, 
Mid-Sweden University, Östersund. 

Other current assignments Chairman of IVBAR AB and IES AB 
(Internationella Engelska Skolan i 
Sverige AB). Director of Polybiocept 
AB, Cellovos AB and MedGroup Oy. 

Director of Munters AB, 
Handelsbanken Fonder AB and 
Samhall AB. Member of the  
Advisory Board for Save the 
Children Sweden. Own company  
in business development. 

Chairman of Aktiebolaget Salktennis. 
Director of Capacent Holding (publ), 
Svefa Holding AB (publ) and G & S 
Fastigheter i Sverige AB. 

Director of Metsä Board Oyj,  
Bittium Oyj, Finnvera Oyj, Martela 
Oyj and Citycon Oyj. Chairman 
of Docrates Cancer Center in 
Helsinki and Finland’s Röda Korsets 
Blodtjänst. Director of the Directors’ 
Institute Finland. 

CEO of Samhall. Chairman of 
Svenska Rymdaktiebolaget. Director 
of Nobina, Orio, Svenskt Näringsliv 
and Almega. 

Managing Partner, Argan Capital 
Advisors LLP (UK). Chairman of 
GCE Group AB (Sweden). Member 
of the Supervisory Board of AAT 
Holding SA (Poland), DHI Company 
SAS (France) and Hortex Holding  
SA (Poland). 

Director and owner of Q-it AB. 

Professional experience and  
previous assignments

Chairman of Apoteket AB (publ) 
and SCI Innovation AB. Director and 
CEO of Global Health Partner AB. 
Director of Permobil AB, Mediatech 
AB and Unilabs Holding AB. Former 
Director and CEO of Capio AB. 

Directorships include Intrum Justitia 
AB, AcadeMedia AB, NAI Svefa 
Holding AB, Lindorff AB, Swede-
survey AB, Precise Biometrics and 
neXus Technology AB. Executive 
positions in the SAS Group and the 
Statoil Group. 

President and CEO of Humana 2006-
2015. Chairman of Resurs Bemanning 
AB (publ). Director of Akademiska Hus 
AB and GustaviaDavegårdh Holding 
AB. President and CEO of Intellecta 
AB (publ), 2003-2006. Vice President 
Handelsbanken Capital Markets, in 
charge of healthcare and services 
sectors, 2000-2003. 

Vice Chairman Patria. Chairman 
Veikkaus. Experience from various 
positions in the Nokia Group. 

Director of Wireless Maingate, 
Swedish International Development 
Cooperation Agency (SIDA) and 
Iiox. CEO of G4S.

Director of IX Europe (UK). 
Managing Partner of BA Capital 
Partners Europe. Vice Chairman of 
BA Partners Inc. Associate at Bear, 
Stearns & Co. 

Chairman of Vårdföretagarna. 
Director of Almega AB and 
the Confederation of Swedish 
Enterprise. Director and CEO 
of Elina Management AB and 
Familjeforum Holding AB. Director 
of Öjebo gruppbostad i Järvsö AB. 
CEO of INOM – Innovativ Omsorg i 
Norden AB. 
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Group management

Rasmus  
Nerman

Ulf  
Bonnevier

Claus  
Forum

Anna Giertz 
Skablova

Cecilia  
Lannebo

Mona  
Lien

Eva Nilsson  
Bågenholm

Helena  
Pharmanson

Eva-Lotta  
Sandberg

Harald  
Wessman

Position Born 1978. President 
and CEO since 2015. 
Deputy CEO since 
2014. Former Busi-
ness Area Manager, 
Individual & Family. 

Born 1964. CFO 
since 2012. Deputy 
CEO since 2016.

Born 1965. Business 
Area Manager, 
Individual & Family, 
since 2014. Former 
Business Area Man-
ager, Norway. 

Born 1970. Director 
of Human Resources 
since 2017.

Born 1973.  
Contracted as Head 
of Investor Relations 
since 2014.

Born 1962. Country  
Manager, Norway.

Born 1960. Director of 
Quality Assurance since 
2015. 

Born 1966. Director of 
Marketing and Communi-
cations since 2010.

Born 1971. Business Area 
Manager, Elderly Care, 
since 2013. Business 
Development Manager 
2012-2013.

Born 1956. Business  
Area Manager, Personal 
Assistance since 2008. 

Education M.Sc. Econ., 
Stockholm School 
of Economics. M.Sc. 
in International 
Leadership, CEMS 
MIM.

M.Sc. Econ., special-
ising in accounting 
and auditing, 
Uppsala University. 
Stockholm School  
of Economics IFL 
Executive Education. 

M.Sc. in international 
social work and ped-
agogic leadership, 
University of Gothen-
burg. Teaching certif-
icate, Lärarhögskolan 
i Jelling. 

MBA in General 
Management at 
Rotterdam School 
of Management, 
Erasmus University 
(Netherlands) and 
M.Sc. in linguistics.

M.Sc. in Business  
Administration and  
International Market-
ing from the University  
of Mälardalen and 
Wirtschafts University 
in Vienna. 

B.A. Political Science 
and Psychology, Oslo 
University and Trondheim. 
Management programme 
at BI Norwegian Business 
School. 

Nursing Degree, Umeå 
University. Medical Doctor 
degree, University of  
Gothenburg. Licensed  
physician, specialist in 
internal medicine. 

International MBA, 
Uppsala University. 
Directors’ programme  
at Stockholm Chamber  
of Commerce. 

B.Sc. Economics, University 
of Gävle. Knowledge Man-
agement studies at Luleå 
University of Technology. 
Stockholm School of 
Economics IFL Executive 
Education. 

M.Sc. Econ., Stockholm 
School of Economics.  
MBA, Ivey Business  
School, Canada.

Other current assignments - Director of Karnov 
Group AB. 

- - Director and 
founder of i-Core 
Communications 
AB. Deputy director 
of Zubizuri AB. IR 
Manager Balco 
Group AB. 

Member of NHO Service. Director of Stiftelsen 
Danviks Hospital and 
Oriola-KD AB. 

- Director of Vårdföretagar-
na Bransch Äldreomsorg 
and Robotdalen. 

-

Professional experience 
and previous assignments

President and CEO  
of INOM Group. 
Management  
consultant in health-
care, The Boston 
Consulting Group. 
Director of Vård-
företagarna Bransch 
Individ & Familj.

Country Manager 
of Ipsos in Sweden. 
CFO Western Europe 
at Synovate. CEO 
of Wolters Kluwer in 
Scandinavia.

Chairman and CEO 
of Vindora Utbildning 
AB. CEO of Nord-
stenen AB.

HR Director for Tieto 
AB and Teligent AB. 
Consultant at PA 
Consulting.

Director of Fond-
Prinsen AB. Head of 
Investor Relations 
at Eniro AB, Hakon 
Invest AB, RNB Retail 
and Brands AB and 
LeoVegas AB. 

CEO Løft AS, Head of 
Business Development, 
INOM Norway. 

Specialist physician at 
Sahlgrenska University 
Hospital. Chairman of 
the Swedish Medical 
Association. Swedish 
government national 
coordinator for the 
elderly 2011-2014. 
Government investigator, 
Plastic Surgery Study 
(Skönhetsutredningen) 
2015. 

Sales Director, Pfizer  
Sverige AB. Various mar-
keting and sales roles at 
Pfizer and Pharmacia. 

CEO and deputy director 
of AffärsConcept i Stock-
holm AB. Co-author of 
the publication Strategiska 
Offentliga inköp (2010 
and 2013).

CEO of several small 
companies, management 
consultant at McKinsey, 
management positions 
in organisational 
development and HR  
at Electrolux. 
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Position Born 1978. President 
and CEO since 2015. 
Deputy CEO since 
2014. Former Busi-
ness Area Manager, 
Individual & Family. 

Born 1964. CFO 
since 2012. Deputy 
CEO since 2016.

Born 1965. Business 
Area Manager, 
Individual & Family, 
since 2014. Former 
Business Area Man-
ager, Norway. 

Born 1970. Director 
of Human Resources 
since 2017.

Born 1973.  
Contracted as Head 
of Investor Relations 
since 2014.

Born 1962. Country  
Manager, Norway.

Born 1960. Director of 
Quality Assurance since 
2015. 

Born 1966. Director of 
Marketing and Communi-
cations since 2010.

Born 1971. Business Area 
Manager, Elderly Care, 
since 2013. Business 
Development Manager 
2012-2013.

Born 1956. Business  
Area Manager, Personal 
Assistance since 2008. 

Education M.Sc. Econ., 
Stockholm School 
of Economics. M.Sc. 
in International 
Leadership, CEMS 
MIM.

M.Sc. Econ., special-
ising in accounting 
and auditing, 
Uppsala University. 
Stockholm School  
of Economics IFL 
Executive Education. 

M.Sc. in international 
social work and ped-
agogic leadership, 
University of Gothen-
burg. Teaching certif-
icate, Lärarhögskolan 
i Jelling. 

MBA in General 
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Erasmus University 
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M.Sc. in Business  
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ing from the University  
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Management programme 
at BI Norwegian Business 
School. 

Nursing Degree, Umeå 
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degree, University of  
Gothenburg. Licensed  
physician, specialist in 
internal medicine. 

International MBA, 
Uppsala University. 
Directors’ programme  
at Stockholm Chamber  
of Commerce. 

B.Sc. Economics, University 
of Gävle. Knowledge Man-
agement studies at Luleå 
University of Technology. 
Stockholm School of 
Economics IFL Executive 
Education. 

M.Sc. Econ., Stockholm 
School of Economics.  
MBA, Ivey Business  
School, Canada.

Other current assignments - Director of Karnov 
Group AB. 

- - Director and 
founder of i-Core 
Communications 
AB. Deputy director 
of Zubizuri AB. IR 
Manager Balco 
Group AB. 

Member of NHO Service. Director of Stiftelsen 
Danviks Hospital and 
Oriola-KD AB. 

- Director of Vårdföretagar-
na Bransch Äldreomsorg 
and Robotdalen. 

-
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President and CEO  
of INOM Group. 
Management  
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care, The Boston 
Consulting Group. 
Director of Vård-
företagarna Bransch 
Individ & Familj.
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of Ipsos in Sweden. 
CFO Western Europe 
at Synovate. CEO 
of Wolters Kluwer in 
Scandinavia.
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AB. CEO of Nord-
stenen AB.
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AB and Teligent AB. 
Consultant at PA 
Consulting.
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at Eniro AB, Hakon 
Invest AB, RNB Retail 
and Brands AB and 
LeoVegas AB. 

CEO Løft AS, Head of 
Business Development, 
INOM Norway. 
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Sahlgrenska University 
Hospital. Chairman of 
the Swedish Medical 
Association. Swedish 
government national 
coordinator for the 
elderly 2011-2014. 
Government investigator, 
Plastic Surgery Study 
(Skönhetsutredningen) 
2015. 

Sales Director, Pfizer  
Sverige AB. Various mar-
keting and sales roles at 
Pfizer and Pharmacia. 

CEO and deputy director 
of AffärsConcept i Stock-
holm AB. Co-author of 
the publication Strategiska 
Offentliga inköp (2010 
and 2013).

CEO of several small 
companies, management 
consultant at McKinsey, 
management positions 
in organisational 
development and HR  
at Electrolux. 
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Note G1 General information
Humana AB is a Swedish-registered limited liability company with its registered 
office in Stockholm. Humana is a public company. The address of the head offices is 
Warfvinges väg 39, SE-112 51 Stockholm, Sweden. The Company’s shares were 
admitted to trading on Nasdaq Stockholm on 22 March 2016.

The consolidated financial statements cover the Parent Company and its subsidi-
aries (see Note G24), together referred to as the Group. The Group runs care oper-
ations in the Individual & Family, Personal Assistance, Elderly Care and Other 
Nordics segments.

Humana AB is 39.2 percent owned by Air Syndication S.C.A. (corporate identity 
number B 133.432, Luxembourg).

The financial statements were approved for publication by the Board of Directors 
and CEO on 3 April 2018. The annual report will be presented for adoption at the 
AGM on 16 May 2018.

Note G2  General accounting policies  
and estimates

General accounting policies
Conformity with standards and laws
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the Interpretations issued by the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by the EU. In addition, the Swedish 
Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 1 Supplementary Accounting 
Rules for Groups has been applied.

Basis of preparation
Assets and liabilities are measured at historical cost, apart from certain financial 
assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value. Financial assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value consist of derivative instruments and contingent considera-
tions from acquisitions. 

Functional currency and presentation currency
The Parent Company’s functional currency is the Swedish krona (SEK). The presenta-
tion currency for the Parent Company and the Group is also the Swedish krona. All 
amounts are rounded to the nearest SEK million unless stated otherwise.

Accounting estimates
Preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to 
make accounting estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the 
accounting policies and the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. The actual outcome may differ from these accounting estimates.

Accounting estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly. Changes in 
accounting estimates are recognised prospectively. 

Critical accounting estimates made by management that have a significant 
impact on the financial statements and may entail a material adjustment in the 
future are mainly related to goodwill impairment testing and the preparation of 
acquisition analyses. 

Goodwill impairment testing
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. These tests involve calculations that are 
based on management's assumptions about growth rates, operating margins and 
discount rates.

In 2015, the Swedish government commissioned an inquiry “Order in the welfare 
sector” (SOU 2016:78), the purpose of which was to ensure that public funds are 
used for the intended activity and that any surplus should, as a general principle, be 
returned to the activity in which it originated.

 The first progress report was presented in November 2016, and included the 
commission of inquiry’s proposed new methods to restrict freedom of choice and 
diversity, and a proposal on how to limit profits in activities related to permit require-
ments for conducting publicly funded activities within welfare. The proposal is based 
on prohibiting operating profit from exceeding a fixed percentage of working capital 
plus the government borrowing rate.

The proposal has attracted very strong criticism from many quarters and has now 
reached the Swedish Council on Legislation (Lagrådet), which agrees with the criti-
cism. A majority of members of the Swedish parliament have currently indicated that 
they do not intend to support proposals aimed at introducing profit limits or restrict-
ing freedom of choice and diversity. 

Current regulations were applied during the year’s impairment testing. 
Assessments other than those made by the company may lead to completely differ-
ent results and financial position. More information on impairment testing can be 
found in Note G12. 

Fair value measurement in acquisition accounting
When a subsidiary or operation is acquired, an acquisition analysis is prepared, 
which includes an assessment of the fair values of assets and liabilities. These assets 
and liabilities are valued using various measurement methods. Assessments other 
than those made by management may result in a different future position. A high 
proportion of goodwill, for example, gives rise to an asset item that is subject to 
annual impairment testing rather than ongoing amortisation. More information 
about acquisition analyses can be found in Note G5.

For more detailed accounting policies, see the Significant Accounting Policies sec-
tion on page 90.

Note G3 Segment reporting
The Group’s operations are divided into operating segments based on components 
of the business that are reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO), who are the Company’s chief operating decision makers. 
This is referred to as the management approach. The Group’s operations are 
organised in such a way that CEO and CFO review the results of each business 
area. The business areas are also operating segments. Each operating segment in 
Sweden has a manager who is responsible for the day-to-day operations and regu-
larly reports the results of the segment’s performance to the CEO and CFO. Other 
Nordics has one manager per country. The Group’s internal reporting is therefore 
structured in such a way as to allow the CEO and CFO to review the business areas’ 
performance and results. However, the CEO and CFO only monitor the Group’s 
total assets, not assets by segment.

Individual & Family provides care and treatment in psychiatry and psychosocial 
change processes to clients of all age groups. This is done through operations such 
as residential care homes, temporary and regular family homes, special housing, 
outpatient care, assisted living homes, specially adapted housing for individuals with 
disabilities, and special education schools.

Personal Assistance provides care services and assistance to individuals with 
disabilities.

Elderly Care mainly consists of elderly housing, but also provides day care, flats 
adapted for the elderly, meeting places and family member services.

Other Nordics (Norway and Finland) provides care and treatment for children, 
adolescents and adults by offering various forms of living arrangements, family 
homes, outpatient care and other support. The operations comprise specialist treat-
ment in psychiatry and psychosocial change. The operations in Norway also include 
personal assistance (BPA) and special services housing (HOT). Operations in 
Finland include elderly care and LSS with effect from 2017. 

Other refers to the Group’s costs for Group-wide functions such as central admin-
istration and central project costs. It also includes income and expenses related to 
the sale and acquisition of businesses.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Income statement by segment

2017
SEK millions

Individual 
& Family

Personal 
Assistance

Elderly 
Care

Other 
Nordics Other Group

Net revenue  
– external income 2,212 2,621 521 1,188 - 6,542

Other revenue - - - - 14 14

Operating revenue 2,212 2,621 521 1,188 14 6,557

Profit before deprecia-
tion/amortisation and 
other operating 
expenses 221 163 -12 82 -59 395

Depreciation/amortisa-
tion -30 -2 -6 -20 -1 -60

Other operating expens-
es - - - - -19 -19

Operating profit 191 160 -18 62 -79 316

Finance income 4

Finance expenses -79

Unrealised changes in 
value of derivatives 9

Profit before tax 250

2016
SEK millions

Individual 
& Family

Personal 
Assistance

Elderly 
Care

Other 
Nordics Other Group

Net revenue  
– external income 2,214 2,645 580 924 - 6,362

Other revenue - - - - - -

Operating revenue 2,214 2,645 580 924 - 6,362

Profit before deprecia-
tion/amortisation and 
other operating 
expenses 238 153 -1 103 -57 436

Depreciation/ 
amortisation -26 -3 -6 -13 -2 -50

Other operating  
expenses - - - 0 -56 -57

Operating profit 211 151 -6 89 -115 329

Finance income 11

Finance expenses -140

Unrealised changes in 
value of derivatives 27

Profit before tax 228

Breakdown of revenue

Revenue by service
2017 2016

Individual & Family 3,296 3,036

Personal Assistance 2,725 2,746

Elderly Care 521 580

Other 14 -

Operating revenue 6,557 6,362

Revenue by geographic area

Group 2017 2016

Sweden 5,368 5,438

Finland 523 227

Norway 666 697

Total 6,557 6,362

Non-current assets* by geographic area

Group 2017 2016

Sweden 2,494 2,704

Finland 407 327

Norway 626 477

Total 3,527 3,508

* Non-current assets do not include financial instruments, deferred tax assets and assets 
relating to post-employment benefits.

Note G4  Other revenue and other  
operating expenses

Other revenue
2017 2016

Gain on sale of subsidiary* 14 -

Total 14 -

*Refers to the sale of property companies. 

Other operating expenses
2017 2016

Gain on sale of subsidiary* 14 -

Acquisition costs 4 16

Other 1 40

Total 19 57

*Refers to the sale of the subsidiary Humana Hemtjänst.  

Divested companies’ net assets on disposal

Property 
companies

Humana 
Hemtjänst Total

Non-current assets 115 1 116

Trade and other receivables - 40 40

Cash and cash equivalents 4 5 10

Trade and other payables -3 -25 -28

Effect of disposal on individual  
assets and liabilities

117 21 138

Consideration 132 11 142

Less assets/liabilities above -117 -21 -138

Transaction costs -1 -4 -5

Gain/loss on sale 14 -14 0

Consideration received 132 11 142

Cash and cash equivalents in divested compa-
nies -4 -5 -10

Effect on cash and cash equivalents 128 5 133

Notes
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Note G5 Acquisitions
Humana acquired 3 (7) businesses during the year, continuing its expansion in 
Other Nordics and Individual & Family. The main purpose of the acquisitions was to 
expand Humana’s Finnish operations to include elderly care and LSS. Humana has 
acquired 100 % of the shares in all of the companies.

Goodwill
The goodwill resulting from the acquisitions in 2016 and 2017 relates to employee 
expertise in treatment methods, establishment of market position, the synergies 
expected to arise when the entities are integrated with the rest of the Group, and the 
underlying profitability of the acquired businesses. No portion of the goodwill that 
arose in 2016 and 2017 is tax deductible.

Acquisitions completed in 2017:
As all the acquisitions in 2017 have been individually assessed as insignificant from 
a Group perspective, only aggregated information is presented in the table below.

Minor acquisitions
Skellefteå Stöd & Behandling AB (Individual & Family) January 2017
•   Operates assisted living home Fyren and Lotsen residential care home for boys 

aged 14-18 with psychosocial and neuropsychiatric problems (ADHD).
Nordic Senior Services Oy (Other Nordics) August 2017
•  Operates in the areas of elderly care and LSS.

Ryhmäkoti Raide Oy (Other Nordics) October 2017
•  Provides care services for children and adolescents in the Individual & Family area.

Contingent consideration
The acquisition of Ryhmäkoti Raide Oy includes a contingent consideration. The 
contingent portion of the consideration is performance-based, with a maximum pay-
ment of SEK 5 million.

Acquisition costs
Acquisition costs of SEK 4 (16) million refer to consulting and legal fees, mainly for 
financial and legal due diligence in connection with acquisitions. These are recog-
nised as other operating expenses in the income statement.

Receivables acquired
No bad debts were acquired in any of the years.

Acquisitions after the reporting date
No acquisitions were conducted after the end of the reporting period.

Net assets in acquired companies at date of acquisition

2017 SEK millions 

Minor 
acquisitions* 

and other, total

Non-current assets 26

Trade and other receivables 23

Cash and cash equivalents 2

Interest-bearing liabilities -17

Trade and other payables -23

Deferred tax liability 0

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 11

Goodwill 31

Consideration

Cash and cash equivalents 38

Contingent consideration 5

Total paid 43

Effect on cash and cash equivalents

Cash consideration paid 38

Cash and cash equivalents in acquired entities -2

Total effect on cash and cash equivalents 36

Settlement of contingent considerations attributable to acquisitions in prior years 6

Total effect on cash and cash equivalents 42

Effect on operating revenue and profit 2017

Operating revenue 44

Operating profit 6

*The acquisition analysis is preliminary since the final settlement has not been calculated.

Humana’s acquisitions in 2017 increased the Group’s revenue by SEK 44 million and operating profit for the year by SEK 6 million. If the acquisitions had been conducted on 
1 January 2017, company management estimates that consolidated revenue would have been SEK 6,604 million (SEK 48 million higher), and profit for the year would have 
been SEK 194 million (SEK 0 million higher).
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Acquisitions completed in 2016:
Kvaefjord Opplevelse og Avlastning AS,  
KOA Gruppen (Other Nordics) May 2016
•   One of the largest providers of individual and family care and special services 

housing (HOT) in Norway.
Arjessa Oy (Other Nordics) May 2016
•  Leading individual and family care provider in Finland.

Other acquisitions
Nygårds Vård Gotland AB (Individual & Family) April 2016
•    Provides accommodation with special services for adults with  

intellectual impairment.
Kilen Akut Behandlingshem AB (Individual & Family) September 2016
•  Specialises in adolescents with psychosocial problems.
FUGA Omsorg AB (Individual & Family) September 2016
•   Provides development-oriented daily activities for individuals with learning disabil-

ities, autism or Asperger syndrome.
Platea AB (Individual & Family) November 2016
• Runs residential care homes for younger children (ages 0-12) and their families.
Pienryhmäkoti Puolenhehtaarin Metsä Oy (Other Nordics) December 2016
• Provides psychosocial care and treatment for children and adolescents.

Contingent consideration
Contingent considerations were included in the acquisitions of KOA and Platea. The 
contingent portion of the consideration for KOA is performance-based, with a maxi-
mum payment of SEK 40 million. The fair value of the contingent consideration was 
calculated at SEK 18 million on the acquisition date. The acquisition of Platea also 
included a performance-based contingent consideration, with a maximum payment 
of SEK 4 million.

Net assets in acquired companies at date of acquisition

2016 SEK millions KOA Arjessa Other* Total

Non-current assets 40 48 13 100

Trade and other receivables 44 58 9 112

Cash and cash equivalents 42 23 13 78

Interest-bearing liabilities -9 -38 -5 -52

Trade and other payables -58 -74 -10 -142

Deferred tax liability 0 0 -1 -1

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 60 17 19 95

Goodwill 166 255 41 463

Consideration

Cash and cash equivalents 205 270 57 532

Contingent consideration 18 1 4 23

Total paid 223 271 61 555

Effect on cash and cash equivalents

Cash consideration paid 205 270 57 532

Cash and cash equivalents in acquired entities -42 -23 -13 -78

Total effect on cash and cash equivalents 163 247 44 454

Settlement of contingent considerations attributable to acquisitions in prior years - - 19 19

Total effect on cash and cash equivalents 163 247 63 473

Effect on operating revenue and profit 2016

Operating revenue 195 227 20 442

Operating profit 33 18 2 53

*The acquisition analysis is preliminary since the final settlement has not been calculated.

Humana’s acquisitions in 2016 increased the Group’s revenue by SEK 442 million and operating profit for the year by SEK 53 million. If the acquisitions had been conducted 
on 1 January 2016, Company management estimates that consolidated revenue would have been SEK 6,723 million (SEK 361 million higher) and profit for the year would 
have been SEK 202 million (SEK 32 million higher).

Notes
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Note G6 Other external expenses

SEK millions 2017 2016

Direct operating expenses* 272 254

Purchased services 78 80

Premises and property costs 333 279

IT expenses 82 81

Marketing expenses 25 25

Other expenses 227 244

Total other external expenses 1,016 963

* Direct operating expenses refer to the purchase of food, activities and overhead for clients 
etc.

Operating leases – Group as lessee 
The Group conducts operations in properties that are held under operating leases 
throughout the country. Future minimum lease payments under operating leases:

SEK millions 2017 2016

Within 1 year 192 168

1-5 years 692 589

After 5 years 1,029 642

Lease payments for the year 187 193

The leases have remaining terms of 2 months to 23 years (2 months to 24 years). 

Note G7  Employees, personnel costs and 
remuneration of senior executives

Personnel costs
Expenses recognised as employee benefits are distributed as follows:

SEK millions 2017 2016

Salaries and benefits 3,820 3,663

Pension costs, defined contribution plans 189 170

Social security contributions 1,007 1,059

Other personnel costs 128 72

Total 5,145 4,964

Average number of employees 
Average number  

of employees
Of which  

men, %
2017 2017

Sweden 8,631 32
Norway 742 43
Finland 629 37
Total 10,003 33

Average number  
of employees

Of which  
men, %

2016 2016
Sweden  8,993 30
Norway 659 44
Finland 260 41
Total 9,912 32

The Parent Company has only one employee, CEO Rasmus Nerman, whose remu-
neration is shown in the table “Remuneration of the Board of Directors and Group 
management” on page 81.

Pension benefit obligations
The majority of salaried employees in Sweden are covered by ITP1. A small number 
of salaried employees are covered by the ITP2 defined benefit retirement and survi-
vor pension plan, which is secured through insurance with Alecta. The premium for 
the defined benefit retirement and family pension is individually calculated and is 
dependent on factors that include salary, previously earned pension and expected 
remaining period of service. Expected fees for the next reporting period for ITP 2 
insurance policies from Alecta total SEK 21 million (SEK 21 million paid in 2017).

The collective funding ratio is the market value of Alecta’s assets as a percentage of 
insurance commitments calculated according to Alecta’s actuarial methods and 
assumptions, which are not consistent with IAS 19. The collective funding ratio is nor-
mally allowed to vary between 125 and 155 percent. If Alecta’s collective funding ratio 
falls below 125 percent or exceeds 155 percent, action should be taken to ensure the 
funding ratio returns to the normal range. If the ratio is low, one measure that can be 
taken is to raise the premium of new contracts and reduce existing benefits. If the ratio 
is high, one measure that can be taken is to introduce premium reductions. Alecta’s 
preliminary collective funding ratio for 2017 was 154 (149) percent. 

The Alecta premiums are determined by assumptions about interest rates, lon-
gevity, operating costs and yield tax, and are calculated so that payment of a con-
stant premium until the retirement date suffices for the entire target benefit, which is 
based on the insured’s current pensionable salary and which must be earned.

There is no set of rules for how deficits that may arise are to be handled, but the 
losses should primarily be covered by Alecta’s collective solvency capital, and thus 
should not lead to increased costs through higher contractual premiums. There are 
also no rules for how any surplus or deficit would be distributed in the event of liqui-
dation of the plan or a company’s withdrawal from the plan.

The Group also has certain pension commitments that are secured through 
endowment insurance, which is pledged in favour of the beneficiaries. None of the 
commitments concern senior executives. The pension provision is based on the 
value of the endowment insurance policy and therefore corresponds to the value of 
the assets in the endowment insurance policy at any given time. The obligation is 
recognised as a defined contribution plan, as Humana is not obliged to make con-
tributions and the beneficiaries bear the entire risk. At the reporting date, the value 
of assets in the endowment insurance policy was SEK 3.6 (3.6) million. No new pay-
ments are made in respect of these pension obligations.

Incentive programmes
Humana has two incentive programmes: a warrant programme for members of 
Group management and a share savings programme for other managers and 
employees. The purpose of introducing the incentive programmes is to encourage a 
broad ownership among Humana employees, facilitate recruitment, retain compe-
tent employees and increase the motivation to achieve or exceed Humana’s finan-
cial targets.

Warrants
The warrants were issued at the time of Humana’s IPO in 2016 and members of 
Group management have acquired warrants at market value since then. In total, 
1,440,420 warrants were issued and warrants not acquired by the current partici-
pants may be offered to new senior executives in the future. The warrant programme 
does not involve any cost to Humana.

Group management’s holding of warrants in Humana AB are shown in the table 
in the corporate governance report on page 68. 

The warrants have been issued in three separate series, with the following market 
value per series:

Total number
Can be exercised 

during period
Subscription 

price, SEK
Market value per 

series, SEK

Series 1 480,140 1-31 March 2018 74.40 3.72

Series 2 480,140 1-31 March 2019 77.50 4.26

Series 3 480,140 1-31 March 2020 80.60 4.54

Valuation requirements

Share price SEK 62 (IPO price)

Volatility 22%

Risk-free interest -0.42%, -0.33% and -0.22%

Humana share savings programme
In January 2017, a share savings programme was launched, enabling employees to 
purchase Humana shares. Participants invest in saving shares over a three-year peri-
od, and, subject to continuing employment, are entitled to receive matching shares at 
the end of the qualification period. Investments are at market value. In addition, per-
formance shares may be allotted to some participants, subject to the achievement of 
certain pre-defined targets during the qualification period. The share savings pro-
gramme is recognised directly in equity during the qualification period. The calcula-
tion is based on changes in value of matching shares and performance shares and is 
recognised as a provision. Assuming achievement of the performance targets, the 
total cost of the programme is expected to be SEK 7 million, of which SEK 2 million  
has been charged to the 2017 financial year. At full allotment, the employee share 
savings programme will comprise a maximum of 89,000 shares, corresponding to 
about 0.1 percent of the total number of shares outstanding in the Company. 
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Annual General Meeting’s guidelines  
on remuneration of senior executives 
The group of executives covered by the guidelines includes the CEO and other 
members of Group management.

Remuneration of members of Group management shall consist of a fixed salary, 
possible variable salary, pension and other benefits. The combined remuneration 
shall be in line with the going rate in the market and competitive. It shall also be 
commensurate with the individual’s performance and responsibility, and growth in 
the value of Humana’s share generated for shareholders.

Payment of variable cash salary shall be subject to the achievement of defined 
and measurable targets, with a maximum payment of 30 percent of the annual fixed 
salary. In special cases, agreements may be reached on remuneration of a non-
recurring nature, provided such remuneration does not exceed an amount corre-
sponding to the individual’s annual fixed salary and maximum variable cash salary, 
and is not paid more than once per year and per individual.

Retirement benefits shall be defined contribution arrangements. The notice peri-
od shall be six months, whether the termination is initiated by the Company or the 
senior executive. When the period of employment exceeds five years, the notice peri-
od from the Company increases to twelve months. Termination benefits may be pay-
able to senior executives whose length of service exceeds five years, but with a maxi-

Remuneration of the Board of Directors and Group management

2017. Salaries and benefits by type of remuneration per Board member and Group management member:

SEK thousands
Salaries and  

other benefits Bonus Other Pension Total

Board of Directors*

Maria Nilsson** 166 166

Per Båtelson, Chairman** 794 794

Ulrika Östlund 242 242

Helen Fasth Gillstedt** 411 411

Per Granath 242 242

Simon Lindfors** 157 157

Kirsi Komi 155 155

Monica Lingegård** 249 249

Total, Board 2,416 - - - 2,416

Rasmus Nerman, President and CEO 2,781 - 823 3,604

Others (9 individuals) 13,695 880 2,866 17,441

Total, Group management 16,476 880 3,689 21,045

Total, Group 18,892 880 - 3,689 23,461

* Pursuant to an AGM resolution, Board member Lloyd Perry does not receive directors’ fees. 
**Gross salary includes invoiced VAT.

2016. Salaries and benefits by type of remuneration per Board member and Group management member:

SEK thousands
Salaries and  

other benefits Bonus Other Pension Total

Board of Directors*

Maria Nilsson** 386 386

Per Båtelson, Chairman** 749 749

Ulrika Östlund 307 307

Helen Fasth Gillstedt** 517 517

Per Granath 252 252

Simon Lindfors** 348 348

Total, Board 2,560 - - - 2,560

Rasmus Nerman, President and CEO 2,711 583 1,008 4,302

Others (8 individuals) 12,366 1,520 2,528 16,414

Total, Group management 15,077 2,103 3,536 20,716

Total, Group 17,637 2,103 - 3,536 23,276

* Pursuant to an AGM resolution, Board members Wojciech Goc and Lloyd Perry do not receive directors’ fees. 
**Gross salary includes invoiced VAT.

mum amount corresponding to six months’ salary. Termination benefit agreements 
are made separately following a decision by the Remuneration Committee.

The Group has an agreement with CEO Rasmus Nerman to the effect that in the 
event of involuntary or voluntary termination of employment, the period of notice is 
six (6) months. In the event of termination by the Company, an additional remunera-
tion of six (6) fixed monthly salaries shall be paid at the end of the notice period. 
Pension is payable in accordance with the ITP1 plan and the Company does not 
have any additional retirement benefit obligations. 

Humana has established a warrant programme for eight senior executives in 
Group management, comprising 1,440,420 warrants that entitle holders to sub-
scribe for the same number of new Humana shares. If the maximum amount is sub-
scribed for, dilution will be about 2.6 percent of the total number of Humana shares. 
The warrants have been issued in three series with different maturities. See also Note 
G11 Earnings per share.

Gender distribution in Board of Directors and Group management
The Board of Directors consists of 3 (5) men and 4 (3) women.
Group management consists of 4 (4) men and 6 (6) women.

Notes
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Note G8 Auditors’ fees

SEK millions 2017 2016

KPMG AB

- audit services 7 7

- tax advisory services 0 1

- other services 1 1

Total 8 9

Audit services consist of the auditor’s work associated with the statutory audit, while 
auditing assistance includes various types of quality assurance services. Other ser-
vices are services other than audit services or tax advisory services.

Note G9 Finance income and expenses
Finance income 

SEK millions 2017 2016

Interest income from cash and cash equivalents 0 0

Remeasurement of contingent considerations 0 0

Unrealised change in value of derivatives 9 27

Exchange gains 4 11

Total finance income 13 38

Finance expenses
Interest expenses for borrowing at amortised cost:

SEK millions 2017 2016

Bank loans 65 127*

Finance leases 1 1

Exchange losses 13 12

Total finance expenses 79 140

*  Interest expenses for Bank loans in 2016 include SEK 42 million relating to the recognition 
of previously accrued loan costs in connection with refinancing.

Note G10 Income tax
The following components are included in tax expense.

SEK millions 2017 2016

Current tax expense (+)/tax income (-)

Tax expense for the year 57 42

Adjustment of tax relating to prior years 6 5

62 46

Deferred tax expense (+)/tax income (-)

Property, plant and equipment -3 -1

Derivatives 2 6

Tax allocation reserve -6 7

Other temporary differences 1 0

Total deferred tax expense -6 12

Recognised tax 57 58

SEK millions 2017 2016

Reconciliation of effective tax

Recognised profit before tax 250 228

Tax at applicable tax rate (22%) 55 50

Tax effect of:
Non-deductible expenses 10 7

Non-taxable income -14 0

Adjustment of tax relating to prior years 6 5

Increase in losses carryforwards for which no corresponding 
deferred tax was recognised 2 -

Standard interest on tax allocation reserve 0 0

Difference in tax rate between Parent Company and foreign 
subsidiaries -1 2

Adjustment for changed tax rate 0

Other -1 -6

Recognised tax 57 58

Non-deductible costs are essentially acquisition costs.

Deferred tax liability (+)/tax asset (-)

Property, plant and equipment -5 0

Derivatives 0 -2

Untaxed reserves, tax allocation reserves 78 80

Total deferred tax liability 73 78

The change in deferred tax liability of SEK 5 million consists of a deferred tax 
expense of SEK 5 (12) million reported in the income statement and a deferred tax 
liability of SEK 0 (1) million in acquired companies.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Loss carryforwards and deductible temporary differences for which deferred tax is 
not recognised in the balance sheet amount to SEK 4 (13) million, corresponding to 
a deferred tax asset of SEK 1 (3) million.

Deferred tax assets arising from these items are not recognised, as they are sub-
ject to Group contribution restrictions and under prevailing legislation cannot be uti-
lised as long as the operation is run in the legal entity.

Note G11 Earnings per share

SEK millions 2017 2016

Profit for the year attributable to Parent Company share-
holders 194 170

Less return on preference shares - -22

Profit for the year after return on preference shares 194 148

Earnings per ordinary share, basic and diluted, SEK 3.64 2.87

Number of ordinary shares, average 53,140,064 51,514 870

The preference shares, which consisted of 7 Class C shares, were converted into 
Class B shares in connection with the IPO in 2016. 

Instruments that could have future dilutive effects
In 2016, Humana established a warrant programme for eight senior executives, 
comprising three series of warrants with different maturities, with exercise prices (SEK 
74.40, 77.50 and 80.60 per share) that exceeded the average ordinary share price 
(SEK 63.31 per share). These warrants therefore do not have any dilutive effects and 
are excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculation. If the share price 
exceeds the exercise price in the future, the warrants will have dilutive effects. The 
warrant programme comprises a total of 1,440,420 warrants entitling holders to 
subscribe for the same number of new Humana shares. If the maximum amount is 
subscribed for, dilution will be about 2.6 percent of the total number of Humana 
shares. 

In 2016, the shareholders also adopted the introduction of an incentive pro-
gramme for 165 of Humana’s key employees. The programme was introduced in 
2017. At full allotment in 2020, dilution will be 89,000 shares, corresponding to 
0.1 percent of the total number of shares outstanding in the Company.
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Note G12 Goodwill
Goodwill
SEK millions 2017 2016

Accumulated cost at start of year 3,089 2,584

Acquisition of subsidiaries 31 463

Adjustment of acquisition analysis -3 -

Exchange differences -13 42

At end of year 3,104 3,089

Impairment testing
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for impairment testing as follows: 

SEK millions 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Personal Assistance 964 964

Individual & Family 1,422 1,416

Elderly Care 8 8

Norway 401 422

Finland 308 278

Total 3,104 3,089

The value of goodwill is tested annually for impairment. The annual impairment test 
is performed mainly at the segment level, as goodwill is monitored at this level, by 
calculating the recoverable amount, which consists of value in use. For the Other 
Nordics segment, annual goodwill impairment testing for Finland and Norway is 
conducted separately for each country. When there are indications that an individual 
cash-generating unit is permanently impaired, the test is performed by calculating 
the value in use for the specific cash-generating unit. 

Value in use is based on cash flow calculations that are in turn based on specific 
financial plans determined by management for the next three years. The cash flows 
calculated thereafter were based on an annual growth rate according to the 
assumptions stated below. The estimated cash flows were then discounted to present 
value using a discount rate as shown below.

The key assumptions in the forecasts and the methods used to estimate values are 
set out below. The key assumptions and methods used are the same for all cash 
generating units.

Testing for the year showed that no reasonable changes in the key assumptions 
would give rise to any impairment.

Key assumptions  
in calculation Method for estimating value

Growth The growth rate during the forecast period is based on specific 
plans for the next three years using industry data and manage-
ment estimates from previous experience. The growth rate after 
the forecast period is in line with cost trends in the industry.

Operating margin The operating margin was forecast from historical results and 
expectations of future margins based on previous experience.

Discount rate The discount rate is obtained through a weighted average cost of 
capital for the industry and reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and estimated specific risks in each unit.

Assumptions
Long-term 

growth
Post-tax discount 

rate
Pre-tax discount 

rate

Individual & Family 2.0% (2.0%) 7.6% (7.5%) 9.8% (9.6%)

Personal Assistance 1.5% (1.0%) 7.6% (7.5%) 9.8% (9.6%)

Elderly Care 2.0% (2.0%) 7.6% (7.5%) 9.8% (9.6%)

Norway 2.0% (2.0%) 7.6% (7.5%) 9.9% (10.0%)

Finland 2.0% (2.0%) 7.7% (7.6%) 9.6% (9.5%)

Note G13  Other intangible assets

2017

Systems 
development 
and licences

Customer 
relationships Other Total

Accumulated cost

At start of year 17 8 10 34

Acquisitions  
of subsidiaries - - - -

Investments - - 3 3

Exchange differences - 0 0 0

At end of year 17 7 13 37

Accumulated  
amortisation

At start of year -16 -3 -2 -21

Exchange differences - 0 - 0

Amortisation for the year 0 -2 -3 -6

At end of year -17 -5 -5 -27

Carrying amount 0 2 8 10

2016

Systems 
development 
and licences

Customer 
relationships Other Total

Accumulated cost

At start of year 17 7 2 25

Acquisitions  
of subsidiaries 0 - 7 7

Investments - - 2 2

Exchange differences - 1 0 1

At end of year 17 8 10 34

Accumulated  
amortisation

At start of year -16 -1 0 -17

Exchange differences - - 0 0

Amortisation for the year -1 -2 -1 -4

At end of year -16 -3 -2 -21

Carrying amount 1 5 8 13

Notes
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Note G14 Property, plant and equipment

2017
Building 

and land

Improvements 
to third-party 

property
Finance 

leases Equipment Total

Accumulated cost

At start of year 194 89 108 113 502

Acquisitions  
of subsidiaries 25 - - 1 26

Investments 35 73 9 40 158

Disposals/sales -78 -52 -24 -42 -196

Reclassifications -29 34 - 56 60

Exchange differences -1 -1 - 0 -2

At end of year 146 143 93 168 549

Accumulated depreci-
ation

At start of year -20 -11 -31 -36 -98

Disposals/sales 17 0 24 34 75

Reclassifications 1 -2 - -59 -60

Exchange differences 0 0 - 0 1

Depreciation for the 
year -5 -9 -21 -19 -54

At end of year -7 -21 -28 -80 -136

Carrying amount 139 122 64 88 413

2016
 Building 
and land

Improvements 
to third-party 

property
Finance 

leases Equipment Total

Accumulated cost

At start of year 83 36 103 55 276

Acquisitions  
of subsidiaries 47 12 0 28 87

Investments 67 41 41 35 184

Disposals/sales -1 0 -36 -10 -47

Reclassifications -3 -1 0 5 1

Exchange differences 1 0 0 0 0

At end of year 194 89 108 113 502

Accumulated depreci-
ation

At start of year -17 -8 -29 -23 -76

Disposals/sales 1 0 19 7 27

Reclassifications 1 0 0 -3 -2

Exchange differences -1 0 0 0 -1

Depreciation for the 
year -4 -3 -22 -17 -46

At end of year -20 -11 -31 -36 -99

Carrying amount 174 78 76 77 405

Finance leases
Future minimum lease payments are as follows:

Minimum lease payments 31 Dec 2017

Within 1 
year 1-5 years

After 5 
years Total

Present 
value

Lease payments, cars 28 38 - 66 64

Lease costs during the reporting period amounted to SEK 32 million and were related to 
minimum lease payments. The leases have terms ranging from 12 to 36 months.

Minimum lease payments 31 Dec 2016

Within 1 
year 1-5 years

After 5 
years Total

Present 
value

Lease payments, cars 31 44 0 75 72

Lease costs during the reporting period amounted to SEK 31 million and were related to 
minimum lease payments. The leases have terms ranging from 12 to 36 months.

Note G15 Trade receivables 
31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Trade receivables, gross 492 527

Reserve for customer losses -4 -5

Total 489 523

Receivables not due 403 449

Past due 1-30 days 77 48

Past due 31-60 days 5 11

Past due >60 days 7 19

Total 492 527

Humana’s customers consist mainly of state, municipal and county council entities in 
Sweden, Norway and Finland. The Group is not exposed to any significant credit 
risks relative to any individual counterparty or group of counterparties. Based on his-
torical information, management believes that trade receivables that have not fallen 
due for payment or are not impaired have good credit quality.

Note G16  Prepaid expenses and accrued income 
31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Assistance allowance receivables 353 346

Prepaid rent 41 32

Other 29 23

Total 423 401

Note G17 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include the following:

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Cash 1 1

Bank balances 583 464

Total 584 465

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and demand deposits with banks and 
corresponding institutions.
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Note G18 Equity

Share capital 
At the start of 2016, share capital consisted of 664,800 Class A shares, 354,793 
Class B shares and 7 Class C shares, for a total of 1,019,600 shares. An EGM held 
on 15 February 2016 adopted a 45:1 split, after which the number of shares 
increased to 29,916,000 Class A shares, 15,965,685 Class B shares and 315 
Class C shares. The total number of shares after the split was 45,882,000. All 
shares were subsequently converted into B shares. In connection with the IPO, 
7,258,064 new shares were issued at a price of SEK 62.

2017 2016

Number of shares

At start of year 53,140,064 1,019,600

Split 45:1 - 44,862,400

New share issue - 7,258,064

At end of year 53,140,064 53,140,064

Paid-up subscribed shares
Number of 

shares
Votes per 

share
Number of 

votes

Share capital, B shares 53,140,064 0.022222 1,180,879

Other paid-in capital
Amounts received for issued shares and warrants over and above what has been 
added to share capital are included in the item “Other paid-in capital”. See also 
Note G11.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve includes all exchange differences arising on translation of 
foreign operations that have prepared their financial statements in a currency other 
than the Group’s presentation currency.

Note G19 Interest-bearing liabilities

Current 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Bank loans 450 442

Overdraft facilities 200 200

Finance lease liabilities 30 35

Total carrying amount 680 677

Non-current 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Bank loans 1,310 1,364

Finance lease liabilities 35 42

Total carrying amount 1,345 1,405

After 5 years 0 0

Borrowing is conducted in SEK, NOK and EUR. SEK 1,742 million of the bank loans 
for 2017 relates to the Parent Company.

Bank loan terms and conditions
Humana entered into a loan agreement with DNB Sweden AB and Skandinaviska 
Enskilda Banken AB (publ) in March 2016. Under the loan agreement, the lenders 
have undertaken to provide credit facilities amounting to SEK 2,200 million for a 
term of five years. The agreement contains customary contractual conditions and 
two covenants (ratios), which are reported regularly to the lenders (net debt to 
EBITDA and interest cover ratio). The credit facilities are not secured, but are subject 
to commitments and warranties and negative covenants, including restrictions on 
pledging the Company's assets, restrictions on debt in subsidiaries (apart from 
Humana Group Holding AB) and restrictions on disposals and acquisitions where 
the total annual amount exceeds a total company value of SEK 500 million, and 
obligations regarding trade sanctions and anti-corruption. See also Notes G21 and 
G22.

Note G20  Accrued expenses  
and deferred income

SEK millions 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Accrued salaries 242 218

Accrued holiday pay 353 339

Accrued interest expenses 2 6

Accrued pensions 65 59

Other 60 77

Total 722 698

Note G21  Financial instruments  
and risk management

31/12/2017
Loans and  

receivables
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Financial assets

Trade receivables 489 489 489

Other receivables 7 7 7

Accrued income 380 380 380

Cash and cash equiva-
lents 584 584 584

Total 1,460 1,460 1,460

Financial liabilities

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

Other  
liabilities

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Bank loans 1,960 1,960 1,960

Derivatives 1 1 1

Finance lease liabilities 64 64 64

Trade payables 93 93 93

Other current liabilities 9 9 9

Accrued expenses 3 3 3

Liability for additional 
consideration 27 27 27

Total 28 2,130 2,158 2,158

31/12/2016
Loans and  

receivables
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Financial assets

Trade receivables 523 523 523

Other receivables 6 6 6

Accrued income 367 367 367

Cash and cash equiva-
lents 465 465 465

Total 1,360 1,360 1,360

Financial liabilities

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

Other  
liabilities

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Bank loans 2,006 2,006 2,006

Derivatives 10 10 10

Finance lease liabilities 76 76 76

Trade payables 103 103 103

Other current liabilities 12 12 12

Accrued expenses 6 6 6

Liability for additional 
consideration 28 28 28

Total 38 2,214 2,252 2,252

Notes
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The carrying amounts of trade receivables, other receivables, cash and cash equiv-
alents, trade payables and other liabilities are a reasonable approximation of their 
fair values.

Financial instruments at fair value
When determining the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses observable data as 
far as possible. Fair value measurement is based on the fair value hierarchy, which catego-
rises inputs into different levels as follows: 
• Level 1 – inputs that are quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments
•  Level 2 – inputs other than those in Level 1 that are directly or indirectly observable  

market data
• Level 3 – inputs that are not observable in the market

31/12/2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities

Derivatives - 1 - 1

Liability for additional consid-
eration - - 27 27

Fair value - 1 27 28

31/12/2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities

Derivatives - 10 - 10

Liability for additional consid-
eration - - 28 28

Fair value - 10 28 38

Transfers between levels
There were no transfers between levels in 2017 or 2016.

Reconciliation of financial instruments measured in level 3
The table below shows a reconciliation between the opening and closing balances 
for financial instruments measured in Level 3.

SEK millions 2017 2016

Additional consideration

Opening balance 28 26

Cost of acquisition 5 20

Reversed to income statement 0 0

Settled during the year -6 -19

Closing balance 27 28

Measurement methods and inputs
The following tables show the the methods used for fair value measurement in Levels 
2 and 3, and non-observable inputs.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Type Measurement method

Significant 
non-observa-
ble inputs

Connection between sig-
nificant non-observable 
inputs and fair value cal-
culation

Additional 
consideration

EBITDA multiples: The 
measurement model cal-
culates the value of the 
additional consideration 
based on likely scenarios 
of future EBITDA out-
comes using agreed mul-
tiples. 

Forecast EBITDA. The estimated fair value 
would increase (decrease) if: 
EBITDA was higher (lower).

Interest rate 
swaps and 
interest rate 
options

The fair value of interest 
rate swaps and interest 
rate options has been 
calculated by discounting 
estimated future cash 
flows under the contract 
terms and conditions 
based on the market rate 
for similar instruments on 
the reporting date.

Sensitivity analysis
The maximum outstanding amount for additional considerations that can be paid is 
SEK 49 million. Additional considerations are performance-based.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Type
Measurement 

method
Significant non-

observable inputs
Measurement 

level

Other financial liabilities*
Discounted cash 

flows N/A 2

* Other financial liabilities refer to bank loans and finance lease liabilities. 

Risks associated with financial instruments
In the course of its operations, the Group is exposed to different types of financial 
risk. 
• Liquidity and financing risk 
• Credit risk
• Interest rate risk
• Currency risk

The Group’s financial policy for financial risk management has been formulated by 
the Board and provides a framework of guidelines and rules in the form of a risk 
mandate and limits for financing activities. Responsibility for the Group’s financial 
transactions and risks is managed centrally by the CFO in consultation with the 
Board’s finance committee. The overall goal of the finance function is to provide 
cost-effective financing and minimise adverse effects of market risks on the Group’s 
earnings.

Financing and liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of the Group encountering problems in meeting its obliga-
tions associated with financial liabilities. The CFO manages liquidity risks centrally 
for the entire Group. Liquidity requirements are monitored regularly and when 
reviewing Humana’s financing needs. The Group’s policy is to minimise borrowing 
needs by balancing surplus and deficit liquidity within the Group and to achieve 
financing flexibility through agreements for additional available credit. To facilitate 
liquidity planning and control, the Group has credit facilities (bank overdraft facili-
ties) and a cash pool.

Specification of available liquidity 2017 2016

Unutilised credit facility 200 194

Cash 584 465

Total 784 659

The Group’s financial liabilities, which are shown in Note G19, amounted to SEK 
2,025 (2,082) million at year-end, comprising current liabilities of SEK 680 (677) 
million and non-current liabilities of SEK 1,345 (1,405) million. Humana can use 
the unutilised revolving facility to roll over parts of the bank loans due within 3-12 
months.

Note 21 continued
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Reconciliation of liabilities attributable to financing activities – Group 
Non-cash movements

 
Closing bal-

ance 2016 Cash flows

Acquisitions/
disposals of 
subsidiaries

Exchange dif-
ferences

Fair value 
remeasure-

ment
Closing bal-

ance 2017

Overdraft facilities 200 - - - 200

Bank loans 1,806 -50 - 4 - 1,760

Total liabilities attributable to financing activities 2,006 -50 - 4 - 1,960

Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

2017 <3 months
3-12 

months 2-5 years >5 years Total

Bank loans 50 600 1,310 - 1,960

Interest on bank loans 12 36 79 - 127

Derivatives 0 1 - - 1

Finance lease liabilities 7 22 35 - 64

Trade payables 93 - - - 93

Liability for additional 
consideration 4 18 - 5 27

Total 167 677 1,424 5 2,272

Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

2016 <3 months
3-12 

months 2-5 years >5 years Total

Bank loans 50 592 1,364 - 2,006

Interest on bank loans 11 32 124 - 167

Derivatives 8 3 - - 10

Finance lease liabilities 9 26 42 - 76

Trade payables 103 - - - 103

Liability for additional 
consideration 24 4 - - 28

Total 205 656 1,529 - 2,390

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to exposure to receivables in the form of investments of surplus 
liquidity, derivatives, and trade receivables. Surplus liquidity is invested in deposit 
accounts, and derivatives are only entered into with the major Nordic corporate 
banks. Most of the Group’s trade receivables are from state, municipal and county 
council entities, which are considered to have good credit quality. Cash and cash 
equivalents are only invested in banks with high credit ratings. The risk of credit loss-
es is therefore considered to be minimal.

Maximum exposure to credit risk 2017 2016

Trade receivables 489 523

Assistance allowance receivables 352 346

Other receivables 7 6

Cash and cash equivalents 584 465

Total 1,432 1,340

Interest rate risk
The main market risk affecting Humana is interest rate risk, which can result in fair 
value and cash flow changes. Fixed-rate periods are a significant factor affecting 
interest rate risk. 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly through long-term borrowing and is 
managed by the CFO. Derivative instruments are used to manage interest rate risk. 
The Group’s loan agreements have 3-6 month fixed-interest periods. 

A 1 percentage point increase in interest rates would affect interest expenses by 
SEK 20 (13) million at the reporting date, including interest rate derivatives.

Currency risk
As the Group operates in Sweden, Norway and Finland, it is exposed to currency 
risks from exposure to the Norwegian krone and the euro. The Group’s earnings are 
affected by translation of Norwegian and Finnish subsidiaries’ income statements at 
the average exchange rate for the financial year. If a Norwegian or Finnish subsidi-
ary’s local currency changes in relation to SEK, the Group’s reported net revenue 
and earnings would change when translated to SEK. Currency risk also arises 

through future business transactions, reported assets and liabilities, and net invest-
ments in foreign operations. Norwegian krone and Euro exposure has therefore 
been partly financed through borrowing in Norwegian krone and Euro.

Net assets in NOK amount to SEK 359 (220) million, including goodwill. A 5 
percentage point change in the exchange rate would have an effect of SEK 1 (4) mil-
lion on the income statement and SEK 18 (7) million on consolidated comprehen-
sive income at the reporting date. Net assets in EUR amount to SEK 31 (-2) million, 
including goodwill. A 5 percentage point change in the exchange rate would have 
an effect of SEK 3 (1) million on the income statement and SEK 2 (0) million on con-
solidated comprehensive income at the reporting date.

Capital management
The Group’s policy is to maintain a good financial position, thereby helping to 
maintaining the confidence of investors, lenders and the market, and providing a 
solid foundation for continuing development of business operations while also gen-
erating a satisfactory long-term return for shareholders. The Board aims to achieve a 
balance between a potential higher return on equity from a high debt to equity ratio 
and the advantages and security associated with a strong capital base. The objective 
is to continue to generate returns for shareholders and value for other stakeholders.

Neither the Parent Company nor any of the subsidiaries are subject to external 
capital requirements (see also Note G19).

Note G22  Pledged assets  
and contingent liabilities

SEK millions 2017 2016

Pledged assets for bank loans

Property mortgages - 3

Pledged assets -

Other - 30

Contingent liabilities None None

Note G23  Related party transactions
The Group’s key personnel consists of the Board of Directors, Group management 
and the CEO, through ownership of Humana and through their roles as senior exec-
utives. Related parties also include the principal owner Air Syndication S.C.A., which 
is represented on the Board by Lloyd Perry. 
Related party transactions are based on market conditions.

Remuneration of key personnel 
Remuneration of key personnel is shown in Note G7.

Preference shares
Preference shares were converted into ordinary shares in connection with the IPO in 
2016.

Notes
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Note G24  Companies included in these financial statements

Humana AB is the Parent Company of the Group, which includes subsidiaries as listed below. All subsidiaries are wholly owned and have financial years that correspond with 
the Parent Company’s financial year.

Company name Number of shares Registered office Share of equity, %

Adventum Specialpedagogik AB, 556387-6753 1,000 Borlänge 100%

Adventum Vård AB, 556330-3030 1,000 Borlänge 100%

Arjessa Oy, 2367998-4 11,211,785 Helsinki, Finland 100%

Baggium Vård & Behandling AB, 556747-5230 1,000 Gothenburg 100%

Balanshem AB, 556733-8099 1,000 Höör 100%

Barrebacken AB, 556610-6760 108 Stockholm 100%

Behandlingshemmet Källtorp AB, 556668-5979 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Björkvik-Ringsjöhemmet AB, 556435-1889 1,500 Stockholm 100%

Björkviks Vårdhem AB, 556257-3575 2,000 Stockholm 100%

Björntorps HVB-hem AB, 556740-6219 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Cureum AB, 556681-8661 821 Örebro 100%

Davidsbo Fastigheter AB, 556787-3327 1,000 Norberg 100%

Davidsbo Invest AB, 556806-2698 500 Norberg 100%

Davidsbogård AB, 556709-4296 1,000 Norberg 100%

Fabriken Förändringskonsulterna i Skaraborg AB, 556650-8544 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Humana Familjeforum konsult i Sverige AB, 556687-4227 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Humana Familjeforum Sverige AB, 556589-3764 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Familjestödsgruppen i Stockholm AB, 556699-8182 1,000 Tyresö 100%

Familjevårdskonsulenterna i Sverige AB, 556733-7349 1,000 Örebro 100%

Fuga Omsorg AB, 556897-4371 5,000 Stockholm 100%

Habiliteket AB, 556484-2416 1,000 Täby 100%

Hallandshem AB, 556699-6129 1,000 Kungsbacka 100%

Hoitokoti Itatähti Oy, 1012150-0 100 Vantaa, Finland 100%

Humana AS, 997915038 1,000 Tonsberg, Norway 100%

Humana Assistans AB, 556605-3996 100,000 Örebro 100%

Humana Ekeliden AB, 556891-0508 50,000 Örebro 100%

Humana Group AB, 556697-0249 1,478,571 Örebro 100%

Humana Group Holding AB, 556730-0453 1,428,570 Stockholm 100%

Humana Holding AB, 556645-2206 1,000 Örebro 100%

Humana LSS i Sverige AB, 556754-3912 1,000 Sala 100%

Humana Omsorg AB, 556749-0007 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Humlans HVB AB, 556641-8165 3,000 Ockelbo 100%

HVB Lappetorp AB, 556525-0247 1,020 Trosa 100%

Hyvinvointipalvelut Arjessa Oy, 2292973-4 240 Lohja, Finland 100%

Häggesta 10:1 AB, 556992-5638 100 Stockholm 100%

Innovativ Assistans i Stockholm AB, 556521-4573 1,000 Norberg 100%

INOM Innovativ Omsorg i Norden AB, 556782-9105 3,524,259 Stockholm 100%

INOM Innovativ Omsorg i Sverige AB, 556739-6725 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Istriana AB, 559020-2452 1,000 Lund 100%

Jokilaakson Perhekodit Oy, 1741579-8 20 Ylivieska, Finland 100%

JOWE AB, 556644-6281 100 Stockholm 100%

KBT Mälardalen AB, 556718-7025 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Kiinteistö Oy Namika, 2446601-6 1,000 Lahti, Finland 100%

Kilen Akut Behandlingshem AB, 556620-9549 1,000 Skövde 100%

KOA Helse og Omsorg AS, 991069550 300 Narvik, Norway 100%

KOA Ungdomstiltak AS, 890821502 500 Narvik, Norway 100%

KOA Psykisk Helse AS, 994627112 1,540 Narvik, Norway 100%

K-rehab AB, 556766-2720 6,000 Sandviken 100%

Kvaefjord Opplevelse og Avlastning AS, 888 031 812 9,492 Harstad, Norway 100%

Lastensuojeluyksikkö Leppälintu Oy, 2364613-8 1,000 Kauhajoki, Finland 100%

Lastensuojeluyksikkö Pihakoivu Ky, 1991926-0 - Seinäjoki, Finland 100%

Lunna Gård AB, 556586-2371 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Namikan Pienryhmäkoti Oy, 2461106-8 1,000 Lahti, Finland 100%

Neuropsyk i Bollnäs AB, 556543-1516 1,000,000 Stockholm 100%

Nordic Care AB, 556658-8710 1,000 Örebro 100%

Nordic Senior Services Oy, 2301404-2 178,846,495 Tampere, Finland 100%
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Company name Number of shares Registered office Share of equity, %

Norrbärke Sjukhem AB, 556564-9778 2,500 Stockholm 100%

NSS Hoivahotellit Oy, 2348341-2 22,500 Varkaus, Finland 100%

Nuorisopsykiatrinen Asumiskoti Puro Oy, 1744507-3 240 Vähäkyrö, Vaasa, Finland 100%

Nuorisokoti Valokki Oy, 2284728-8 1,250 Kurikka, Finland 100%

Nygårds Vård Gotland AB, 556417-0511 2,000 Gotland 100%

Oasen HVB & Skola AB, 556420-9608 5,000 Aneby 100%

Oasen Ungdomscenter AB, 556686-2313 1,000 Aneby 100%

Oasen Utbildningscenter AB, 556650-1796 1,000 Aneby 100%

Off.Clinic AB, 556625-9429 1,000 Kristianstad 100%

Orana AB, 556353-3966 1,000 Kristianstad 100%

Orana Kristianstad AB, 556714-8878 1,000 Kristianstad 100%

Orana Vård & Omsorg Holding AB, 559012-0159 50,000 Kristianstad 100%

Paavolakoti Oy, 1077276-8 100 Mänttä-Vilppula, Finland 100%

Palvelukoti Hilmari Oy, 0955759-3 15 Keuruu, Finland 100%

Palvelutähti Oy, 0932402-8 77,743 Tampere, Finland 100%

Partnergruppen Svenska AB, 556177-0362 10,000 Stockholm 100%

Perhetalo Arjessa Oy, 2487220-9 1,000 Helsinki, Finland 100%

Pienkoti Aura Oy, 1853882-9 10 Jyväskylä, Finland 100%

Pienryhmäkoti Puolenhehtaarin Metsä Oy (PHM), 2166211-8 270 Lohja, Finland 100%

Platea AB, 556697-9729 1,500 Hagfors 100%

Pienryhmäkoti Arjen Sydän Oy,2179372-4 130 Siuntio, Finland 100%

Plus Assistans AB, 556665-9149 1,000 Örebro 100%

Prompting AB, 556606-5990 200 Stockholm 100%

Ramlösa Social Utveckling AB, 556266-5520 1,000 Helsingborg 100%

Rehabiliteringsbolaget i Mälardalen AB, 556755-5049 1,000 Örebro 100%

Rengsjö Vårdcenter AB, 556383-1857 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Ryhmäkodit Arjessa Oy, 2284729-6 1,250 Seinäjoki, Finland 100%

Ryhmäkoti Raide Oy, 2032776-4 100 Tampere, Finland 100%

Sillanpää-koti Oy, 2216058-2 2,500 Seinäjoki, Finland 100%

Skellefteå Stöd och Behandling AB, 556861-3904 500 Skellefteå 100%

Humana Sociala tjänster Sverige AB, 556658-1277 5,000 Stockholm 100%

Storsjögårdens HVB AB, 556535-5780 1,000 Gävle 100%

Södertörns familjevård AB, 556573-0511 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Tiangruppen AB, 556378-5145 2,500 Uppsala 100%

Tibble gård ungdomshem AB, 556632-1757 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Ungdomshemmet Hajstorp AB, 556618-0369 1,600 Töreboda 100%

Vassbo Behandlingshem AB, 556449-1602 1,000 Uddevalla 100%

Vidablick AB, 556679-3179 1,000 Helsingborg 100%

Wikmansgården AB, 556167-4275 1,000 Stockholm 100%

Note G25  Events after the reporting date
No significant events occurred after the end of the reporting period. 

Notes
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Accounting policies 

GA1 Changes in accounting policies
A number of new and amended IFRSs are not effective until future annual periods 
and have not been applied early in the preparation of these financial statements. 
There are no plans for early application of new and amended standards which are 
effective in future annual periods.

GA2  Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies described below have been applied consistently to all peri-
ods presented in the Group’s financial statements, with some exceptions, which are 
described in more detail. The Group’s accounting policies have been consistently 
applied by the Group companies.

New IFRSs not yet effective  
A number of new and amended IFRSs are not effective until future annual periods 
and have not been applied early in the preparation of these financial statements. 
There are no plans for early application of new and amended standards which are 
effective in future annual periods.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 contains new requirements for classification 
and measurement of financial instruments, a forward-looking impairment (expected 
loss) model and simplified conditions for hedge accounting. The effective date for 
IFRS 9 is 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 is not expected to have any significant impact on 
Humana’s financial reporting.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has introduced a new 
standard for the accounting of leases, IFRS 16 Leases, effective 1 January 2019. 

IFRS 16 Leases requires lessees to recognise all leased assets and related liabili-
ties in the balance sheet unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying 
asset has a low value, and to recognise depreciation of these assets and interest 
expenses associated with the related liabilities in the income statement, in other 
words, in the same way that finance leases are recognised under the current stand-
ard. This differs from the current method, in which operating leases are recognised 
outside the balance sheet, with information on the liability, and lease payments are 
recognised as an expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis. The effect of 
IFRS 16 on Humana will be that the operating leases described in Note G6 will be 
recognised in the balance sheet, and lease payments, currently reported under other 
external expenses, will be replaced by depreciation of the assets reported in the bal-
ance sheet and interest expense associated with the financial liabilities.
With effect from 2018, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces 
existing IFRS standards related to revenue recognition, such as IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 
11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes. IFRS 15 is 
based on revenue being recognised when control of the product or service is trans-
ferred to the customer, which differs from the existing standard based on the transfer 
of risks and rewards. An evaluation of the effects of application of IFRS 15 on 
Humana’s financial reporting is in progress. It has not yet been possible to assess the 
monetary effects, other than at the overall level described  below. The assessments 
of the effects described below are based on information currently known or estimat-
ed. Decisions on transition methods will be made when the analysis of IFRS 15 has 
reached a phase that provides a more complete basis than at present. 

The preliminary assessments of the effects on different types of revenue are 
described below. 

Humana companies provide assistance services at customers’ premises and 
accommodation in elderly care, residential care homes, temporary and regular 
family homes, special housing and assisted living homes. Based on the assessments 
to date, recognition of revenue is not expected to have any significant effect. Finally, 
the content of the notes will expand as IFRS 15 contains increased revenue disclo-
sure requirements.

Other new and amended IFRSs with future application are not expected to have 
any material effect on the Company's financial statements. 

Classification etc.
Non-current assets and liabilities are essentially amounts that are expected to be 
recovered or paid more than twelve months after the reporting date. Current assets 
and liabilities are essentially amounts that are expected to be recovered or paid 
within twelve months of the reporting date.

Segment reporting
Humana has four business areas, which are also reported as four segments: 
Individual & Family, Personal Assistance, Elderly Care and Other Nordics. Sales and 
operating profit for each segment are reported after allocation of segment-specific 
costs, but not including costs for central functions. The Group’s segment reporting 

corresponds to the internal reporting to the chief operating decision maker. 
However, the CEO and CFO only monitor the Group’s total assets, not assets by 
segment. See Note G3 for a more detailed description of the breakdown and pres-
entation of operating segments.

Basis of consolidation and business combinations
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent Company Humana AB and 
its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Parent Company has control. 
Control exists when the Parent Company has exposure to variable returns from its 
holding in an entity and has the ability to affect the returns through power over the 
entity. 

A subsidiary is consolidated from the date on which the Parent Company obtains 
control until such control ceases. 

The assets and liabilities of Humana’s foreign subsidiaries are translated at the 
closing rate. All income statement items are translated at the average rate for the 
year. Translation differences are recognised directly in consolidated equity.

Business combinations
Humana recognises business combinations in accordance with the acquisition 
method from the date on which control is obtained. The consideration paid in con-
nection with an acquisition is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value, as are 
the acquired assets and liabilities. The difference between the consideration and the 
fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities is recognised as goodwill. Goodwill is 
subject to annual impairment testing. See also Note G5. In bargain purchases, 
which are acquisitions where the value of the net assets exceeds the consideration 
paid, the difference is recognised immediately in the income statement. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Contingent considerations are recognised at fair value on the date of acquisition 
and contingent considerations that are financial liabilities are remeasured at each 
reporting date with changes in value recognised under financial items.

The consideration paid in connection with an acquisition does not include pay-
ments related to settlement of a pre-existing relationship. This type of settlement is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue
Revenue is recognised when the services are performed. Health and social care ser-
vices are largely provided under monthly invoicing agreements. Compensation is 
based on the number of users, care days, assistance hours, residential placements, 
and similar services provided by the Group. 

Personnel costs
Short-term benefits
Employee benefits are recognised as an expense when the services have been per-
formed. A liability for the expected cost of bonus payments is recognised when the 
Group has a legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of 
employees having provided the services in question and when the amount can be 
measured reliably.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the following: when the 
Company can no longer withdraw the offer of the benefits or when the Company 
recognises restructuring costs. Benefits expected to be settled after twelve months 
are recognised at their present value.

Pension benefit obligations
Humana has various pension plans which are classified as either defined contribu-
tion or defined benefit plans. A defined contribution pension plan is a plan under 
which the Group’s obligation is limited to the fixed contributions paid to the insurer 
in question. Pension premiums under defined contribution plans are recognised as 
personnel costs in the income statement as they fall due.

A defined benefit pension plan is a plan that is not based on defined contribu-
tions. Humana’s defined benefit obligations for retirement benefits and survivor pen-
sions for salaried employees in Sweden (ITP2) are covered by insurance with Alecta. 
In accordance with Statement UFR 10 issued by the Swedish Financial Reporting 
Board, this is a multi-employer defined benefit plan. Like other Swedish companies, 
the Group has not had access to sufficient information to enable it to report this plan 
as a defined benefit plan. Consequently, the ITP pension plan, which is insured 
through Alecta, is reported as a defined contribution plan.

The Group has certain pension obligations that are covered by endowment insur-
ance. The pension provision includes a special payroll tax and corresponds to the 
value of the assets in the endowment insurance at any given time.
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Notes

Share savings programme for employees
In January 2017, a share savings programme was launched, enabling employees to 
purchase Humana shares. Participants’ own investment in the form of saving shares 
at the investment-date share price, subject to continuing employment with the 
Company, gives entitlement to matching shares at the end of the vesting period. In 
addition, performance shares may be allotted, subject to the achievement of certain 
pre-defined targets during the vesting period. The share savings programme is rec-
ognised directly in equity during the vesting period.

Finance income and expenses
Finance income consists of interest income and, where applicable, dividend income, 
as well as gains on the remeasurement or disposal of financial instruments. 

Finance expenses consist of interest charges on loans, including accrued transac-
tion costs, losses on changes in value or disposal of financial instruments.

Exchange gains and losses are reported on a gross basis. 
Interest income and expenses are reported using the effective interest method. 

Dividends are recognised in the income statement when the right to receive payment 
of a dividend has been established.

Leases
Operating leases
Operating lease costs are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. Benefits received in connection with the signing of a lease are recog-
nised in the income statement as a reduction of lease payments on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in the peri-
ods in which they arise.

Finance leases
Finance leases are reported in the balance sheet under non-current assets, which 
are depreciated in accordance with the principles for property, plant and equipment, 
and financial liabilities. The lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and the repayment of the outstanding lease obligation. The finance charge 
is allocated over the lease term in such a way as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Contingent rents 
are recognised as an expense in the periods in which they arise.

Accounting for sale and leaseback transactions
A sale and leaseback transaction (SLB) is the sale of an asset under a purchase 
agreement that results in a subsequent lease of the same asset with the original 
owner as lessee. These transactions are accounted for on the basis of how the lease 
transaction is classified. This assessment follows the customary principles for classifi-
cation of leases.

If a sale and leaseback transaction results in a finance lease, any excess of pro-
ceeds over the carrying amount (capital gain) is not recognised directly in the seller's 
income statement but is amortised over the lease term.

If a sale and leaseback transaction results in an operating lease, any excess of 
proceeds over the carrying amount (capital gain) is recognised in the period of the 
sale, provided the transaction is based on fair value. The Group has determined that 
all SLB transactions have been or will be conducted at arm’s length at a price equal 
to fair value.

Income attributable to sale and leaseback transactions is recognised as income 
on the handover date unless the risks and rewards have been transferred to the 
buyer on an earlier occasion. Control of the asset may have been transferred before 
the handover date, in which case the property sale is recognised as revenue on that 
earlier date. 

Taxes
Income tax consists of current tax and deferred tax. Income taxes are recognised in 
the income statement, unless the underlying transaction is recognised in other com-
prehensive income or in equity, in which case the associated tax effect is recognised 
in other comprehensive income or in equity.

Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of 
the taxable profit or loss for the current year, and is calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, including any 
adjustments relating to prior periods.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance-sheet liability method. A deferred 
tax liability is recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities and their corresponding tax bases. Temporary differences are 
not taken into account in goodwill on consolidation nor for the difference resulting 
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not business combina-
tions, and that at the time of the transaction affect neither recognised nor taxable 
earnings. The measurement of deferred tax is based on how the underlying assets 

and liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred tax liabilities and 
assets are measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or sub-
stantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets on temporary differences and deferred tax assets arising from 
the carry-forward of unused tax losses are only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that they can be utilised. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are 
reviewed and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the deferred tax 
asset can be utilised.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
In a business combination, goodwill arises when the consideration paid exceeds the 
fair value of identifiable net assets in the acquired entity. Goodwill is not amortised, 
but is subject for impairment testing. See the section on impairment below. See also 
Note G12.

When the Group adopted IFRS, it was decided not to apply IFRS retrospectively to 
goodwill arising from acquisitions prior to 1 January 2012. Consequently, the carry-
ing amount on that date represents the Group’s cost of acquisition after impairment 
testing.

Other intangible assets
When a business is acquired, the company assesses the extent to which there are 
identifiable intangible assets to be reported separately from goodwill, such as cus-
tomer relationships, trademarks and customer contracts. In addition, Humana 
reports capitalised expenditure on system development and licences as an asset.

Other intangible assets are recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation 
(see below) and impairment (see accounting policy).

Amortisation
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the intangible 
asset's useful life, unless it has an indefinite useful life. Useful lives are reviewed at 
least annually. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and as soon as there are 
indications that the asset in question has decreased in value. Intangible assets with 
finite useful lives are amortised from when they are available for use. The estimated 
useful lives are:

– system development and licences  5-7 years
– customer relationships  5-7 years

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, consisting primarily of owner-occupied properties, is 
recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Property, plant 
and equipment with sub-components that have different useful lives are treated as 
separate components of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of financial leases is the lower of the leased asset’s fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease. 

Gains or losses on the disposal or retirement of an asset are recognised in the 
income statement under other operating income/expenses.

Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs are capitalised only if it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the cost will flow to the company. All other subsequent costs are rec-
ognised as an expense in the period in which they arise.

Depreciation
Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset. 
Leased assets are also depreciated over their estimated useful lives or over the 
agreed lease term if this is shorter. Land is not depreciated.
Estimated useful lives:

The following main groups of components have been identified and form the basis 
of depreciation of buildings:

– Building structure 40-100 years
– Supplementary structures, interior walls etc. 20-40 years
– Installations: heating, electricity, plumbing, ventilation etc. 25-40 years
– Exterior surfaces: façades, roofs etc.  20-70 years
– Interior surfaces, machinery etc.  10-25 years
– Equipment 5-10 years
– Leasehold Contract period
Depreciation methods, residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each year 

end.



92 |  Humana Annual Report 2017

Introduction Contributing to better care Sustainable care provider Our care work Legal annual report

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Group's assets are assessed at each reporting date to 
determine if there is any indication of impairment. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
If there is an indication of impairment, the asset's recoverable amount is measured 
(see below). The recoverable amount is calculated annually for goodwill, other 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet ready for 
use. If an asset does not generate independent cash inflows and its fair value less 
costs to sell cannot be used, it is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating 
unit to which it belongs, i.e. the smallest identifiable group of assets which generates 
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets.

An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of an asset or a 
cash-generating unit (group of units) is less than its carrying amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised as an expense in profit for the year. Impairment losses recognised 
for a cash-generating unit are initially allocated to goodwill. They are then allocated 
to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on each asset’s carrying amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use. In measuring value in use, cash flows are discounted using a dis-
count rate that reflects the risk-free rate of interest and the risks specific to the asset.

Reversal of impairment losses
Impairment of assets accounted for under IAS 36 is reversed if there is an indication 
that the impairment no longer exists and there has been a change in the assump-
tions on which the calculation of the recoverable amount was based. However, 
goodwill impairment is never reversed. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation where applicable, had no impair-
ment loss been recognised.

Earnings per share
Calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on profit/loss for the 
year, adjusted for interest on preference shares, and the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Provisions
A provision differs from other liabilities as there is uncertainty about the timing or 
amount required to settle the provision. A provision is recognised in balance sheet 
when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obliga-
tion, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are recognised at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation at the reporting date. 

Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the benefits the Group expects 
to receive from a contract are lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting its obli-
gations under the contract.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments reported under assets in the balance sheet are primarily cash 
and cash equivalents, derivatives and trade receivables. Financial instruments 
reported under liabilities include trade payables, loans and derivatives. 

A financial asset or liability is recognised in the balance sheet when the company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A receivable is rec-
ognised when the company has performed and there is a contractual obligation for 
the counterparty to pay, even if an invoice has not yet been sent. Trade receivables 
are recognised when an invoice has been sent. A liability is recognised when the 
counterparty has performed and there is a contractual obligation to pay, even if an 
invoice has not yet been received. Trade payables are recognised on receipt of the 
invoice.

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive benefits have been 

realised, expired or the Company loses control over them. A financial liability is 
derecognised when the contractual obligation is discharged or extinguished in some 
other way. 

A financial asset and a financial liability may be offset when, and only when, 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and there is an intention to 
settle the items on a net basis.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, which is 
the date on which the company commits itself to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category consists of derivative instruments (interest rate swaps and interest rate 
options) that are included in the financial assets held for trading sub-category. 
Financial assets in this category are measured at fair value, with changes in fair 
value recognised in profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. These assets are measured at 
amortised cost. Amortised cost is determined using the effective interest method cal-
culated on the date of acquisition. Trade receivables are recognised at the amounts 
expected to be received, i.e., less an allowance for doubtful receivables. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
This category consists of financial liabilities held for trading, including the Group’s 
derivatives, and contingent consideration liabilities, which are also accounted for in 
this category. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities
Borrowings and other financial liabilities such as trade payables and utilised over-
draft facilities are included in this category. These liabilities are measured at amor-
tised cost. 

Impairment of loans and receivables recognised at amortised cost is reversed if 
the previous indication of impairment no longer exists and full payment from the 
customer is expected.

Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired. Objective evidence consists of 
observable events that have occurred and adversely affect the ability to recover the 
cost of the asset, and a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an invest-
ment in a financial instrument classified as an available-for-sale financial asset. 

The company classifies trade receivables as doubtful when they are 90 or more 
days past due. Impairment of receivables is established by reference to historical 
experience of customer defaults on similar receivables. 

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is recognised when a possible obligation arises from past 
events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future events outside the Group's control, or when there is 
an obligation which is not recognised as a liability or provision because it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation or the 
amount cannot be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements

NOTE PA1 Parent Company accounting policies
The Parent Company’s annual financial statements have been prepared in accord-
ance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) and the Swedish Financial 
Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities. The 
Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s issued statements for listed enterprises have 
also been applied. RFR 2 requires the Parent Company, as a legal entity, to prepare 
its annual financial statements in compliance with all IFRS and IFRIC interpretations 
adopted by the EU, to the extent that such application does not conflict with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act and Pension Obligations Vesting Act and taking into 
account the relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting profit. The 
recommendation also specifies exceptions from and additions to IFRS reporting.

Differences between the Group’s and the Parent Company’s account-
ing policies
Differences between the Group’s and the Parent Company’s accounting policies are 
described below. The accounting policies described below have been applied con-
sistently to all periods presented in the Parent Company’s financial statements.

Shares in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are recognised in the Parent Company using the cost model. 
This means that transaction costs are included in the carrying amount of the hold-
ings in subsidiaries. In the consolidated accounts, transaction costs attributable to 
subsidiaries are recognised directly in the income statement as they arise.

Financial instruments and hedge accounting
Because of the relationship between accounting profit and tax expense (income), the 
Parent Company does not apply the rules on financial instruments and hedge 
accounting contained in IAS 39.

The Parent Company’s non-current financial assets are carried at cost less 
impairment losses, while its current financial assets are measured using the “lower 
value” principle. The cost of interest-bearing instruments is adjusted for the accrued 
difference between the amount originally paid, net of transaction costs, and the 
amount paid at maturity (premium or discount).

Income tax 
The Parent Company’s effective tax rate is 22 percent, which corresponds to the 
nominal tax rate.

Note P1  Parent Company’s transactions with 
Group companies

Sales to Group companies amounted to 100 (100) percent in 2017. Purchases from 
Group companies amounted to 0 (0) percent in 2017.

Note P2  Information on auditors’ fees  
and cost reimbursement 

Auditors’ fees
2017 2016

KPMG AB

- audit services 2 1

Total 2 1

Audit services consist of the auditor’s work associated with the statutory audit, while 
auditing assistance includes various types of quality assurance services. Other ser-
vices are services other than audit services or tax advisory services.

Note P3 Shares in subsidiaries

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Opening cost 1,623 1,623

Contribution 2 -

Closing accumulated cost 1,625 1,623

Carrying amount

Company name 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Humana Group Holding AB, 556730-0453 1,625 1,623

Note P4 Untaxed reserves

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Allocation reserve, tax year 2012 - 19

Allocation reserve, tax year 2013 41 41

Allocation reserve, tax year 2014 53 53

Allocation reserve, tax year 2015 38 38

Allocation reserve, tax year 2016 20 20

Allocation reserve, tax year 2017 27 -
Total 179 171

Note P5 Non-current liabilities

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Non-current liabilities due for payment 1-5 years 
after the reporting date 1,296 1,354

Total 1,296 1,354

See Note G19 for loan terms and conditions and Note G21 for financial risk man-
agement.

Note P6  Accrued expenses and deferred income
31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Accrued interest 2 1

Other items 3 2

Total 5 3

Note P7  Proposed distribution of profits 
The following profits are available to the AGM

SEK 2017

Retained earnings 1,506,001,284

Profit for the year 63,947,237

Total 1,569,948,521

Distributed as follows:

Dividend of SEK 0.60 per share (53,140,064 total shares) 31,884,038

Carried forward 1,538,064,483

Total 1,569,948,521

Notes
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Audit report

To the General Meeting of Shareholders of Humana 
AB, corporate identity no. 556760-8475

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts

Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
for Humana AB for the year 2017, except for the corporate govern-
ance report on pages 62-75 and the sustainability report on pages 
18-27. The Parent Company’s annual accounts and the consoli-
dated accounts are included in this document on pages 38-93. 

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in ac-
cordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Parent Company at 
31 December 2017 and its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act. The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material re-
spects, the financial position of the Group at 31 December 2017 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts 
Act. Our opinions do not cover the corporate governance report 
on pages 62-75 and the sustainability report on pages 18-27. The 
statutory administration report is consistent with the other parts of 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. 

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of share-
holders adopt the income statements and balance sheets for the 
Parent Company and for the Group.

Our opinions in this report on the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts are consistent with the content of the additional 
report that has been submitted to the Parent Company’s Audit 
Committee, pursuant to Article 11 of Regulation (EU) No. 
537/2014 on the Statutory Audit of Public-Interest Entities. 

Basis for opinions 
We conducted the audit in accordance with International Stand-
ards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards 
in Sweden. Our responsibilities under these standards are further 
described under Auditor’s responsibility. We are independent of 
the Parent Company and the Group in accordance with profes-
sional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise ful-
filled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these require-
ments. This means that, to the best of our knowledge, no prohib-
ited services listed in article 5.1 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 
on the Statutory Audit of Public-Interest Entities have been pro-
vided to the audited company, or where appropriate, to its parent 
undertaking and to its controlled undertakings within the Euro-
pean Union. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judge-
ment, were of most significance in our audit of the annual ac-
counts and consolidated accounts of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, but we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.

Measurement of goodwill
See Note G12 Goodwill (page 83), Note G2 General accounting policies and estimates (page 76) and Goodwill (page 91) in the annual and consolidated accounts for 
detailed information and descriptions of the matter.

Description of key audit matter
The Group’s goodwill amounted to SEK 3,104 million at 31 December 2017. 

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. Annual impairment testing is of signifi-
cance to the audit as it involves a significant element of judgement from the Group, 
including assumptions about the future performance of the business and market con-
ditions. 

Another important assumption is the discount rate to be used to reflect market 
assessments of the specific risks that the business faces. 

Response in the audit
We have examined whether the impairment tests performed were prepared in 
accordance with the methods prescribed by IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. 

We have also evaluated the Group’s assumptions about future cash flows, such as 
sales growth and operating margin development, and the discount rate. This has 
been done by, among other things, obtaining and evaluating written documentation 
and checking assumptions in the impairment testing against plans. We have also 
evaluated the Group’s historical forecast performance and challenged assumptions 
about future growth and margins. Where appropriate, assumptions have been 
checked against external market data. 

We have also assessed the content of the information about impairment tests per-
formed, as provided in the annual and consolidated accounts. 

Information other than the annual accounts  
and consolidated accounts
This document also contains information other than the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts, which is presented on pages 
1-37 and 97-100. The Board of Directors and the Managing Di-
rector are responsible for this other information.

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated ac-
counts does not cover this other information and we do not ex-
press any form of assurance or conclusion regarding this other in-
formation.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information 
identified above and consider whether the information is materi-
ally inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated ac-

counts. In this procedure, we also take into account our knowledge 
otherwise obtained in the audit and assess whether the informa-
tion appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work performed concerning this information, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other in-
formation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for the preparation of the annual accounts and consolidated ac-
counts and for ensuring that they give a fair presentation in ac-
cordance with the Annual Accounts Act and, concerning the con-
solidated accounts, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
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EU. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also 
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of annual accounts and consolidated ac-
counts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, 
the Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for the assessment of the Company’s and the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters 
related to the going concern and use of the going concern basis of 
accounting. The going concern basis of accounting is, however, not 
applied if the Board of Directors and the Managing Director in-
tend to liquidate the Company, cease operations, or have no realis-
tic alternative but to do so.

The Board’s Audit Committee shall, without prejudice to the 
Board’s responsibilities and tasks in general, among other things, 
oversee the company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable as-
surance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden will always detect a material mis-
statement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or er-
ror and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic deci-
sions of users made on the basis of these annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise profes-
sional judgement and maintain professional scepticism through-
out the audit. We also:

–  identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the an-
nual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not de-
tecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collu-
sion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

–  obtain an understanding of the Company’s internal control rel-
evant to our audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of ex-
pressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control.

–  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the Board of Directors and the Managing Director.

–  draw a conclusion on the appropriateness of the Board of Di-
rectors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts. We also draw a conclusion, based on the au-
dit evidence obtained, as to whether any material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty ex-
ists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion about the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our audit report. However, future events or condi-
tions may cause a company and a group to cease to continue as 
a going concern.

–  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts, including the dis-
closures, and whether the annual accounts and consolidated ac-
counts represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

–  obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated accounts. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and perfor-
mance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our 
opinions.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit. We must also inform 
them of significant audit findings during our audit, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified.
We must also provide the Board with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independ-
ence, and communicate to them all relationships and other matters 
that may be reasonably thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, including 
the most important assessed risks of material misstatement, and 
these are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in the auditor’s report unless laws or regulations preclude disclo-
sure of the matter. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions

In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, we have also audited the administration of the Board of 
Directors and the Managing Director of Humana AB for the 2017 
financial year and the proposed appropriations of the Company’s 
profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting that the profit be ap-
propriated in accordance with the proposal in the statutory admin-
istration report and that the members of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director be discharged from liability for the fi-
nancial year. 

Basis for opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted au-
diting standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities in this regard are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are 
independent of the Parent Company and the Group in accordance 
with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have other-
wise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
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Responsibility of the Board of Directors and Managing Director 
The Board is responsible for the proposal concerning appropria-
tions of the Company’s profit or loss. Proposing a dividend in-
cludes an assessment of whether the dividend is justifiable consid-
ering the requirements that the nature, scope and risks of the 
Company’s and the Group’s operations place on the size of the Par-
ent Company’s and the Group’s equity, consolidation require-
ments, liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the Company’s or-
ganisation and the administration of its affairs. This includes, 
among other things, continuous assessment of the Company’s and 
the Group’s financial situation and ensuring that the Company’s 
organisation is designed so that accounting, management of assets 
and the Company’s financial affairs are otherwise controlled in a 
reassuring manner.

The Managing Director shall manage the ongoing administra-
tion according to the Board of Directors’ guidelines and instruc-
tions, and, among other matters, shall take measures that are nec-
essary to handle the Company’s accounting in accordance with law 
and to conduct the management of assets in a reassuring manner. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our objective for the audit of the administration, and therefore 
our opinion regarding discharge from liability, is to obtain audit 
evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance whether 
any member of the Board of Directors or the Managing Director 
in any material respect has:

– undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission which 
could give rise to liability to the Company; or

– in any other way acted in contravention of the Companies Act, 
the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.

Our objective for the audit of the proposed appropriations of the 
Company’s profit or loss, and therefore our opinion regarding 
same, is to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance whether the 
proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally ac-
cepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect actions or 
omissions that can give rise to liability to the Company, or that the 
proposed appropriations of the Company’s profit or loss are not in 
accordance with the Companies Act.

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted au-
diting standards in Sweden, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. The 
examination of the administration and the proposed appropria-
tions of the Company’s profit or loss is based primarily on the au-
dit of the accounts. Additional audit procedures performed are 
based on our professional judgement, with a starting point in risk 
and materiality. This means that we focus the examination on such 
actions, areas and relationships that are material for operations and 
where deviations and violations would have particular importance 
for the Company’s situation. We examine and test decisions under-
taken, support for decisions, actions taken and other circum-
stances that are relevant to our opinion concerning discharge from 
liability. As a basis for our opinion concerning the Board’s pro-
posed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, we examined 
whether the proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act. 

Auditor’s Review of the Corporate Governance Report.
The Board is responsible for the corporate governance Report on 
pages 62-75 and for ensuring that it has been prepared in accord-
ance with the Annual Accounts Act.

Our review was conducted in accordance with FAR’s state-
ment RevU 16 Auditor’s Review of the Corporate Governance Re-
port. This means that our review of the corporate governance re-
port has a different focus and substantially smaller scope than an 
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. We 
believe that this review provides a sufficient basis for our opinion. 

A corporate governance report has been prepared. Disclosures 
in accordance with chapter 6, section 6, paragraph 2, items 2-6 of 
the Annual Accounts Act and chapter 7, section 31, paragraph 2 of 
the same Act are consistent with the annual report and other finan-
cial statements and comply with the Annual Accounts Act.

Auditors’ opinion regarding the statutory sustainability report
The Board is responsible for the sustainability report on pages 18-
27 and for ensuring that it has been prepared in accordance with 
the Annual Accounts Act.

Our examination has been conducted in accordance with 
FAR’s auditing standard RevR 12 The auditor´s opinion regarding 
the statutory sustainability report. This means that our review of 
the sustainability report has a different focus and substantially 
smaller scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Interna-
tional Standards on Auditing and generally accepted auditing 
standards in Sweden. We believe that this review provides a suffi-
cient basis for our opinion.

A sustainability report has been prepared.
KPMG AB, Box 382, 101 27, Stockholm, was appointed as 

Humana AB’s auditor by the Annual General Meeting on 18 May 
2017. KPMG AB or auditors engaged at KPMG AB have been the 
Company’s auditor since 2008.

Stockholm, 3 April 2018
 
KPMG AB 
 
 
 
Petra Lindström 
Authorised Public Accountant
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Financial definitions 

Reconciliation with IFRS financial 
statements
In the financial reports that Humana issues, 
there are alternative performance measures 
specified that complement the measure-
ments defined or specified in the applicable 
financial reporting rules. Alternative per-
formance measures are indicated when, in 
their context, they provide clearer or more 
detailed information than the measure-
ments defined in the applicable financial 
reporting rules. The alternative perfor-
mance measures are derived from the 
Company’s consolidated financial state-
ments and are not IFRS measures.

Return on capital employed (%)

Operating profit and finance income di-
vided by total capital employed multiplied 
by 100. 

EBITDA
Operating profit before depreciation, am-
ortisation and impairment. 

Equity per ordinary share
Equity attributable to Parent Company 
shareholders divided by number of shares at 
end of period after redemption, repurchase 
and new share issue.

Average number of ordinary 
shares
Calculated as the average number of ordi-
nary shares outstanding on a daily basis af-
ter redemption and repurchase.
 

Average equity
Calculated for average equity attributable 
to Parent Company shareholders per quar-
ter, calculated from the opening and clos-
ing balance for each quarter.

Adjusted EBITDA
Operating profit before depreciation, am-
ortisation and impairment, adjusted for 
items affecting comparability. 

Adjusted operating profit
Operating profit adjusted for items affect-
ing comparability. 

Items affecting comparability
Non-recurring items that complicate the 
comparability between two given periods. 

Average number of full-time 
employees
Average number of full-time employees 
during the year. 

Average number of customers
Average number of customers during the 
year. 

Operating cash flow
Operating profit including changes in de-
preciation/amortisation/impairment, 
working capital and investments in other 
assets (net). 

Organic growth
Growth for comparable companies in each 
segment that Humana owned during the 
previous comparative period.

Earnings per ordinary share for 
the period
Profit for the period attributable to Parent 
Company shareholders less the period’s 
share of the adopted dividend for prefer-
ence shares divided by average number of 
ordinary shares. 

Interest-bearing net debt
Borrowing excluding interest rate deriva-
tives less cash and cash equivalents and in-
terest-bearing assets. 

Interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA
Interest-bearing net debt divided by 
EBITDA.

Operating profit
Profit before financial items and tax.

Operating margin (%)
Operating profit divided by operating reve-
nue multiplied by 100.

Equity/assets ratio (%)
Equity including non-controlling interests 
divided by total assets multiplied by 100.

Capital employed
Total assets less non-interest-bearing liabili-
ties.

INTENT

Return on capital employed
Indicates the operating return on the capi-
tal that owners and lenders have made 
available. The intent is to show consoli-
dated returns, regardless of the financing. 
 
Adjusted operating profit and 
adjusted EBITDA
Calculated as operating profit adjusted for 
items affecting comparability. Adjustment 
for items affecting comparability is made to 
facilitate a fair comparison between two 
comparable periods and to show the under-
lying trend in operating activities excluding 
non-recurring items.

Operating cash flow
Calculated as operating profit including 
changes in depreciation/amortisation/im-
pairment, working capital and investments 
in other assets (net). The exclusion of cash 
flow from acquisitions and financing facili-
tates an analysis of cash flow generation in 
operating activities.

Interest-bearing net debt
Net debt is used as a simple way to illustrate 
and assess the Group’s ability to meet finan-
cial commitments.
 

Interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA
Indicates consolidated debt in relation to 
EBITDA. Used to illustrate the Group’s 
ability to meet financial commitments.

Equity/assets ratio
Indicates the proportion of assets that are 
financed with equity. The aim is to assess 
the Group’s solvency in the long term.
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Reconciliation with
IFRS financial statements

Jan-Dec 2017 Jan-Dec 2016

Adjusted operating profit

Operating profit 316 329

Capital loss on disposal of Hemtjänst 14 -

IPO costs - 40

Capital gain on sale of property -14 -

Adjusted operating profit 316 369

Adjusted EBITDA

Operating profit 316 329

Depreciation/amortisation 60 50

Capital loss on disposal of Hemtjänst 14 -

IPO costs - 40

Capital gain on sale of property -14 -

Adjusted EBITDA 376 419

Organic revenue growth

Revenue, base 5,647 5,481

Revenue, organic growth -76 58

Total organic growth, constant exchange rate -1.3 % 1.1 %

Operating cash flow, SEK millions

Operating profit 316 329

Depreciation/amortisation 60 50

Change in working capital -41 -372

Investments in other non-current assets, net -151 -142

Operating cash flow, SEK millions 184 -134

 
 
 

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016

Interest-bearing net debt, SEK millions

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 1,345 1,405

Current interest-bearing liabilities 680 687

Cash and cash equivalents -584 -465

Interest-bearing net debt 1,440 1,628

Adjusted EBITDA 12 months 376 419

Interest-bearing net debt/Adjusted EBITDA, 12 months, times 3.8 3.9

Return on capital employed, %

TOTAL ASSETS 5,060 4,960

Deferred tax liabilities -73 -78

Trade payables -93 -103

Other current liabilities -979 -960

Capital employed 3,915 3,818

Operating profit 316 329

Finance income 4 11

Total 320 341

Return on capital employed, % 8.2% 8.9%

Equity/assets ratio, %

Equity attributable to Parent Company shareholders 1,891 1,726

TOTAL ASSETS 5,060 4,960

Equity/assets ratio, % 37.4% 34.8%
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Four-year overview
Key ratios and per-share data
Note that the tables and calculations below have not been audited, unless otherwise stated.

Key ratios 2017 2016 2015 2014

Net revenue, SEK millions1) 6,557 6,362 5,593 5,065

Growth, % 3.1 13.7 10.4 45.2

Organic growth, constant exchange rate, % -1.3 1.1 0.8 7.9

Acquisitive growth (including acquisitions), % 5.0 12.4 9.6 37.2

EBITDA, SEK millions 376 379 394 339

EBITDA margin, % 5.7 6.0 7.0 6.7

Adjusted EBITDA, SEK millions 376 419 386 367

Adjusted EBITDA margin, % 5.7 6.6 6.9 7.2

Operating profit (EBIT), SEK millions1) 316 329 312 307

Operating margin, % 4.8 5.2 5.6 6.1

Adjusted operating profit, SEK millions 316 369 340 335

Adjusted operating margin, % 4.8 5.8 6.1 6.6

Profit for the year, SEK millions1) 194 170 114 115

Change in working capital, SEK millions -41 -372 38 18

Acquisition of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, SEK millions1) -151 -143 -46 -46

Operating cash flow, SEK millions 184 -134 389 310

Cash flow generation, % 48.9 -35.3 98.7 91.4

Equity1) 1,891 1,726 1,093 986

Interest-bearing net debt, SEK millions 1,440 1,628 1,174 1,484

Interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA, 12 months, times 3.8 4.3 3.0 4.4

Interest-bearing net debt/adjusted EBITDA, 12 months, times 3.8 3.9 3.0 4.0

Equity/assets ratio, % 37.4 34.8 28.5 27.0

Return on capital employed, 12 months, % 8.2 8.9 11.3 11.4

Average number of customers 8,316 8,361 7,262 7,324

Average number of full-time employees1) 10,003 9,912 9,154 8,619

Full-time employees at end of year 9,503 10,091 9,231 8,773

Per-share data 2017 2016 2015 2014
Remeasured earnings per share2) 3.64 2.87 0.61 0.84

Remeasured equity per share2) 35.58 32.48 23.82 21.50

1)Information derived from Humana’s audited consolidated accounts.
2)2014 restated for the number of ordinary shares (45,882,000) relating to the split (45:1) registered with the Swedish Companies Registration Office on 7 March 2016.
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Definitions of sector terms

Bufdir 
Children, Youth and Family Directorate. 
The Norwegian central body for the admin-
istration and operation of childcare servic-
es.

Bufetat 
Children, Youth and Family Affairs Agency. 
Bufetat is under the auspices of the 
Norwegian Children, Equality and 
Inclusion Department. Bufetat is divided 
into five regional offices and is responsible 
for operations and services related to child 
and family care.

HOT 
Act on Municipal Health and Care 
Services. Norwegian law regulating the care 
of children, young people and adults with 
physical and mental disabilities.

HQM 
Humana Quality Model. Model for meas-
uring quality within the Group and seeing 
changes over time.

HQI 
Humana Quality Index. Quantitative key 
ratios that form an index.

HSL 
The Healthcare Act.

Humana Academy 
Humana’s internal training activities.

HVB 
Residential care home.

IHF 
Intensive home-based family therapy. 
Manual-based impact-evaluated method 
for families with complex problems, aimed 
at enabling the child or young person to 
continue living at home.

IVO 
Health and Social Care Inspectorate.

Lex Maria
Notification requirement for a healthcare 
provider to inform IVO of a patient having 
suffered, or being at risk of suffering, seri-
ous injury or illness during healthcare.
 
Lex Sarah
Notification requirement for a care provid-
er to inform IVO of abuse and significant 
risks of abuse within the scope of the SoL 
and LSS acts.

LOU 
Public Procurement Act.

LOV 
Act on System of Choice in the Public 
Sector.

LSS 
Act concerning Support and Service for 
Persons with Certain Functional 
Impairments.

Neuropsychiatric problems
Problems associated with functional 
impairments, such as ADHD, ASD/
Asperger syndrome, Tourette’s syndrome 
and language disorders. The different diag-
noses are closely related, and it is common 
for the same person to have several diagno-
ses.  

CSI 
Customer satisfaction index.

ESI 
Employee satisfaction index.

Psychosocial problems
Problems and life situations that arise when 
there is interaction between psychological 
and social conditions. 

Breakdown
When a social authority placement of a 
young person in care outside the home 
must suddenly be interrupted due to a deci-
sion from either the social services, the par-
ents, the young person or the caregiver. 

Comorbidity
Comorbidity means that a person has two 
or more conditions and/or disabilities at 
the same time.

SiS 
Swedish National Board of Institutional 
Care.

SoL 
The Social Services Act.

TFCO 
Treatment Foster Care Oregon. Manual-
based method to reinforce family home 
placement. Combination of specialised fos-
ter home placement, individual therapy 
and family therapy.

Dynamic care 
Humana’s name for a combination of dif-
ferent measures and forms of care that are 
dynamically adapted to customer needs. 

Core values 
Humana’s ethical and moral platform. 
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